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  Final report of the Panel of Experts on the Central African 
Republic extended pursuant to Security Council 
resolution 2454 (2019) 
 

 

 

 Summary 

 During the reporting period, the Political Agreement for Peace and 

Reconciliation in the Central African Republic, signed in Bangui on 6 February 2019, 

remained the reference framework for the Government of the Central African Republic 

and the 14 signatory armed groups. Although efforts were made by regional and 

international partners in support of the Agreement, its implementation remained 

limited. The Government and some leaders of armed groups accused each other of not 

meeting their respective commitments, as illustrated by the discussions on the 

temporary joint security units. 

 On the ground, armed groups continued to commit violations of the Agreement 

in large numbers, prompting both national and international actors to demand punitive 

actions against perpetrators. Among others, Abdoulaye Miskine, who threatened to 

overthrow the Government on a number of occasions after having signed the 

Agreement, was the subject of several calls for national and international sanctions.  

 Since 14 July 2019, fighting has occurred in Vakaga Prefecture, where the Front 

populaire pour la renaissance de la Centrafrique (FPRC), led by sanctioned individuals 

Nourredine Adam and Abdoulaye Hissène, recorded major military defeats. Though 

tensions among ethnic groups were presented as the cause of the conflict, the fighting 

has resulted from competition for territorial control between armed groups, including 

FPRC, the Mouvement des libérateurs centrafricains pour la justice and the newly 

created Parti du rassemblement de la nation centrafricaine.  

 Clashes in Vakaga Prefecture fuelled arms trafficking in the area, as all of the 

armed groups involved in the fighting acquired weapons, as well as recruiting fighters, 

from the territory of the Sudan. Information is also provided on the acquisition of arms 

(at times in exchange for natural resources) in the Democratic Republic of the Congo 

by elements of the Union pour la paix en Centrafrique (UPC) and anti -balaka groups 

based in Basse-Kotto Prefecture. 

 Many violations of international humanitarian law were reported, including cases 

of illegal detention by anti-balaka groups, as well as by the ex-Séléka factions FPRC, 

UPC and Mouvement patriotique pour la Centrafrique. The Panel also investigated the 

involvement of armed group members in attacks against civilians and humanitarians, 

as well as in sexual violence and gender-based violence, in particular in the Kaga 

Bandoro/Batangafo/Kabo triangle. 

 With regard to natural resources (gold and diamonds), trafficking remained 

rampant in all regions of the country. In this respect, developments in the Kaga 

Bandoro and Ndélé areas in particular are addressed in the report. Findings are 

presented on the new illegal taxation structures of ex-Séléka factions, on cases of 

trafficking, including one involving a close associate of Abdoulaye Hissène,  and on a 

mechanical exploitation project in areas under FPRC control. Information is also 

provided on the situation in Bozoum (Ouham Prefecture), where tensions have 

emerged around the activities of a gold mining company.  

 With the support of international partners, the rapid deployment of the Armed 

Forces of the Central African Republic (FACA) continued outside the capital, 

especially in the east. FACA soldiers were present in 15 of 16 prefectures, but they 

continued to face significant challenges, especially in areas where armed groups were 

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)


 
S/2019/930 

 

3/234 19-19745 

 

present and FACA still had limited operational capacity. The ongoing strengthening of 

the Presidential Guard is also addressed in the report.  

 Instability in areas close to the borders, in particular in the Vakaga and Haut-

Mbomou Prefectures, resulted in decisions by the authorities of the Sudan and South 

Sudan to close their borders with the Central African Republic (only partially and 

temporarily in the case of South Sudan).  

 The report also includes information on the reported involvement of ex-Séléka 

members in the establishment of an armed group belonging to an international network 

and targeting Western, Israeli and Saudi interests in the Central African Republic and 

beyond. 

 With regard to the implementation of sanctions, the report addresses cases of 

travel ban violations by Nourredine Adam, whom the Panel found to have been using 

a Sudanese diplomatic passport bearing the name Mohamed Adam Brema Abdallah. 

The report also includes a description of the positive efforts of the Government of the 

Central African Republic to identify the assets of sanctioned individuals and the steps 

that remain to be taken to freeze all assets identified.  
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 I. Background 
 

 

1. On 31 January 2019, the Security Council adopted its resolution 2454 (2019), 

by which the Panel of Experts on the Central African Republic was mandated, inter 

alia, to provide to the Council, after discussion with the Security Council Committee 

established pursuant to resolution 2127 (2013) concerning the Central African 

Republic, a final report no later than 31 December 2019.  

2. In accordance with resolution 2454 (2019), the present report, inter alia, 

contains an assessment of the implementation of the measures imposed by the 

Security Council (an arms embargo, a travel ban and an asset  freeze) and addresses a 

number of issues, with the aim of identifying individuals and entities involved in 

sanctionable activities, as defined in paragraphs 20 and 21 of Council resolution 2399 

(2018) and extended in resolution 2454 (2019). 

3. The report covers the period from 1 March 2019, the beginning of the Panel ’s 

mandate, to 3 November, the date on which the report was completed, with a  focus 

on developments since the publication of the Panel’s midterm report on 30 July. 

4. The liquidity crisis in the United Nations continued to affect the Panel’s capacity 

to implement its mandate. For instance, owing to reductions in United Nations 

translation staff, and to ensure that the present report is issued in accordance with the 

deadline contained in resolution 2454 (2019), the Panel has had to limit the length of 

its report to 18,000 words (instead of 23,000 as per usual practice). 

 

  Cooperation 
 

5. Since 1 March 2019, the Panel has travelled to 13 of the 16 prefectures of the 

Central African Republic (see map in annex 1.1). The Panel also conducted official 

visits to Belgium, Benin, Cameroon, Chad, Equatorial Guinea, France, Gabon and the 

Russian Federation. The Panel thanks the Governments of those countries for hosting 

its visits. 

6. Since the beginning of its mandate, the Panel has addressed 73 official 

communications to Member States, international organizations and private entities, 

receiving various levels of response to its requests (see annex 1.2).  

7. Pursuant to paragraph 5 of Security Council resolution 2454 (2019), the Panel 

has continued to exchange information with other panels or groups of experts 

established by the Security Council, in particular the Panels of Experts on Libya, on 

South Sudan and on the Sudan, as well as the Group of Experts on the Democrati c 

Republic of the Congo. 

8. The Panel also thanks the United Nations Multidimensional Integrated 

Stabilization Mission in the Central African Republic (MINUSCA) for its continued 

support and collaboration. 

 

  Methodology 
 

9. The Panel endeavours to ensure compliance with the standards recommended 

by the Security Council Informal Working Group on General Issues of Sanctions in 

its report of December 2006 (see S/2006/997, annex). While the Panel aims to be as 

transparent as possible, in situations where identifying its sources would expose them 

or others to unacceptable safety risks, the Panel has withheld identifying information.  

10. The Panel is equally committed to the highest degree of fairness and has 

endeavoured to make available to parties, where appropriate and possible, any 

information in the report regarding which those parties may be cited, for their review, 

comment and response, within a specified deadline.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2127%20(2013)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2127%20(2013)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2399%20(2018)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2399%20(2018)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2399%20(2018)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2399%20(2018)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/2006/997
https://undocs.org/en/S/2006/997
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11. The Panel safeguards the independence of its work against any effort to 

undermine its impartiality or create a perception of bias. The Panel approved the text, 

conclusions and recommendations in the present report on the basis of consensus prior 

to its transmission by the Panel’s Coordinator to the President of the Security Council. 

 

 

 II. Political issues: follow-up to the Agreement, positions of 
armed groups and tensions in Bangui 
 

 

 A. Follow-up meetings and the issue of punitive measures in the case 

of violations 
 

 

12. National, regional and international stakeholders continued to express support 

for the Political Agreement for Peace and Reconciliation in the Central African 

Republic (S/2019/145, annex) and to take action to facilitate its implementation. The 

fourth and fifth sessions of the Executive Monitoring Committee established pursuant 

to the Agreement were held on 31 July and 27 September 2019, respectively, with the 

participation of the Government, the guarantors (the African Union and the Economic 

Community of Central African States) and the facilitators, including MINUSCA and 

neighbouring States, as well as representatives of armed groups and civil society.  

13. On 23 and 24 August, a meeting chaired by the African Union was  held in 

Bangui with the participation of the Government of the Central African Republic, 

including the Prime Minister, Firmin Ngrebada, and representatives of 13 of the 14 

signatory armed groups, including sanctioned individual Abdoulaye Hissène of the 

Front populaire pour la renaissance de la Centrafrique (FPRC) (see annex 2.1). From 

4 to 7 October 2019, a high-level tripartite mission of the African Union, the United 

Nations and the European Union also visited the country (see annex 2.2).  

14. Those follow-up meetings and initiatives enabled all stakeholders to take stock 

of the progress made in the implementation of the Agreement, such as the appointment 

of an inclusive Government on 22 March 2019 and the establishment of local -level 

follow-up mechanisms,1 as well as to identify the many challenges ahead. Participants 

discussed, inter alia, the requests made by leaders of the self-proclaimed defence 

groups from the PK5 neighbourhood of Bangui to participate in the implementation 

of the Agreement (see annex 2.3; see also S/2018/1119, para. 35) and the frequent 

violations of the Agreement, including in the context of the fighting in Vakaga 

Prefecture (see paras. 46–71). 

15. During those follow-up meetings, many participants expressed the wish, 

pursuant to article 35 of the Agreement, for punitive actions to be taken against those 

committing violations. For instance, the communiqué issued after the 31 July session 

of the Executive Monitoring Committee, signed by the Prime Minister and the Special 

Representative and Head of the African Union Office in the Central African Republic, 

called for “national and international sanctions” to be imposed against Abdoulaye 

Miskine in the light of his actions in violation of the Agreement (see annex 2.4 and 

paras. 26–27).2 Discussions were ongoing among national and international partners 

on the type of measures that could be taken to operationalize article 35 of the 

Agreement. In addition to the United Nations and African Union sanctions cited in 

the Agreement, such measures could include public reprobation, the revocation of the 

appointment of some individuals to official positions and/or the execution of pending 

arrest warrants (see recommendation in para. 172 (a)).  

__________________ 

 1  15 of 17 prefectural-level committees and 14 of 17 technical security committees were 

operational as of 15 October 2019 (see S/2019/822, para. 9). 

 2  An arrest warrant for Abdoulaye Miskine was issued on 2 August 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/145
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/145
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/822
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/822
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 B. Armed groups and the Agreement 
 

 

16. Although they continued to express support for the accord, the main armed 

groups in the country committed numerous violations of the Agreement, as described 

in the report of the Secretary-General of 15 October (S/2019/822, para. 24). This had 

a significant humanitarian impact, as illustrated in the box below.  

 

 
 

Displacement figures indicate little change in security situation  
 

  The Panel discussed with humanitarian actors various types of statistics on 

civilian victims and on human rights violations committed by armed groups.3 The data 

could be read in different ways, in particular with seasonal variations that have a 

serious impact on the activities of armed groups. However, displacement figures – a 

reliable indicator of the perception of security among civilians – remained high. At 

the end of September 2019, the number of internally displaced persons stood at 

600,000, while the number of Central African refugees had increased slightly 

compared with the figures from 2018, rising to 607,000, despite official returns from 

the Congo (see para. 109).4 The situation for humanitarian workers also remained very 

challenging. While the number of attacks reported in the first nine months decreased 

by comparison with the same period in the previous year, falling from 319 to 218, the 

level of violence during those attacks increased, as illustrated by the sharp rise, from 

19 to 34, in the number of humanitarian aid workers injured during those incidents.5 

 

   

 

 

17. Three main factors accounted for the discrepancy between the statements of 

armed group leaders and their contradictory actions on the ground. First, many leaders 

considered that the Government had not implemented the Agreement in good faith, 

as illustrated by the discussions on the temporary joint security units (Unités spéciales 

mixtes de securité) (see paras. 31–35). 

18. Second, many armed group fighters and leaders have been satisfied with the 

status quo, which has enabled them to continue to generate significant revenue, in 

particular through illegal taxation. The involvement of FPRC (led by sanctioned 

individuals Nourredine Adam and Abdoulaye Hissène) and other armed groups in the 

fighting in Vakaga Prefecture (see paras. 46–71) confirmed that the goals of those 

leaders remained to control territories and roads where they could levy tolls and traffic 

in weapons and ammunition. Efforts by leaders of Retour, réclamation et 

réhabilitation (3R), Union pour la paix en Centrafrique (UPC), and Mouvement 

patriotique pour la Centrafrique (MPC) to instrumentalize the joint security units (see 

paras. 32–34) supported this view. 

19. Third, some armed groups suffered from a structural inability to implement the 

Agreement. As detailed below, MPC, led by Mahamat Al-Khatim, remained the best 

example in this regard. 

 

  MPC: a structural incapacity to implement commitments 
 

20. In spite of its commitments to lift checkpoints (see annex 2.5), MPC continued 

to levy taxes at some roadblocks, for instance along the route connecting Kaga 

__________________ 

 3  Meetings with humanitarian actors, August–September 2019. 

 4  Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, “Overview of population movements”, 

25 October 2019. 

 5  See www.humanitarianresponse.info/en/operations/central -african-republic/infographic/rca-

apercu-des-incidents-affectant-les-humanitaires.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/822
http://www.humanitarianresponse.info/en/operations/central-african-republic/infographic/rca-apercu-des-incidents-affectant-les-humanitaires
http://www.humanitarianresponse.info/en/operations/central-african-republic/infographic/rca-apercu-des-incidents-affectant-les-humanitaires
http://www.humanitarianresponse.info/en/operations/central-african-republic/infographic/rca-apercu-des-incidents-affectant-les-humanitaires
http://www.humanitarianresponse.info/en/operations/central-african-republic/infographic/rca-apercu-des-incidents-affectant-les-humanitaires
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Bandoro, Ouandago and Kabo (see maps in annex 3.19) and in Mbrès (Ouham and 

Nana-Grébizi Prefectures), as observed by the Panel on 7 and 8 September 2019.  

21. Al-Khatim struggled to maintain control over his troops, as described in 

previous reports (S/2016/1032, paras. 200–201, and S/2018/1119, para. 29). In this 

context, Al-Khatim used various strategies in an attempt to manage the greed, egos 

and misconduct, including human rights violations (see paras. 79–86), of MPC 

military leaders. One tactic was to arrange for a regular turnover (every three months, 

according to MPC elements) of local military commanders;6 another was the regular 

creation of new positions (see annex 2.6). 

22. Similarly, among the several requests that Al-Khatim made after resigning from 

his position as special military adviser to the Prime Minister on joint security units 

(see annex 2.7 and para. 32), the most important was his desire to be appointed as  a 

general of the Armed Forces of the Central African Republic (FACA). 7 Al-Khatim 

considered that obtaining such a position would help to integrate some MPC elements 

into the Armed Forces, thus reinforcing his authority within the MPC. 8  

23. MPC commanders continued to pay limited attention to Al-Khatim’s 

instructions (see para. 79). For instance, despite orders from the MPC leadership, an 

MPC local commander in Markounda (Ouham Prefecture), “colonel” Al Habo, 

refused in July to redeploy in order to keep control over a gold mine – and its profits – 

near Kouki.9 In addition, in early 2019, MPC “general” Affiesse engaged in military 

operations in the Mbrès-Bakala area (Nana-Grébizi and Ouaka prefectures) in the 

absence of any instructions from Al-Khatim (see para. 94).10  

 

  “Spoilers”: the cases of Abdoulaye Miskine and Mustapha Saboune 
 

24. The Agreement and its implementation left some politicians and military leaders 

unsatisfied, especially those who did not obtain the positions they had expected. Some 

have recently recruited fighters and acquired weaponry or attempted to do so. Their 

objective was to acquire an operational capability to destabilize the authorities, as 

well as to raise their profiles and make themselves available for possible collaboration 

with other opponents of the Government, including Bangui-based politicians. 

25. Among them were Martin Koumtamadji, alias Abdoulaye Miskine, who became 

“public enemy number one” in Bangui as a result of his aggressive rhetoric against 

the Government (see para. 27), as well as individuals who have maintained a more 

discreet profile, including ex-Séléka leader Mustapha Saboune. 

 

  Abdoulaye Miskine, a “general” in search of fighters 
 

26. In its 2019 midterm report, the Panel described Miskine’s radical opposition to 

the Agreement and the authorities of the Central African Republic. In that report, the 

Panel also described his collaboration with FPRC leaders, in particular “general” 

Bashar Fadoul, after Miskine’s arrival in the Central African Republic from 

Brazzaville in June 2019 (see S/2019/608, annex 2.8). The Panel found that he had 

travelled using a service passport issued by the Congo (see annex 2.8). 

27. Miskine renewed his threats to overthrow the President of the Central African 

Republic, Faustin Archange Touadera, in a communiqué published on 30 July (see 

__________________ 

 6  Meetings with Mouvement patriotique pour la Centrafrique (MPC) elements, Kaga Bandoro,  

5–9 September 2019. 

 7  Meeting with MPC representatives, Bangui, 11 September 2019.  

 8  Ibid. 

 9  Meetings with representatives of MPC and Front populaire pour la renaissance de la Centrafrique 

(FPRC), Kaga Bandoro and Mbrès, 5–9 September 2019. 

 10  Ibid. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2016/1032
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
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annex 2.9). He also continued his attempts to build his military capacity, including 

through the recruitment of members of his ethnic community, the Sara (see para. 78). 

He reportedly made an offer to the FPRC to carry out a military operation in Terfel 

during the fighting in Vakaga Prefecture (see paras. 46–71).11 His efforts were halted 

by the 14 October incidents in Am Dafok, during which he fled the town (see para. 77). 

 

  Mustapha Saboune, a politician in search of relevance (see annex 2.10)  
 

 

 C. Joint temporary security units and disarmament, demobilization, 

reintegration and repatriation 
 

 

  Delays and progress in the establishment of the joint security units 
 

28. The establishment of the joint security units, composed of members of national 

defence and security forces and of armed groups, was one of the key provisions of 

the Agreement (see also S/2019/608, paras. 21–24). 12  The missions of the joint 

security units, which were to be established as three regional units (west, centre and 

east), were to control the transhumance corridors and mining areas, protect civilians, 

participate in civil-military operations and peacekeeping operations and secure 

mining sites.13 The Agreement provided for the units to be fully operational 60 days 

after its signature, by April 2019; however, both the training and ensuing 

operationalization of the units were delayed substantially. 

29. Through a “training of trainers” programme, the European Union Training 

Mission in the Central African Republic and MINUSCA trained a total of 53 

instructors (34 FACA soldiers and 19 police and gendarme officers) from the national 

defence and security forces.14  First, 31 FACA soldiers and internal security force 

officers received training in Bouar from 29 July to 9 August. Second, while awaiting 

their operationalization, 22 instructors were given complementary specialized 

training in Bangui from 9 to 20 September (see annex 2.11).15 The instructors began 

providing the first training for the joint security units in Bouar on 17 October, at a 

training site prepared with the support of the International Organization for Migration 

(IOM) and MINUSCA.16  

30. The operationalization of the first joint security unit – in the west – was delayed 

for several reasons, including the failure to meet the quota for demobilized, disarmed 

and vetted combatants to join the unit, mostly as a result of reluctance on the part of 

3R to provide more fighters. Therefore, it was decided that 95 demobilized and 

disarmed ex-combatants eligible for integration into the uniformed security forces 

(FACA, police and gendarmes, customs, and the water and forest service) would 

instead join the unit for a period of two years.17 The training was finally launched, 

although the actual number of ex-combatants for the unit remained below the initial 

objective (273 instead of 400).18 The timeline for the operationalization of the joint 

security units in the centre and east of the Central African Republic remained 

uncertain at the time of the completion of the present report.  

__________________ 

 11  Meeting with FPRC member, Bangui, 2 October 2019.  

 12  Articles 16 and 17 of the Political Agreement for Peace and Reconciliation in the Central African 

Republic. 

 13  Presidential Decree Nos. 19.096 and 19.097, 29 March 2019; and confidential document received 

on 27 October 2019. 

 14  Meeting with international partners, Bangui, 27 September and 2 October 2019.  

 15  Ibid. 

 16  Meeting with the International Organization for Migration, Bangui, 21 September 2019.  

 17  Meetings with international partners and members of the Government, Bangui, 18 September and 

7 October 2019. 

 18  Meeting with international partners, Bangui, 23 September 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
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  Armed groups and the joint security units 
 

31. The armed groups continued to underline the need for the deployment of the 

joint security units as a matter of priority (S/2019/608, paras. 45–46). At the same 

time, their positions and actions contributed to slowing down the process. 

32. First, divergent views remained between the Government and some leaders of 

armed groups on the precise role of the three special military advisers to the Prime 

Minister for the joint security units and the chain of command of those units 

(S/2019/608, paras. 22–24). The dissatisfaction of the armed groups reached a peak 

when Mahamat Al-Khatim of MPC and Abbas Sidiki of 3R, two of the three special 

military advisers, resigned on 27 August and 3 September, respectively. They claimed 

that their appointments were empty shells and lacked official prerogatives and 

funding (see annex 2.12).  

33. Second, it remained unclear whether the armed groups truly intended to disarm 

and to relinquish territorial control to restore State authority. 19  UPC leader Ali 

Darassa, unlike the other two leaders, did not resign from his position as special 

military adviser. Instead, he continued to lead his armed group, ordering troop 

movements, trafficking in weapons, and even expanding his territorial control, at 

times in the name of the Agreement and the deployment of the joint security units, as 

illustrated by his communiqué of 25 October (see annex 2.13).  

34. The commitment of 3R to participating in the joint security uni ts also remained 

doubtful. Even though former 3R fighters were among those undergoing training in 

Bouar (see para. 29), 20  3R continued to tighten its grip over the territory. In the 

meantime, 3R leader Abbas Sidiki renewed his demand to be officially put in  

command of the joint security units (see annex 2.14). On 26 September, MINUSCA 

launched “Operation Anvil” in the west to stop the territorial expansion of 3R and 

force the armed group to respect its engagements under the Agreement, in particular 

its commitment to participating in the disarmament, demobilization, repatriation and 

reintegration process (S/2019/822, para. 31).21 Multiple clashes have been reported 

between MINUSCA and 3R since then. 22  In this context, the capacity of the joint 

security units to fulfil their mandate in territories under 3R control remained 

uncertain. 

35. Third, the Government and several international donors considered that the 

disarmament, demobilization, repatriation and reintegration process should be 

launched prior to, or at least simultaneously with, the operationalization of the joint 

security units.23  In contrast, several armed groups were of the view that the units 

should be established before the start of the process. 24  

 

  Joint security units, the United Nations sanctions regime and the arms embargo 
 

36. In relation to the United Nations sanctions regime, the operationalization of the 

joint security units raised two issues: the risk that armed groups would receive 

funding (through salaries to (ex-)combatants) and the risk that the arms embargo 

would be violated (through the provision of arms). First, the Panel was informed that 

the weaponry collected during the disarmament, demobilization, repatriation and 

__________________ 

 19  Meeting with international partners, Bangui, 17 August 2019.  

 20  Meeting with government officials and international partners, Bangui, 17 August 2019.  

 21  Confidential reports, 27 and 30 September and 7 October 2019.  

 22  Ibid. 

 23  Article 2 of Presidential Decree No. 19.097, 29 March 2019; meetings with international 

partners, August–October 2019. 

 24  Meetings with leaders of FPRC, Retour, réclamation et réhabilitation (3R), Union pour la paix en 

Centrafrique (UPC) and MPC, Bangui, Birao and Koui, May–October 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/822
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/822
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reintegration operations would be used to arm the joint security units. The Panel 

informed relevant stakeholders that the reinsertion of such weaponry, when collected 

by and/or under the custody of international partners, would require either a sanctions 

committee notification for weapons with a calibre of 14.5 mm or less, in accordance 

with paragraph 2 (g) of Security Council resolution 2488 (2019), or an exemption 

request for weapons of a calibre higher than 14.5 mm. This would be the same for 

weaponry or other non-lethal equipment imported to equip the joint security units.  

37. Second, some international partners insisted on the need for disarmament, 

demobilization and vetting of combatants before they joined the jo int security units, 

while others favoured disconnecting the two processes, as was requested by several 

armed groups (see para. 35). 25  The Panel notes that under paragraph 21 (a) of 

resolution 2399 (2018), extended by resolution 2454 (2019), the funding of armed 

groups is a sanctionable act. 

 

 

 D. Continuing tensions on the political scene and the prospect 

of elections 
 

 

38. In its 2019 midterm report, the Panel described tensions between the 

Government and the Front uni pour la défense de la nation (FUDN) (S/2019/608, 

paras. 30–34). Also called E Zingo Biani, FUDN is a platform that brings together 

civil society organizations and a large number of opposition political parties. 

Relations have remained strained, with FUDN members continuing to criticize the 

Government for having made too many concessions to the armed groups at the 

expense of the protection of civilians. Continued violations of the Agreement and 

attacks against civilians by armed groups were, in their view, a testament to the failure 

of the strategy of the Government.26  

39. On 30 September, about 300 individuals took part in a peaceful FUDN 

demonstration, after which representatives of the FUDN platform submitted a 

memorandum to the Government (annex 2.15).27 Through that document and several 

other communiqués (annex 2.16), FUDN leaders made a number of political requests, 

such as the holding of a “sovereign national conference”, and expressed concerns over 

a wide range of issues. For instance, they accused the authorities of mismanaging the 

country’s natural resources through the “anarchical” granting of mining permits (see 

paras. 158–161). 

40. The prospect of elections could contribute to heightening the tensions. FUDN 

leaders expressed diverging views on the holding of the vote planned for late 2020. 

In meetings with the Panel, several stated that the continued control exercised  by 

armed groups over parts of the territory made the elections impossible; instead, they 

called for the establishment of a transitional government. 28 The former speaker of 

parliament Karim Meckassoua, who emerged as a key figure in the platform (see 

annex 2.17), also argued that the conditions were not ripe for elections. 29  In a 

communiqué of FUDN dated 12 October, however, it was stated that FUDN did not 

support a new transition, but rather the full restoration of the constitutional order (see 

annex 2.18). 

41. The Government and its supporters sent mixed signals in response to FUDN 

activities and requests. On 1 July, the Prime Minister met with FUDN leaders; the 
__________________ 

 25  Meetings with international partners, Bangui, 23 September and 8 October 2019.  

 26  Meetings with leaders of Front uni pour la défense de la nation (FUDN), Bangui, 16 and 

19 October 2019. 

 27  Confidential report, 1 October 2019. 

 28  Meetings with FUDN officials, Bangui, 18 and 19 October 2019. 

 29  See www.rfi.fr/emission/20190820-rca-opposition-politique-actuelle-meckassoua.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2488%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2399%20(2018)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2399%20(2018)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
http://www.rfi.fr/emission/20190820-rca-opposition-politique-actuelle-meckassoua
http://www.rfi.fr/emission/20190820-rca-opposition-politique-actuelle-meckassoua
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latter considered that the Government failed to address any of the concerns expressed 

during the meeting.30 In Berbérati on 4 October and in Lyon, France, on 12 October, 

President Touadera described FUDN as an “illegitimate” organization and its calls for 

a “sovereign national conference” as “demagogic”, “fallacious” and “irrelevant” (see 

annex 2.19). 

42. The Mouvement des requins de Centrafrique, which had emerged in June 2019 

as a reaction to FUDN activities and engaged in intimidation against FUDN members 

on social media (S/2019/608, para. 33), announced its dissolution on 13 July.  

 

  Return of former President Bozizé 
 

43. During the third convention of the Kwa Na Kwa party, held in Bangui and 

Bossangoa from 12 to 18 August, the party officially announced its withdrawal from 

the presidential majority and endorsed former President and sanctioned individual 

François Bozizé as its candidate for the upcoming presidential elections.  

44. On 17 November 2016, the authorities of the Central African Republic had 

issued a circular referring to Security Council resolutions and instructing airline 

companies flying to the territory of the Central African Republic not to allow Bozizé 

to board their planes, as his presence in the country “could undermine peace, stability 

and security” (see S/2018/729, annex 2.4). In this connection, the Panel recalls that, 

in paragraph 9 of its resolution 2399 (2018) pertaining to the travel ban, the Security 

Council noted that nothing shall oblige a State to refuse its own nationals entry into 

its territory. The resolutions of the Council therefore do not prevent Bozizé, a national 

of the Central African Republic, from returning to his country.  

45. Pursuant to the electoral code, any candidate must have resided in the country 

during the 12 months preceding the election. On 14 June, to enable Bozizé’s return, 

his lawyers wrote a letter to the Minister of Transport and Civil Aviation requesting 

the cancellation of the above-mentioned circular (annex 2.20). On 25 October, they 

also held a press conference during which they announced that they had seized the 

Bangui Administrative Court of the matter.31  

 

 

 III. Developments in ex-Séléka strongholds 
 

 

 A. Fighting for control of Vakaga Prefecture 
 

 

  Vakaga Prefecture: a strategic area 
 

46. On 14 July, an armed confrontation took place between Mouvement des 

libérateurs centrafricains pour la justice (MLCJ) and FPRC in Am Dafok (on the 

Central African Republic side of the border, in Vakaga Prefecture) (see para. 72). The 

clash was the starting point for violent competition between armed groups for control 

of Vakaga Prefecture. When the crisis erupted, several groups had a military presence 

in the area: FPRC (mainly composed of Rounga and the strongest faction militarily), 

MLCJ (Kara) and the Rassemblement patriotique pour le renouveau de la 

Centrafrique (RPRC; Goula). Another group, the Parti du rassemblement de la nation 

centrafricaine (PRNC), a splinter faction of the RPRC, was created in May 

(S/2019/608, annex. 2.7). 

__________________ 

 30  Meetings with FUDN officials, Bangui, 18 and 19 October 2019. 

 31  See www.radiondekeluka.org/actualites/justice/34729-rca-les-avocats-de-francois-bozize-

exigent-l-annulation-de-la-circulaire-signee-par-l-ancien-ministre-jousso.html; and meetings 

with Kwa Na Kwa members, Bangui, 19 August and 12 September 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/729
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/729
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2399%20(2018)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2399%20(2018)
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
http://www.radiondekeluka.org/actualites/justice/34729-rca-les-avocats-de-francois-bozize-exigent-l-annulation-de-la-circulaire-signee-par-l-ancien-ministre-jousso.html
http://www.radiondekeluka.org/actualites/justice/34729-rca-les-avocats-de-francois-bozize-exigent-l-annulation-de-la-circulaire-signee-par-l-ancien-ministre-jousso.html
http://www.radiondekeluka.org/actualites/justice/34729-rca-les-avocats-de-francois-bozize-exigent-l-annulation-de-la-circulaire-signee-par-l-ancien-ministre-jousso.html
http://www.radiondekeluka.org/actualites/justice/34729-rca-les-avocats-de-francois-bozize-exigent-l-annulation-de-la-circulaire-signee-par-l-ancien-ministre-jousso.html
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47. The series of incidents that took place from 14 July onward (see annex 3.1 for a 

chronology of events) resulted in a significant change in the local balance of power, 

with FPRC losing control over several crucial locations (Tissi on 4 October and Am 

Dafok on 14 October) for trade and trafficking between the Central African Republic 

and the neighbouring countries of Chad and the Sudan. This was the first occasion on 

which FPRC had lost territory since its creation in August 2014.  

48. Control of Vakaga Prefecture brings great benefits, both politically and 

economically. Economically, controlling the area generates important revenue 

through illegal taxation, as Vakaga is the entry point for commercial trucks importing 

and exporting goods from Chad and the Sudan to the north, east and centre of the 

Central African Republic (see map in annex 3.2). Before the fighting started on 

14 July, an agreement between RPRC, FPRC, MLCJ and the Sultan-Mayor regulated 

the taxation and trafficking system. However, in effect, FPRC was in charge of the 

management of checkpoints and the collection of taxes, making that group the main 

beneficiary and thereby creating frustration among the other  armed groups (see also 

paras. 72–74).32  

49. Politically, control over the north-eastern prefectures also guarantees a strong 

bargaining position in negotiations with the Government.  

 

  Strategic use of ethnic divisions 
 

50. In the aftermath of the fighting in Birao on 1 and 2 September, when FPRC 

fighters were expelled from the town, the leaders of FPRC and MLCJ issued 

communiqués arguing about the ethnic character of those incidents (see annex 3.3). 

Leaders of MLCJ, which is mainly composed of Kara, argued that the conflict was 

purely ethnic and resulted from a rebellion by members of the Kara community. As a 

matter of fact, the rhetoric from some local Kara leaders depicted their community as 

the rightful owners of Vakaga Prefecture, against the Rounga, who were deemed 

“outsiders”.33 In response, leaders of FPRC, which is mainly composed of Rounga, 

claimed that the clashes were organized by armed groups for political motives.   The 

Panel found that traditional leaders of ethnic groups were indeed involved in  the 

conflict, but that the clashes were mainly driven by armed groups defending 

the interests of their respective leaders and communities.  

51. The amount of preparation carried out in the lead-up to the attacks on Birao was 

not consistent with that of a spontaneous uprising by members of an ethnic 

community. For instance, before the attack on 1 September, MLCJ fighters and their 

allies were asked not to wear their uniforms, but to wear yellow bands so that they 

could identify each other (see annex 3.4). According to testimonies collected from 

fighters who had participated in the combat, 34  MLCJ, PRNC and RPRC military 

leaders organized the offensive. They confirmed that Ali Abderahmane and Issa 

Issaka Aubin, the chiefs of staff of MLCJ and PRNC, respectively, had directly 

prepared and coordinated military operations in Birao on 1 and 2 September and on 

14 September, as well as in Tissi on 4 October and in Am Dafok on 14 October. 35 

Further information on the efforts of MLCJ to strengthen its military capacity a head 

of the fighting is provided in paragraphs 72 to 76, and the role of PRNC and RPRC 

is discussed in paragraphs 57 to 64. 

52. MLCJ representatives put forward an ethnic narrative to protect themselves 

from the political consequences of a violation of the Agreement and to exonerate their 

__________________ 

 32  Meeting with economic operators, armed group representatives and local authorities, Birao,  

4–6 October 2019. 

 33  Meeting with Kara leaders, Birao, 4 October 2019.  

 34  Meeting with confidential sources, Birao and Bangui, September and October 2019.  

 35  Ibid. 
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leader, Gilbert Toumou Deya, the minister in charge of relations with armed groups.36 

On the ground in Vakaga Prefecture, that ethnic narrative also allowed MLCJ to hide 

its economic motives behind the fighting. 

53. The ethnic dimension, however, remained key to understanding the current 

conflict, given that political and military alliances were formed along ethnic lines (see 

annex 3.5). For example, on 30 August, during a meeting held in Delembé (Vakaga 

Prefecture) between representatives of the Goula and Kara communities, several 

military leaders from PRNC, RPRC and MLCJ were also either present or represented 

(see annex 3.6).37 Some participants informed the Panel that the meeting had endorsed 

the military strategy of the Birao attack of 1 September.38  

54. Annex 3.7 provides additional details on the ambiguous position of the Sultan-

Mayor of Birao as a contested leader of the Kara community.  

 

  PRNC and RPRC challenge to FPRC leadership 
 

55. Along with MLCJ and RPRC, the PRNC – a splinter group of the RPRC – played 

a key role in the preparation and execution of the attacks against FPRC positions.  

 

  The road to the creation of PRNC 
 

56. In its midterm report, the Panel described the divisions and tensions existing 

within the RPRC, a Goula-dominated group (S/2019/608, annex 2.7).  

57. In April and May 2019, Sheikh Tidjani Dahiya, the Consul of the Central African 

Republic in Nyala, Sudan, and the highest political and religious authority within the 

Goula community, visited Birao, Tiringoulou (Vakaga Prefecture) and Bangui. 39 

During his visits, he led consultations to restructure the leadership of the Goula 

community; as a result, he named Abdel-Moumine Djilith, Presidential Adviser on 

relations with national institutions, as “chef de race” (ethnic leader), and Arnaud 

Djoubaye Abazene, Minister of Transport and Civil Aviation, as his deputy. 40 While 

visiting Tiringoulou, an RPRC stronghold, Sheikh Dahiya met with “generals” Issa 

Issaka Aubin and Arda Hakouma, two of the main RPRC military leaders at the time. 41 

On 28 May, three days after Sheikh Dahiya returned to Nyala, Issa Issaka published 

a communiqué announcing the creation of a new armed group, the PRNC, with Nourd 

Gregaza as its political leader (S/2019/608, annex 2.7). 

58. This sequence of events, as well as information collected by the Panel from 

Goula community members, 42  confirmed that the creation of the PRNC had been 

initiated by Sheikh Dahiya in agreement with some RPRC leaders, including Zakaria 

Damane, as explained below (see para. 62). 

 

  Nourd Gregaza, a figurehead with an unclear identity  
 

59. According to the Panel’s investigations, Nourd Gregaza – whose identity and 

past career path remain unclear – merely served as a figurehead with little to no 

authority on the ground, as detailed in annex 3.8.  

__________________ 

 36  Meeting with armed group representative, Bangui, 7 October 2019. 

 37  Meeting with confidential source, Bangui, 7 October 2019.  

 38  Meeting with individuals who had been present at the meeting, Birao, 3–6 October 2019. 

 39  Meeting with Sheikh Tidjani Dahiya, Bangui, 19 April 2019. 

 40  Meeting with confidential source, Bangui, 3 October 2019.  

 41  Meeting with confidential source, Birao, 16 April 2019.  

 42  Meetings with armed group members, Bangui, 7–8 October 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
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  PRNC and RPRC military support to MLCJ 
 

60. Despite shadowy political leadership, PRNC operated on the ground as a 

structured group and provided military support to MLCJ offensives in Birao on 1, 2 

and 14 September, Tissi on 4 October and Am Dafok on 14 October. Fighters involved 

in those clashes confirmed the participation of fighters from Tiringoulou, reportedly 

sent by PRNC “general” Issa Issaka Aubin.43  

61. Around 50 PRNC fighters reportedly entered Birao on 10 September and were 

hosted by the Sultan-Mayor and Kara community leaders. 44  Along with MLCJ 

combatants, they assisted in repelling the attempt by the FPRC to retake Birao on 

14 September.45  The Panel also met in Birao on 6 October with PRNC “general” 

Mahamat Djouma of the Kara community, who admitted to having participated in the 

clashes in Birao in support of MLCJ. 

 

  The connection between RPRC and PRNC and Bangui-based politicians leading the 

PRNC strategy 
 

62. PRNC was created mostly by former RPRC fighters (see S/2019/608, annex 2.7). 

On the political side, information collected by the Panel showed that, beyond the 

figurehead of Nourd Gregaza, the group was led by individuals still officially 

regarded as RPRC members, specifically Djono Ahaba and Zakaria Damane. 46 The 

latter has also continued to play a military role by commanding fighters on the ground, 

as evidenced by his communiqué of 26 September (annex 3.9). The creation of the 

PRNC enabled RPRC military and political leaders to initiate military operations 

without jeopardizing the political stance of RPRC as a signatory to the Agreement.  

63. In late September and early October, FACA and internal security forces were 

deployed in Birao, with MINUSCA support. MLCJ and PRNC leaders and Kara 

community members had called for such a deployment. High-level government 

officials from the Goula community had also lobbied decision makers on this issue. 

In the view of those individuals, the presence of FACA and the internal security forces 

would contribute to freezing the situation, thereby benefiting those armed groups (and 

communities) who had gained territory (i.e. MLCJ, PRNC, RPRC and the Kara 

community). Any attempt by FPRC to retake Birao would then be seen as an attack 

against the authority of the State and its international partners .47 The Panel also notes 

that the same MLCJ, PRNC and Kara leaders expressed their intention to maintain 

control over the illegal taxation system in place.48  

64. Around the same time, on 24 September, a mediation committee led by the 

Government was sent to Birao. The team was led by Arnaud Djoubaye Abazene, 

Resident Minister of Vakaga Prefecture, and included Zakaria Damane and MLCJ 

leader Gilbert Toumou Deya. The committee was not accepted by all parties, with 

some considering that it comprised actors directly involved in the conflict.49  

  

__________________ 

 43  Meetings with armed group members, Bangui and Birao, September–October 2019. 

 44  Confidential report, 11 September 2019. 

 45  Meeting with confidential source, Birao, 5 October 2019.  

 46  Meetings with armed group representatives, Bangui, 11 September and 7 October 2019.  

 47  Meeting with Kara leader, Birao, 5 October 2019; phone conversation with Issa Issaka Aubin, 

4 October 2019; and meeting with official of the Central African Republic, Bangui, 8 October 

2019. 

 48  Meeting with Sultan-Mayor of Birao, Birao, 5 October 2019. 

 49  Meeting with Abdoulaye Hissène, Ndélé, 8 October 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
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  Cross-border alliances: the Ta’isha connection 
 

65. Cooperation between members of the Ta’isha and Kara communities was key 

during the preparation and execution of the attack on Birao on 1 September. In 2017, 

at the end of a four-year war between Ta’isha and Salamat ethnic groups in Darfur, 

the Sudanese authorities launched an operation to forcibly collect weapons in the area 

(S/2018/1119, para. 69). The Ta’isha then requested Kara and MLCJ leaders to hide 

their weapons across the border to the Central African Republic, in Terfel (Vakaga 

Prefecture), the main Kara village located between Birao and Am Dafok.50  Those 

weapons were used during the 1 September attack on Birao, wi th Ta’isha elements 

providing ammunition and logistical support to MLCJ (see paras. 75–76). 

66. According to the agreement between the Kara and Ta’isha communities, Ta’isha 

individuals involved in the fighting were to be paid by looting Birao. In return fo r 

their participation in the fighting, members of the Ta’isha community also expected 

cheaper and easier access to the territory of the Central African Republic. 51 

Complaints about the taxes and policies imposed on the Sudanese by the FPRC were 

reportedly an important factor leading to their involvement. 52  

 

  FPRC preparations for retaliation  
 

67. By losing control over several key locations in Vakaga Prefecture, the FPRC 

leadership lost credibility on the ground and ran the risk of losing considerable 

political influence. The Panel collected information indicating that FPRC was 

actively preparing a counteroffensive to regain control of the area. 53  

68. To rebuild the military capacity of FPRC, which had been severely affected by 

the hostilities, in particular those in Am Dafok on 14 October (see paras. 75–76), 

sanctioned individual Nourredine Adam reportedly contacted Sudanese armed group 

leaders from the Rizeigat and Misseriya communities to recruit fighters.54  

69. Annex 3.10 provides more details on the preparations for retaliation undertaken 

by FPRC. 

 

  Humanitarian impact of the fighting 
 

70. Even though no civilians were reportedly among the 79 persons confirmed dead 

during the fighting in Birao on 1, 2 and 14 September, the impact of the hostilities on 

civilians was considerable.55 The residential areas targeted for looting and burning by 

MLCJ and PRNC fighters were mainly in the Haoussa, Bornou and Rounga 

neighbourhoods (see annex 3.11), sparing those of the Goula, Kara and certain 

Sudanese ethnic groups. This strong ethnic dimension, combined with a fear of 

reprisals, initially resulted in the displacement of all ethnic groups in Birao. By 

20 October, at the two main camps in Birao (MINUSCA and the airstrip), the official 

number of internally displaced persons registered had reached 10,000. 56  Tensions 

emerged among the displaced communities along the lines of the divisions apparent 

in the fighting. This was highlighted by the serious violation of international human 

rights law by MLCJ elements in preventing water distribution to the (predominantly 
__________________ 

 50  Meetings with members of Mouvement des libérateurs centrafricains pour la justice (MLCJ) and 

the Kara community, Birao, 3–6 October 2019. 

 51  Meeting with economic operator, Birao, 5 October 2019. 

 52  Meeting with confidential sources, Birao, 5 October 2019. 

 53  Meetings with FPRC representatives, Bangui, Birao, Kaga Bandoro and Ndélé, September–October 

2019. 

 54  Meeting with diplomatic source, Bangui, 8 October 2019; and communication  with confidential 

source, Birao, 31 October 2019. 

 55  Confidential reports, 6 and 16 September 2019. 

 56  Confidential reports, 1 and 23 October 2019.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
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Rounga) camp for internally displaced persons at the airstrip on 2 November. 57 As the 

fighting spread to Am Dafok in October, the local population there also fled, 

reportedly to the Sudan.58  

71. Further information on the humanitarian situation in Birao is provided in annex 

3.12. 

 

 

 B. Cross-border arms trafficking by armed groups 
 

 

  Trafficking by Kara and MLCJ, and reactions of FPRC 
 

72. The fighting between MLCJ and FPRC fighters in Am Dafok on 14 July led to 

the death of four FPRC combatants and two Kara traders. 59 The clash resulted from a 

dispute between FPRC and MLCJ over the smuggling of weapons and ammunition 

from the Sudan by merchants from the Kara ethnic group and MLCJ fighters. It took 

place as heavily armed MLCJ fighters moved from Terfel to Am Dafok to recover six 

boxes (1,440 rounds) of hunting ammunition that had been previously seized by FPRC 

“general” Bashar Fadoul from a Kara merchant, Khamis Adam.60 In previous months, 

through several seizures, FPRC fighters had retrieved at least 35 boxes of 12 -gauge 

hunting ammunition (i.e. a total of 8,400 rounds) purchased across the border by Kara 

merchants.61 After negotiations by the Sultan-Mayor and payments of large sums of 

money, “general” Bashar Fadoul returned many of those boxes62 but also issued a 

warning that he would no longer accept the import of hunting ammunition by 

members of MLCJ and Kara merchants, as the ammunition was used by anti-balaka 

groups all over the country. Instead, Bashar Fadoul said, he would accept the import 

of conventional weapons and ammunition.63 This greatly frustrated members of the 

Kara community, who informed the Panel, along with MLCJ leaders,  that the “import” 

of hunting ammunition was a common and lucrative practice for Kara merchants (see 

annex 3.13).64  

73. The steps taken by FPRC following the 14 July clashes further exacerbated these 

frustrations. First, FPRC published pictures of their reported seizures, including 14 

motorcycles, two machine guns, rocket-propelled grenade launchers and rockets and 

several thousand rounds of hunting and conventional ammunition (see annex 3.14). 

While the seized hunting ammunition, reportedly worth about FCFA 600,000 

($1,020), had indeed been taken from the Kara merchants and MLCJ during 

successive seizures,65 it is likely that the conventional weapons already belonged to 

the FPRC and appeared in the pictures to increase the so-called “war booty”. 

74. Second, the leadership of FPRC published two communiqués condemning – for 

the first time – trafficking in ammunition, while FPRC continued to acquire weapons. 

On 17 July, Nourredine Adam stated in a press release that the FPRC base in Am 

Dafok had been attacked by “criminal smugglers of ammunition” and warned that he 

would no longer accept trafficking activities in areas under his control. One day later, 
__________________ 

 57  Confidential report, 3 November 2019. 

 58  Phone conversation with confidential source, 18 October 2019. 

 59  Meetings with confidential sources, Birao and Bangui, August and October 2019. 

 60  Meetings with MLCJ members and Kara merchants, Birao, 21 August and 3 October 2019; and 

meeting with FPRC source, 20 August 2019. 

 61  Ibid. 

 62  Meeting with merchants, Birao, 3 October 2019. 

 63  Meetings with FPRC source close to Bashar Fadoul, Birao, 20 August and 4 October 2019; 

meeting with Kara representative, Birao, 21 August 2019; and meeting with merchants, Birao, 

3 October 2019. 

 64  Meeting with MLCJ members, Birao, 21 August 2019. 

 65  Meeting with Imam Moustafah Younous, 21 August 2019; and meeting with Kara source and 

MLCJ member, Birao, 23 August 2019. 
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Bria-based FPRC “general” Ali Ousta announced that the possession and sale of 

weapons and ammunition of all calibres, “including hunting ammunition”, was 

prohibited (see annex 3.15).  

 

  Acquisition of military equipment by MLCJ and loss of military materiel 

by FPRC 
 

75. MLCJ had only limited weaponry until mid-2019, but acquired military 

materials through the Sudanese territory, in particular through the long-standing 

connections between the Ta’isha and Kara ethnic groups (see paras. 65–66).66 The 

Ta’isha reportedly allowed MLCJ members and individuals from the Kara community 

to use their weaponry stored in Terfel. 67  An individual referred to as “general” 

Djazouli, from the Ta’isha community, who lives in Am Dafok (on the Sudanese side 

of the border) and engages in commercial activities in Birao, was involved in arms 

trafficking to MLCJ. On 27 August, four days before the Birao attack, Djazouli 

organized the transport of weapons (AK-type assault rifles, rocket-propelled grenades 

and 12.7 calibre machine guns mounted on pushcarts) from Am Dafok (Sudanese 

side) and Um Dukhun (Sudan) to the MLCJ zone commander and military chief of 

staff in Terfel (see map in annex 3.16).68  

76. The MLCJ military build-up gained momentum when it captured three FPRC 

pickup trucks and weapons in Birao on 1 September and 16 mounted pick-up trucks 

from FPRC in Am Dafok on 14 October.69 On the same day, three other FPRC vehicles 

were burned, further reducing the FPRC fleet (see annex 3.16).70  

 

  Arms trafficking and recruitment by FPRC, UPC and Abdoulaye Miskine 
 

77. As a result of the 14 October attack on Am Dafok, “generals” Bashar Fadoul 

and Abdoulaye Miskine fled to Tissi and a non-identified location on the Sudanese 

border, respectively, thus temporarily halting their military build -up efforts.71 Until 

that date, Bashar Fadoul – one of the FPRC “generals” closest to Nourredine Adam – 

had been in charge of weapons and logistic supplies for the FPRC. 72 Bashar Fadoul 

had purchased military equipment through FPRC connections with the Rapid Support 

Force of the Sudan (S/2019/608, paras. 18 and 49), such as several pickup trucks with 

twin-barrelled anti-aircraft guns mounted on them. At least one of those trucks was 

burned in Am Dafok on 14 October (see annex 3.16). Bashar Fadoul had also 

continued to facilitate the acquisition by other armed group leaders , in particular 

Miskine and Ali Darassa of UPC, of military equipment and vehicles from the Sudan 

(see also annex 3.17 and S/2019/608, paras. 48–53 and annexes 2.8 and 4.6). 

78. Since his arrival in Am Dafok in June, Miskine has continuously engaged in 

recruiting new fighters and acquiring a military arsenal through cooperation with 

FPRC (S/2019/608, annex 2.8).73 He recruited fighters who mainly originated from 

the Sara ethnic group in Chad and the Central African Republic. In August, he also 

reportedly attempted unsuccessfully to recruit South Sudanese fighters. 74  Miskine 

__________________ 

 66  Meeting with Kara and MLCJ sources, Birao, 3 October 2019.  

 67  Meetings with confidential sources, Birao, 3 and 5 October 2019. 

 68  Ibid.; meeting with FPRC and UPC sources, Bangui and Birao, 2, 5 and 8 October 2019; phone 

conversation with Sudanese officials, 12 October; and meetings with confidential sources, Birao, 

3 and 7 October 2019. 

 69  Confidential document received on 29 October 2019; meeting with PRNC me mber, Birao, 

5 October 2019; phone conversations with MLCJ and FPRC members, 9–12 October 2019. 

 70  Confidential document received on 29 October 2019.  

 71  Communication with Sudanese military intelligence, 30 October 2019. 

 72  Meeting with FPRC sources, Birao and Bangui, August and September 2019. 

 73  Panel’s missions to Birao, August and October 2019. 

 74  Meeting with diplomatic and confidential sources, Bangui and Birao, September–October 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
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also continued to buy weapons, ammunition and pickup trucks through Bashar 

Fadoul’s connections (see annex 3.18). That materiel was either delivered to FPRC 

elements under Bashar Fadoul, who handed it over to Miskine, or it was delivered to 

the latter directly when allowed by Bashar Fadoul. 75  

 

 

 C. Violations of human rights and international human rights law in 

the Kaga Bandoro/Batangafo/Kabo triangle and the Bria area 
 

 

  Trend of sexual and gender-based violence, crime and violence against 

humanitarians in the triangle 
 

79. The towns of Batangafo, Kabo and Kaga Bandoro and the roads running 

between them remained among the areas most affected by criminality and armed 

group activities in the Central African Republic, with humanitarians targeted by 

criminal activities (see maps in annex 3.19).76 Roads within the triangle remained 

scattered with checkpoints operated by ex-Séléka elements, often officially belonging 

to MPC, but actually operating outside any clear chain of command (S/2019/608, 

annex 4.3). This area of insecurity, referred to in previous Panel reports (see 

S/2018/1119, annex 4.2), has now extended even further along the routes leading out 

of Kaga Bandoro. For example, on the road south of the town, civilians have been 

frequent victims, often of rape, by unidentified armed ex-Séléka elements. In one 

particularly violent incident on 4 August, a group of armed ex-Séléka elements robbed 

and raped a female traveller, then left her tied up. 77  

 

  Women and girls particularly vulnerable to sexual and gender-based violence during 

the transhumance period 
 

80. During the 2019 transhumance period, the number of incidents of sexual and 

gender-based violence on the Kaga Bandoro-Botto road spiked considerably in 

March.78  During the Panel’s visit to that road, villagers explained that during the 

transhumance period, the corridor passed close by the road, and rapes occurred often 

when women and girls travelled to the fields and school (see recommendation in 

para. 172 (b)).79 

 

  Lack of justice deters reporting of sexual and gender-based violence 
 

81. Limited access to justice for victims of sexual and gender-based violence 

remained a challenge in Nana-Grébizi Prefecture and contributed, together with fear 

of reprisals, to fewer cases being officially reported. 80  Although the joint rapid 

response unit to prevent sexual violence against women and children travelled to 

Kaga Bandoro to carry out a field investigation in August 2019, 81 the prosecutor of 

__________________ 

 75  Meetings with FPRC, MLCJ leaders, Sultan-Mayor and community leader, Birao, 20–22 August 

2019; meeting with FPRC members, Birao, 20–21 August 2019; and meeting with civil society 

representatives and confidential sources, Birao, 20–21 August 2019. 

 76  Panel’s mission to Kaga Bandoro, Batangafo, Kabo and Sido, 7–14 August 2019; and 

www.humanitarianresponse.info/en/operations/centrafricrepublic/infographic/rca -apercu-des-

incidents-affectant-les-humanitaires.  

 77  Meetings with civil society representatives, Kaga Bandoro, 8 August 2019; and confidential 

report, 7 August 2019. 

 78  Meeting with representative of the World Health Organization, Kaga Bandoro, 8 August 2019.  

 79  Meeting with community representatives, Kaga Bandoro-Botto road, 9 August 2019. 

 80  Meeting with international non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and confidential sources, 

Kaga Bandoro, 7–9 August 2019. 

 81  Meeting with confidential source, Kaga Bandoro, 6 August 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
http://www.humanitarianresponse.info/en/operations/centrafricrepublic/infographic/rca-apercu-des-incidents-affectant-les-humanitaires
http://www.humanitarianresponse.info/en/operations/centrafricrepublic/infographic/rca-apercu-des-incidents-affectant-les-humanitaires
http://www.humanitarianresponse.info/en/operations/centrafricrepublic/infographic/rca-apercu-des-incidents-affectant-les-humanitaires
http://www.humanitarianresponse.info/en/operations/centrafricrepublic/infographic/rca-apercu-des-incidents-affectant-les-humanitaires
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Nana-Grébizi Prefecture has remained in Bangui and has not returned to the 

prefecture since December 2018.82  

 

  Rape and robbery committed by ex-Séléka elements in villages close to 

their checkpoints 
 

82. Armed groups have attempted to explain away incidents in this area, blaming 

them on uncontrolled elements deprived of financial revenue owing to the removal of 

checkpoints following the Agreement.83 However, during the Panel’s visit to the road 

connecting Batangafo, Kabo and Sido on 12 August, eight checkpoints were still 

operational.84 Robberies and rapes were often committed in the vicinity of ex-Séléka 

checkpoints. For example, in Godo on 5 August 2019, armed ex-Séléka elements 

entered a village and raped one woman and beat her husband. Reportedly, this was 

the fifth occasion on which armed ex-Séléka elements had come to that village from 

the checkpoint at Nguepande and committed such crimes.85  

 

  Criminality in Batangafo 
 

83. During the Panel’s mission to Batangafo (10–15 August), violent robberies 

occurred on an almost daily basis, highlighting an overall dynamic that ha s remained 

relatively unchanged over the past two years (S/2017/1023, paras. 181–187, and 

S/2018/1119, paras. 60–65). The humanitarian community, in particular national staff, 

was often the target of those robberies. Calls for those responsible to be brought to 

justice were made to the anti-balaka leaders controlling the camp for internally 

displaced persons, namely, René Ninga, Sende, Arnaud, Bruno and Gaba.  They used 

that request to demand payments from residents of the camp – on top of regular 

extortion – for arresting the perpetrators. The demand led to a protest march against 

their actions on 23 October.86  

84. Ex-Séléka and anti-balaka leaders also colluded for financial gain. Anti-balaka 

leaders established strong links with a certain Sadam, the most visibly active 

ex-Séléka leader in Batangafo, though not the official local commander of MPC. 87 In 

addition, automatic weapons of the ex-Séléka were hired by anti-balaka, at times 

confusing victims as to the identity of the perpetrators of crimes in Batangafo. That 

tactic benefited all of the criminal groups, with each one hiding behind the others. 88 

For example, during one robbery in August, the perpetrators pretended to speak 

Arabic and carried automatic weapons, but were believed to be anti -balaka fighters.89  

 

  Criminality in Kaga Bandoro 
 

85. Although Kaga Bandoro was declared a “town without weapons” on 5 August, 

a significant number of fighters from various ex-Séléka groups were seen moving 

around the town – and along the main roads – with their weapons during a Panel visit  

(8–10 August). The ex-Séléka factions also continued to deploy a mixed brigade in 

Kaga Bandoro, illegally detaining civilians for long periods and demanding payment 

for their release. For example, on 4 June, the mixed brigade arrested a young 

motorcycle taxi driver after his rented motorbike was stolen by anti-balaka fighters, 

__________________ 

 82  Meetings with local authorities, Kaga Bandoro, 8 August 2019.  

 83  Meetings with civil society representatives and armed groups, Batangafo, 10–15 August 2019. 

 84  Panel’s mission to Kabo and Sido, 12 August 2019. 

 85  Meetings with confidential sources, Kaga Bandoro, 8 August 2019.  

 86  Meetings with civil society representatives, Batangafo, 10–15 August 2019; and confidential 

report, 25 October 2019. 

 87  Panel’s mission to Batangafo, 10–15 August 2019. 

 88  Meetings with armed group and civil society representatives, Batangafo, 10–15 August 2019. 

 89  Ibid. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2017/1023
https://undocs.org/en/S/2017/1023
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
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with the mixed brigade demanding FCFA 600,000 ($1,020). Despite efforts to have 

him released, the driver remained in detention as at 31 October. 90  

86. In this context, criminality remained high, with thieves undeterred by the 

presence of MINUSCA and national security forces. On 1 October, in Kaga Bandoro, 

a national staff member of MINUSCA was shot and killed at his residence by 

unknown combatants.91 Just as in Batangafo, in Kaga Bandoro and on the surrounding 

main roads, armed elements continued to target humanitarians during their activities. 

A humanitarian convoy was stopped by fighters on the Kaga Bandoro-Botto road on 

28 August. The armed individuals then beat one of the drivers and stole phones and  

money from them.92  

 

  Bria: flagrant human rights violations by armed groups 
 

87. The town of Bria (Haute-Kotto Prefecture) has suffered a severe impact from 

armed group activities. Civilians have been affected both directly, by armed groups 

(as described in S/2019/608, para. 60), and indirectly, by the disruptive actions of 

armed groups against the humanitarian community and State actors.  

 

  Women vulnerable to anti-balaka violations in the camp for internally 

displaced persons 
 

88. According to official statistics, as of 10 October, 45,000 civilians remained 

displaced in Bria with the majority of those at the PK3 camp for internally displaced 

persons; even houses close to the site remained empty. 93 Anti-balaka elements under 

“general Bokassa” maintained their parallel justice system at the PK3 site and along 

the road between Bria and Ira Banda.94 On many occasions, they illegally detained 

PK3 site residents and accused them of various crimes before meting out  punishment 

at their illegal tribunal at the camp.95 Two incidents were illustrative of the particular 

vulnerability of women at the PK3 site. On 7 August, anti-balaka fighters illegally 

detained a pregnant woman accusing, her of theft from her husband. 96 On 9 May, 

anti-balaka elements beat up a woman, accusing her of witchcraft. 97  Anti-balaka 

elements not only impeded humanitarian activities at the site,98 but also stole goods 

intended for the internally displaced persons. 99  At the same time, “Bokassa” also 

requested humanitarian assistance for his anti-balaka elements.100  

 

  FPRC: mixed brigade imposed its own interpretation of the law 
 

89. The FPRC mixed brigade in Bria, under the overall command of regional zone 

commander “general” Hissein Damboucha (S/2019/608, paras. 66 and 67; 

S/2018/1119, para. 67), also illegally taxed, arrested, detained and tortured 

__________________ 

 90  Meeting with civil society representatives, Kaga Bandoro, 8 August 2019; and confidentia l 

report, October 2019. 

 91  Confidential report, 2 October 2019. 

 92  Confidential report, 30 August 2019. 

 93  Meeting with international NGO, 22 September 2019; and Commission mouvement de population 

statistics on displacement for September 2019, Commission mouvement de population/Office of 

the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), 25 October 2019. 

 94  Panel’s mission to Bria, 8–10 May 2019. 

 95  Meeting with civil society representatives and residents of the camp for internally displaced 

persons, Bria, 8–10 May 2019. 

 96  Confidential report, 9 August 2019. 

 97  Confidential report received on 17 September 2019. 

 98  Meeting with international NGO, 8 May 2019. 

 99  On 13 August 2019, bags of food were discovered at the PK3 camp that had previously been 

stolen by anti-balaka elements. Confidential report, 14 August 2019.  

 100  Meeting with “Bokassa”, Bria, 9 May 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
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individuals, enforcing its own interpretation of the law.101  These incidents ranged 

from arrests and the levying of fines – such as the arrest made by FPRC on 5 August 

of the president of the motorcycle taxi association who was fined FCFA 2,500 ($5) 

for not wearing a yellow taxi driver vest – to the torturing and killing of individuals. 

On 7 July, for instance, an individual who the armed group claimed had raped a 

female minor was found dead at the premises of the FPRC mixed brigade. 102 Women, 

however, were particularly vulnerable, as reporting any incident involving an armed 

group member, such as rape, would put them at an increased risk of further FPRC 

harassment.103  

 

  Harassment of humanitarian workers by armed groups 
 

90. FPRC elements have also exerted physical and psychological pressure against 

NGOs working in Bria. They have attempted to control humanitarian assistance by 

interfering with the recruitment of national NGO staff, 104 demanding that NGOs seek 

authorization for projects 105  and threatening NGO staff over the content of their 

projects.106 The constant harassment of NGOs and the real threat of robberies – for 

example: Médecins sans frontières was robbed on 26 October 107 – has had a negative 

impact on the work of NGOs in the town. Moreover, armed groups, including FPRC, 

have also blocked the free movement of humanitarian assistance to Bria on the road 

between Bambari and Bria.108  

91. FPRC also restricted the movement and activities of local authorities. On 

5 August, FPRC elements under Hissein Damboucha harassed a team of the Unité 

d’exécution du programme national de désarmement, démobilisation et réinsertion, 

claiming that they had not been informed about the mission. 109 The following day, 

civil servants working for the Ministry of Finance were prevented from working by 

FPRC.110  The reaction of FPRC elements to the deployment of FACA in Bria on 

24 September is discussed in paragraph 148. 

 

 

 D. Issues related to natural resources: parallel taxation structures 

and trafficking  
 

 

92. In the eastern and northern parts of the country, armed groups continued to 

generate revenue by participating in trafficking in gold and diamonds and collecting 

taxes from all actors within the production and trade chains. As a result, these areas 

remained non-compliant with the Kimberley Process (i.e., rough diamonds from these 

areas cannot be exported). 

  

__________________ 

 101  Panel’s mission to Bria, 8–10 May 2019. 

 102  Confidential report, 11 July 2019. 

 103  Meeting with civil society members, Bria, 8–10 May 2019. 

 104  Panel’s mission to Bria, 8–10 May 2019. 

 105  Meeting with “Bokassa”, Bria, 9 May 2019 

 106  Panel’s mission to Bria, 8–10 May 2019. 

 107  Jerry Bambi, “Central African Republic: armed robbery attack on humanitarian aid group MS F – 

morning call”, Africa News, 30 October 2019. 

 108  Confidential report, 14 October 2019. 

 109  Confidential report, 6 August 2019. 

 110  Confidential report, 9 August 2019. 
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  Parallel taxation structures 
 

93. In spite of the commitments made in the Agreement regarding the restoration of 

State authority, ex-Séléka factions maintained and, in some areas, extended parallel 

structures for taxing all types of economic activities. In Ndélé (Bamingui-Bangoran 

Prefecture), the FPRC parallel taxation structure described in a previous Pa nel report 

(S/2018/729, annex 6.5) remained in place, with collectors, artisanal miners and 

miners all paying annual fees (FCFA 300,000 ($495), 35,000 ($57) and 2,000 ($3), 

respectively).111 In Bambari (Ouaka Prefecture), UPC also continued to levy taxes on 

mining and other economic operators as confirmed by copies of receipts that were a ll 

issued in 2019 (see annex 3.20). 

94. A similar parallel taxation structure was recently put in place in the area of 

Mbrès and Bakala (Nana-Grébizi and Ouaka prefectures). Local ex-Séléka leaders 

“general” Oumar Kaffine (FPRC) and “general” Affiesse (MPC),112 who commanded 

the military operations of early 2019 to seize control of the mining sites previously 

controlled by anti-balaka elements (see S/2019/608, para. 63), established themselves 

as heads of a lucrative taxation system. The system covered mining sites around 

Azené and Bozou, where gold and, to a lesser extent, diamonds were sourced, and in 

the gold mining sites along the road between Mbrès and Bakala (see map in 

annex 3.21). 113  Local ex-Séléka leaders also facilitated the arrival of foreigners 

(mainly Chadians), to work as diggers alongside locals and also to act as invest ors 

bringing in materials, such as motor pumps and metal detectors. 114 Most of the gold 

and rough diamonds from the area were smuggled to Chad and sometimes from there 

on to Cameroon.115  

 

  Mechanical mining project of Mahamat Kidessi 
 

95. For several decades, Abdel Rahim Mahamat Kidessi, alias “Manga”, a national 

of the Central African Republic, has been involved in various business activities in 

Bangui and abroad, including, as confirmed by his profile on social networks, in the 

diamond trade (see annex 3.22). According to several individuals who held positions 

of power at that time, he developed business connections with ex-Séléka leaders 

during the transition, including Abdoulaye Hissène and Nourredine Adam. 116  

96. A wide variety of sources have informed the Panel of Mahamat Kidessi’s 

presence in towns controlled by ex-Séléka factions between May and June 2019. 117 

After he had entered the country from the Sudan, his presence was reported in Birao 

(around 22 and 23 May), Ndélé (around the period 23–30 May and around 12 June) 

and Kaga Bandoro (early June). He was travelling as part of a convoy comprising 5 

to 10 individuals and several vehicles transporting materials for gold and diamond 

mining, including metal detectors, an excavator and a cistern, most likely fo r oil.118 

Information obtained from local sources differed as to the location of the mining sites 

he and members of the group visited. Several sites, all controlled by FPRC – Sangha-

__________________ 

 111  Meetings with local economic operators and FPRC members, Ndélé, 8–12 October 2019. 

 112  Meeting with “general” Kaffine, Mbrès, 8 September 2019. 

 113  Meetings with economic operators and community representatives, Kaga-Bandoro and Mbrès,  

5–9 September 2019. 

 114  Ibid. 

 115  Ibid. 

 116  Meeting with confidential sources, June to October 2019.  

 117  Meetings with armed group members, local authorities, community representatives, economic 

operators and international partners held in Bangui, Birao, Ndélé and Kaga-Bandoro, June–October 

2019; confidential report, 12 June 2019. 

 118  The vehicle transporting the excavator reportedly remained in Mamoun (road between Birao and 

Ndélé) due to mechanical issues. The cistern was reportedly left in Ndélé in view of future 

activities. 
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https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/729
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
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Carrières, Manovo and the area of Mbrès and Bakala (see para. 94 above) – were 

mentioned.119 He also reportedly bought diamonds and gold during his stay in the 

country.120  

97. Such activities can only be carried out with the authorization (against payment) 

of FPRC leaders. Kidessi’s convoy was protected by FPRC fighters and he visited 

leaders of this armed group in each location he visited. 121  

 

  Aimé Moubamou: business associate of Abdoulaye Hissène 
 

98. Aimé Moubamou, a national of the Congo, is a close and long-standing associate 

of sanctioned individual Abdoulaye Hissène. During the transition period, Aimé 

Moubamou supported Hissène in his business ventures, including when Hissène 

attempted to sell gold in Kenya and crude oil in Chad (see S/2017/639, paras. 44–49, 

and S/2017/1023, paras. 42 and 43). Annex 3.23 includes documents confirming Aimé 

Moubamou’s presence, along with Hissène’s, in Nairobi in September 2014 and in 

N’Djamena in December 2014. 

99. In October 2019, Aimé Moubamou was seen in Ndélé, along with Hissène, by 

the Panel as well as by other sources.122 He arrived in Ndélé from Chad in September 

2019 and departed towards Chad around 10 October. He reportedly purchased 

diamonds and gold during his stay in the Central African Republic.123  

100. Moubamou’s presence in Ndélé demonstrated that he has continued working as 

Hissène’s business associate, even though Hissène has been under United Nations 

sanctions since May 2017 due to his activities as an armed group leader. Several other  

sources confirmed their continued collaboration, with Aimé Moubamou travelling on 

behalf of Hissène and facilitating his business activities.124  

101. The Panel was not in a position to present its findings directly to Aimé 

Moubamou and Mahamat Kidessi. 

 

 

 IV. Armed groups, human rights violations and trafficking 
activities in the south-east of the Central African Republic 
 

 

 A. Civilians, victims of armed groups activities (Basse-Kotto Prefecture) 
 

 

102. Pockets of anti-balaka groups have operated since 2017 (see S/2017/1023, 

paras. 74–77), along roads close to mining sites and at markets in Basse-Kotto 

Prefecture largely preying on civilians.125 These local groups, which, unlike in 2017, 

referred to themselves as anti-balaka groups despite having limited or no connections 

to the Bangui-based anti-balaka signatories of the Agreement, had no clear 

hierarchical structure within Basse-Kotto Prefecture. The absence of an overall 

anti-balaka leader – some anti-balaka leaders still adhered to the Rassemblement des 

républicains (RDR) group previously led by the now-deceased anti-balaka “general” 

Gaetan Boadé126 – contributed to the failure of local peace agreements to take hold.  

__________________ 

 119  Meetings with armed group members, local authorities, community representatives, economic 

operators and international partners held in Bangui, Birao, Ndélé and Kaga-Bandoro, June–October 

2019. 

 120  Ibid. 

 121  Ibid. 

 122  Meeting with confidential sources, Ndélé, 8–12 October 2019. 

 123  Ibid. 

 124  Meetings with armed group members and economic operators, January 2018 and October 2019.  

 125  Panel’s mission to Basse-Kotto prefecture, 12–18 September 2019. 

 126  See annex 4.2 for “colonel” Ngyambe’s letter of 16 August 2019, containing a call for peace. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2017/639
https://undocs.org/en/S/2017/1023
https://undocs.org/en/S/2017/1023
https://undocs.org/en/S/2017/1023
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103. Even in those areas where anti-balaka leaders have adhered to local peace 

agreements, such as in Mobaye Sub-Prefecture, where “general” Mathieu signed a 

local peace agreement in 2019, 127  associates continued and even reinforced their 

illegal activities. For example, at Boulangba market, Ludovic Angboyiondji and his 

associates were responsible for repeated human rights violations against civilians 

including illegal detention and torture. 128  At the market at Mafunga Gia, Mobaye 

Sub-Prefecture (see maps in annex 4.1) the deputy of “general” Mathieu, Akim, killed 

four civilians on 22 October 2019 because of a disagreement over the relocation of 

the market. 129  In Satema Sub-Prefecture, the local anti-balaka leader, Jean-Pierre 

Bida, also aligned with a local peace initiative. Consequently, Bida’s power was 

subverted by the Kembé Sub-Prefecture local anti-balaka leader, “general”: Aimé 

Ngbando who also controlled diamond mines in Yangbassi (see maps in annex 4.1). 130  

104. Local anti-balaka leaders maintained their power by engaging in widespread 

violence against civilians (see annex 4.3). One local official claimed that anyone not 

vaccinated was vulnerable to anti-balaka exactions. 131  Women were particularly 

vulnerable: in Ngaba, Kembé Sub-Prefecture, women were reportedly taken hostage 

and sold to other anti-balaka elements for FCFA 30,000 ($51) each.132 During their 

attempts to mediate, local officials also became the targets of local anti-balaka 

groups.133 In Zangba Sub-Prefecture, for example, local village chiefs were beaten up 

by local anti-balaka leader Luc Ngaima in August (see annex 4.4), while in Satema, 

in August, the Sub-Prefect resigned after being threatened by anti-balaka elements.134  

 

  Union pour la paix en Centrafrique and anti-balaka: fewer clashes but civilians 

deeply affected 
 

105. In Basse-Kotto Prefecture, UPC maintained control over the main towns, 

including Alindao, Dimbi, Zangba and Mobaye and at strategic points along various 

roads, while anti-balaka groups controlled many smaller markets and some mining 

sites.135  Clashes between UPC and anti-balaka fighters still occurred, for instance 

over the control of the Kollo mining site in Mingala Sub-Prefecture on 29 August. 

Fighting also took place in Zangba Sub-Prefecture in April after local anti-balaka 

leader Luc Ngaima stole an automatic weapon from a Muslim trader (see S/2019/608, 

para. 58).136  

106. On 29 August, armed UPC elements attacked several villages close to the Kollo 

mining site with weapons that included rocket-propelled grenades. The attack led to 

the displacement of villagers from surrounding areas. 137  UPC leader Ali Darassa 

denied having carried out any attacks in the area. Instead, at a meeting with civil 

society in Alindao on 5 September, Darassa claimed that the UPC presence in Kollo 

__________________ 

 127  Meeting with local authorities and confidential sources, Mobaye, 14–16 September 2019. 

 128  Meeting with the local authorities of Mobaye Sub-Prefecture, Mobaye, 16–18 September 2019. 

 129  Confidential report, 23 October 2019. 

 130  Meeting with armed group leaders, Mobaye, 16 September 2019.  

 131  The vaccinations were also carried out during the expansion of self -defence groups in region 6 in 

2017, as detailed in S/2017/1023, para. 80. 

 132  Meeting with local authorities and residents of Satema Sub-Prefecture, Mobaye, 16 September 

2019. 

 133  Ibid. 

 134  Ibid. 

 135  In Mobaye, the anti-balaka also had a base. Panel’s visit to Basse-Kotto Prefecture,  

12–18 September 2019. 

 136  Meeting held in Mobaye with local authorities of Zangba and Mobaye, 16–18 September 2019. 

 137  Meeting with a civil society representative held in Alindao, 12 September 2019; confidential 

report, 30 August 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2017/1023
https://undocs.org/en/S/2017/1023
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was linked to social cohesion activities and that UPC had not used any weapons. 138 

UPC also continued to commit human rights violations against civilians. In Alindao, 

on 1 May, UPC leader “general” Siddik illegally detained the vice-president, the 

second vice-president and the treasurer of the Alindao peace and social cohesion 

committee for having invited FACA to a celebration; they did not release them until 

a day later following protests by the local population. 139  

 

  Impact of the clashes and attacks on displacement and humanitarian assistance 
 

107. In July and August, fighting between armed groups and exactions aga inst 

civilians created new zones of displacement, including across the border in the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo, province of North Ubangi (see maps included in 

annex 4.1).140 Anti-balaka groups carried out human rights violations even across the 

border in the Democratic Republic of the Congo.141 Beside creating new displacement 

zones, the tensions also delayed the permanent return of those already displaced.142  

 

 

 B. Cross-border trafficking in arms and natural resources with the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo in Basse-Kotto Prefecture 
 

 

108. Deals, trafficking routes and entry points for weapons, gold and diamonds are 

discussed in annex 4.5. 

 

 

 C. Obo area: humanitarian situation and activities of groups locally 

referred to as the Lord’s Resistance Army (see annex 4.6) 
 

 

 V. Regional dynamics 
 

 

 A. Update regarding the joint commissions 
 

 

109. Following the meeting of the Cameroon and Central African Republic joint 

cooperation commission, held on 6 and 7 May (see S/2019/608, para. 36), the joint 

commission of the Central African Republic and the Republic of the Congo held its 

fifth meeting on 5 and 6 August, the first such meeting in 32 years. The Central 

African Republic and the Republic of the Congo signed 12 agreements, including one 

on poaching and the illegal exploitation of forest products and wildlife (see 

S/2018/729, annex 7.7), one establishing a subcommittee on defence and security and 

one establishing a subcommittee on borders (see annex 5.1). On the margins of the 

meeting, UNHCR facilitated the signing of a tripartite agreement on the voluntary 

repatriation to the Central African Republic of refugees currently residing in the 

Republic of the Congo.143  

110. On 2 October, the Minister for Foreign Affairs of the Central African Repub lic 

informed the Chair of the Security Council Committee established pursuant to 

resolution 2127 (2013) concerning the Central African Republic that discussions were 

ongoing with Chad, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Rwanda, South Sudan 

__________________ 

 138  Confidential source, 7 September 2019; meetings with a civil society representative held in 

Alindao, 12 September 2019. 

 139  Meetings with civil society representatives held in Alindao, 12 and 13 September 2019.  

 140  UNHCR, “Democratic Republic of the Congo, operational update, August 2019” available at 

https://data2.unhcr.org/fr/documents/details/71607.  

 141  L’Interview, “République démocratique du Congo: le gouvernement dresse un bilan de 50 morts 

dans multiples irruptions des rebelles anti-balaka au Nord-Ubangi”, 26 October 2019. 

 142  Meeting with members of the humanitarian community, Bangui, 20 and 30 September 2019.  

 143  Meeting with an official of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Bangui, 15 August 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/729
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/729
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2127%20(2013)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2127%20(2013)
https://data2.unhcr.org/fr/documents/details/71607
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and Sudan about holding meetings of the relevant joint commissions in late 2019 and 

early 2020. The Central African Republic and Equatorial Guinea were considering 

holding a meeting of their joint commission in 2020.144  

111. On 15 October, during a visit to the Central African Republic by the President 

of Rwanda Paul Kagame, five agreements were signed, including an agreement on 

military cooperation.145  

 

 

 B. Closing of the border with the Sudan 
 

 

112. The present report provides new information on trafficking in arms and the 

movements of fighters across the border between the Central African Republic and 

the Sudan (see paras. 72–78 above). 

113. On 26 September, following a meeting in Nyala, the Sudan, the National 

Transition Council of the Sudan announced the closure of the country’s borders with 

the Central African Republic and Libya. Sudanese officials told the Panel that the 

decision was the result of the insecurity in the border area, in particular the fighting 

in Vakaga Prefecture (see paras. 46–71 above), and was aimed at limiting the flows 

of arms and combatants.146  

 

 

 C. Situation along the border with Chad 
 

 

114. Officials from the Ministry of Territorial Affairs of Chad told the Panel that 

insecurity in the northern part of the Central African Republic remained a concern. 

On 11 October they informed the Panel that Chad had deployed six army battalions 

to monitor the situation along the border with the Central African Republic. 147  

115. Discussions were also ongoing to organize a conference on cross-border 

transhumance with support from the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United 

Nations and IOM. The conference was to be held in N’Djamena and was to be 

attended by representatives of the national and local authorities and relevant civil 

society organizations based in the Central African Republic and Chad. The event, 

initially planned to be held ahead of the 2019–2020 transhumance season, would be 

the first of its kind since 2011. 

 

 

 D. Border with South Sudan 
 

 

116. Insecurity and activities of armed groups in the area of Haut-Mbomou, which 

borders South Sudan, are addressed in annex 4.6.  

117. On 21 February, the Governor of Tambura State (South Sudan) closed the border 

near Bambouti after the killing of five South Sudanese traders on the road between 

Bambouti and Obo148 on the grounds that the situation in the Central African Republic 

was a source of instability for the area under his authority.  

118. In March, the Prefect of Haut-Mbomou, the Sub-Prefect for Obo and Bambouti 

met in Tambura with the Minister of Interior, the Minister for Information, the 

__________________ 

 144  Meeting with an official of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Malabo, 4 September 2019.  

 145  Archived at the United Nations. 

 146  Meeting with Sudanese officials, Bangui, 7 and 16 October 2019.  

 147  Meeting with Chadian officials, N’Djamena, 11 October 2019. 

 148  The South Sudanese traders allegedly had links with officials in Tamboura. Meeting with the 

Sub-Prefect for Obo and Bambouti held in Obo, 25 September 2019; meeting with the head of 

the camp for South Sudanese refugees in Obo, held in Obo, 27 September 2019. 
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Minister for Education and the Minister for Social Affairs of South Sudan and with 

the Governor of Tambura State to discuss security issues along the border.149 During 

the meeting, the South Sudanese authorities agreed to reopen the  border but 

reportedly requested the authorities of the Central African Republic to (a)  deploy the 

Internal Security Forces and FACA to Bambouti; (b) expel Fulani from Bambouti, 

whose activities were deemed a source of instability; and (c) arrest the indiv iduals 

involved in the killing of the five South Sudanese traders on 20 February on the road 

between Bambouti and Obo.150  

119. On 18 April, the border was officially reopened. 151  In May and June, three 

individuals were arrested in relation to the killing of the South Sudanese traders.152 

However, although FACA had been dispatched to Bambouti on a temporary basis, the 

reported demands of the South Sudanese authorities had yet to be met in full.  

 

 

 E. Regional action on cross-border transhumance 
 

 

120. In its final report for 2018 (S/2018/1119, annex), the Panel addressed the role 

of transhumance in the crisis surrounding the Central African Republic and called for 

stronger regional cooperation to address this issue (see paras. 105–140 and 210 (a) 

and (b) of that report). 

121. The forty-eighth meeting of the United Nations Standing Advisory Committee 

on Security Questions in Central Africa was held in Kinshasa from 27 to 31 May. The 

participants discussed transhumance, made several recommendations and called for a 

regional conference on transhumance and pastoralism. The participants recommended 

that the Government of the Central African Republic include transhumance in the 

agenda of all joint commissions for cooperation, as did the participants in the fourth 

session of the Executive Monitoring Committee co-chaired by the African Union and 

the Government of the Central African Republic, held in Bangui on 30 July (see 

recommendation in para. 172 (b) below). 

 

 

 F. Update on the reported coup d’état in Equatorial Guinea of 

December 2017 
 

 

122. As indicated in the Panel’s midterm report (S/2019/608, annex), 130 individuals 

were tried in absentia and sentenced to prison terms by a court in Bata, Equatorial 

Guinea, on 31 May (see para. 42 of that report). On 6 September, the authorities of 

Equatorial Guinea provided the Panel with a list of the nationals of the Central African 

Republic who had been found guilty.153 Along with other sentenced individuals from 

Cameroon, Chad, Mali and Senegal, they remained detained in Ebolowa, Cameroon. 

Equatorial Guinea has been negotiating with Cameroon for their extradi tion to serve 

their sentences.154  

 

 

__________________ 

 149  Meeting with the Prefect of Haut-Mbomou, and the Sub-Prefect for Obo and Bambouti, Obo, 

25 and 27 September 2019.  

 150  Ibid. 

 151  Confidential report, 23 April 2019. 

 152  Meeting with the Sub-Prefect of Bambouti held in Obo, 25 September 2019, and meeting with 

the prosecutor of Obo, held in Bangui, 30 September 2019.  

 153  Archived at the United Nations. 

 154  Meeting with an official at the Ministry of Justice in Malabo, 6 September 2019.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608


S/2019/930 
 

 

19-19745 30/234 

 

 VI. Reported involvement of ex-Séléka members in the 
establishment of a regional network of armed groups 
targeting Western, Israeli and Saudi interests in Central 
African Republic and elsewhere 
 

 

123. On 19 April, an international news channel broadcast a television report 

featuring excerpts of a video showing the questioning of ex-Séléka member Ismael 

Djidah. According to the news report, the footage had been recorded, after Djidah ’s 

arrest in Chad. In his self-incriminatory testimony, he explained that, together with 

Michel Djotodia, former President of the Central African Republic, he had created an 

armed group to carry out violent acts against Western, Saudi and Israeli interests in 

several African countries, including the Central African Republic, with support from 

the Quds Force of the Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps of the Islamic Republic of 

Iran.155  

 

 

 A. Ismael Djidah and Michel Djotodia, a close and 

long-standing relationship 
 

 

124. Michel Djotodia and Ismael Djidah first met when Djotodia was Consul of the 

Central African Republic in Nyala (South Darfur State, the Sudan), a function that 

Djotodia held from 2005 to 2006. According to several sources, including ex -Séléka 

leaders, Djidah facilitated connections between Michel Djotodia and Chadian and 

Sudanese rebel groups operating in the Sudan, one of which the Justice and Equality 

Movement of Khalil Ibrahim.156  

125. After openly rebelling against the regime of François Bozizé, Michel Djotodia 

was expelled from the Sudan and went to Benin, where he was arrested in 2006. 

Throughout the period in which Michel Djotodia was in prison, from November 2006 

to June 2008, Djidah reportedly provided him with regular financial support. 157 After 

Michel Djotodia was released, both men remained close associates until Djotodia 

returned to the Central African Republic to create the Séléka coalition, in 2012.  

126. When Michel Djotodia became transitional president in March 2013, he asked 

Ismael Djidah to come to Bangui and appointed him presidential adviser. That was the 

function specified on Djidah’s diplomatic passport issued in June 2013 (see annex 

6.2). The Panel collected a dozen testimonies from individuals who occupied high -

level positions during Djotodia’s presidency and who described Ismael Djidah as 

“Djotodia’s man”, only answering to the President and travelling in his name.158  

127. When Djotodia was forced to resign in January 2014 and returned to Benin, 

Ismael Djidah followed him and continued to work for him in Cotonou, Benin, until 

his arrest in early 2019.159  

  

__________________ 

 155  i24 News, “Un réseau terroriste iranien démantelé en Afrique”, accessed on 19 April 2019 via 

https://www.i24news.tv/fr/actu/international/afrique/1555609709-un-reseau-terroriste-iranien-

demantele-en-afrique-exclusivite-i24news. The link is no longer active. The news report has 

been archived at the United Nations (see also annex 6.1).  

 156  Meetings with confidential sources, Bangui, May–October 2019. 

 157  Meetings with confidential sources, Bangui, 8 and 12 October 2019.  

 158  Meetings with former cabinet ministers, presidential advisers and armed group leaders, Bangui, 

August–October 2019. 

 159  Ibid. 
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 B. Testimony of Ismael Djidah 
 

 

128. During its investigation, the Panel gained access to a transcript and a longer 

version of the video of Ismael Djidah’s above-mentioned testimony. In the testimony, 

he provided the following information, the veracity of which was corroborated by 

diplomatic sources:160  

 – Djidah had created, upon instruction of Michel Djotodia (see details in 

paras. 132–137) and with the support of the Quds Force, an armed group named 

“Saraya Zahraa” in order to carry out violent actions against Western, Israeli 

and Saudi interests in Africa, including in the Central African Republic. His 

objective was to establish a group comprising between 200 and 300 armed 

elements and operating in cooperation with other cells comprising armed group 

members from Chad and the Sudan; 

 – Djidah had travelled to Iran (Islamic Republic of), Lebanon and Iraq. During 

each of these trips he met with Quds Force representatives who provided him 

with sums of between $12,000 and $20,000; 

 – Between 30 and 40 individuals, whom Djidah claimed to have recruit ed from 

within the ranks of ex-Séléka groups, had travelled to Lebanon, Iraq and the 

Syrian Arab Republic in 2017 and 2018 to participate in training that included 

the use of firearms. The training had been provided by groups of individuals 

including Quds Force and Hizbullah members. 

129. On 24 October 2019, the United Arab Emirates confirmed to the Panel that 

Ismael Djidah had travelled from Dubai to Kish Island in the Islamic Republic of 

Iran,161 on 11 December 2016 and had returned the following day. The Panel collected 

information from airline companies and obtained other documents evidencing travels 

by Djidah to Lebanon in March, July, September and December 2017, February–March 

and July 2018, as well as a copy of Djidah’s visa for Iraq issued on 21 October 2018 

(see annex 6.3). 

130. The Panel also collected information and documents162 confirming the travels to 

Lebanon and Iraq of 12 individuals reportedly members of the Saraya Zahraa group 

and reportedly recruited by Djidah from within the ranks of ex-Séléka groups. 

131. The Panel was unable to meet with Djidah and is unable, at the present stage, to 

confirm the veracity of the information contained in his testimony in it s entirety. 

 

 

 C. Role of Michel Djotodia 
 

 

132. In his testimony, Ismael Djidah claimed that he had collaborated with the Quds 

Force on the instructions of Michel Djotodia. According to Djidah, and according to 

diplomatic sources,163 Michel Djotodia met with Quds Force officials on Kish Island in 

the Islamic Republic of Iran in April 2016. An agreement was reportedly reached 

according to which Michel Djotodia was (a) to receive support from the Quds Force to 

reclaim power in the Central African Republic and (b) to establish a special unit to carry 

out violent acts in several African countries, including the Central African Republic. 

On the same occasion, Michel Djotodia was reportedly provided with $150,000 and 

reportedly decided to task Ismael Djidah with implementing the agreed plan. 

__________________ 

 160  Meetings with diplomatic sources, 22 July, 28 August and 14 October 2019.  

 161  A visa exemption system is in place for nationals of a large number of countries who wish to 

visit Kish Island. 

 162  Archived at the United Nations. 

 163  Meetings with diplomatic sources, 22 July, 28 August and 14 October 2019.  
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133. Several ex-Séléka leaders also told the Panel that Michel Djotodia had received 

money – between $100,000 and $200,000 – from nationals of the Islamic Republic of 

Iran. They claimed to have no further information on the purpose of this financial 

support.164 

134. The Panel obtained copies of two handwritten letters, one dated December 2018 

and one with an illegible date, in which Ismael Djidah is mentioned and the drafter 

requests the support of “friends” to fight against the “Israeli and Wahhabi ideologies” 

(see annex 6.4). The letters were reportedly sent to Quds Force representatives by 

Djotodia. The Panel is unable to confirm the authenticity of these letters.  

135. On 24 October 2019, the United Arab Emirates informed the Panel that Michel 

Djotodia had travelled from Dubai to Kish (Islamic Republic of Iran) on 27 April 

2016 and returned to Dubai on 30 May. While the Panel evidenced the close 

connection between Michel Djotodia and Ismael Djidah (see paras. 124–127), it is 

unable at the present stage to confirm Michel Djotodia’s involvement in the plan as 

detailed by Djidah. 

136. Michel Djotodia has denied being the author of the above-mentioned letters. He 

has also denied having met with Quds Force representatives and having participated 

in or being aware of the above-mentioned plan. He has told the Panel that he spent 

only two days in Kish Island, a trip that had been organized by business partners from 

the Islamic Republic of Iran whom he had met in Dubai on behalf of a Cotonou-based 

company.165 

137. Djotodia has denied being aware of any of the activities of Ismae l Djidah who, 

according to him, had falsely claimed to act on his behalf. He has also denied having 

appointed Djidah as presidential adviser during his presidency. In Djotodia’s view, 

Djidah was in contact with individuals from the Islamic Republic of Iran to extort 

money by requesting their financial support for reconciliation activities that he 

claimed to implement in the Central African Republic.166 

 

 

 D. Information provided by the Islamic Republic of Iran 
 

 

138. On 28 October, the Islamic Republic of Iran wrote to the Panel that reports of 

meetings between Michel Djotodia and the country’s authorities, and of support that 

the Quds Force had provided to the two ex-Séléka leaders, were allegations founded 

on fake sources and a fabricated scenario. The Islamic Republic of Iran underlined that 

it neither interfered in the internal affairs of any country nor supported any violent act.  

 

 

 VII. Arms embargo and national defence and security forces 
 

 

 A. Easing of the arms embargo and requests for heavy weaponry 
 

 

139. On 12 September, in the light of progress achieved towards meeting the five key 

benchmarks set by the Security Council with regard to the arms embargo measures,167 

the Council adopted resolution 2488 (2019) with which it eased the arms embargo for 

the provision to Central African Republic security forces of weapons with a calibre 

of 14.5 millimetres or less, and ammunition and components especially designed for 

such weapons, for which advance notification is now required, instead of a request 

for advance approval by the Security Council Committee established pursuant to 
__________________ 

 164  Meetings with ex-Séléka leaders held in Bangui, August–October 2019. 

 165  Telephone conversations with Michel Djotodia, 15 and 31 October 2019. 

 166  Ibid. 

 167  See Security Council resolution 2454 (2019), paras. 9 and 10; S/PRST/2019/3; S/2019/609. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2488%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2488%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2454%20(2019)
https://undocs.org/en/S/PRST/2019/3
https://undocs.org/en/S/PRST/2019/3
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/609
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/609
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resolution 2127 (2013) concerning the Central African Republic.168 In easing the arms 

embargo, the Security Council has responded to repeated calls of the authorities of 

the Central African Republic (see annex 7.1). 

140. Calls by national authorities for a total lifting of the arms embargo have 

continued since. During the visit of the Chair of the Committee to the Central African 

Republic from 1 to 4 October, the President, the Prime Minister and several ministers 

stressed the need to lift the arms embargo against the Government while strengthening 

the efforts to stop armed group arms from trafficking (see annex 7.1).  

141. On 23 October, during the Russian Federation-Africa summit held in Sochi, 

Russian Federation, President Touadéra of the Central African Republic also requested 

that FACA be provided with lethal weapons with a calibre larger than 14.5 mm, 

armoured personnel carriers, infantry fighting vehicles, mortars and other artillery 

weapons. According to the President, such weaponry was needed to build a stronger 

national army (see excerpts from the President’s speech contained in annex 7.1). He 

also stressed that armed groups smuggled heavy weapons, bypassing the embargo and 

preventing the Government from regaining control over the entire country. 169  The 

Panel notes that illicit trafficking in weaponry by armed groups has indeed continued 

(see, for instance, paras. 72–78), but that the number of documented heavy weapons 

possessed by the groups remains low. 

 

 

 B. Deployment of national defence and security forces: training, 

recruitment and equipment, and cases of misconduct 
 

 

  Forces armées centrafricaines and Presidential Guard 
 

  Training and recruitment 
 

142. Recruits and soldiers of FACA continued to receive support from, inter alia, the 

European Union Military Training Mission in the Central African Republic and 

Russian instructors.  

143. From 24 June to 16 October, the Mission trained 1,020 new FACA recruits in Bouar 

and Bangui (see annex 7.2). The 1,014 FACA recruits who successfully completed the 

training will be incorporated into the army and gradually deployed. 170  Between 

September 2016 and October 2019, the Mission had provided training to approximately 

6,000 soldiers (see annex 7.2). Beside the 100,800 pieces of 7.62 x 38 mm ammunition 

transferred by Cyprus after having notified the Security Council Committee established 

pursuant to resolution 2127 (2013) concerning the Central African Republic (see 

S/2019/608, annex 6.1), the Mission also obtained 178 AK-type assault rifles on loan 

from France, which it has used for FACA training purposes since June. 171 

144. From May to July, and from August to October, the 235 Russian instructors 

continued their training sessions in Bangui and Berengo (Lobaye Prefecture).172 As at 

30 October, Russian instructors had trained a total of 2,972 FACA soldiers. 173 Russian 

instructors also continued to be present in the provinces to ensure that the skills 

__________________ 

 168  Security Council resolution 2488 (2019), para. 2 (g). 

 169  Ibid. 

 170  Meeting with the European Union Military Training Mission in the Central African Republic held 

in Bangui, 2 October 2019. Correspondence with the Mission of 18 and 22 October 2019.  

 171  Meetings with French diplomatic sources and European Union sources held on 23, 24 and 

25 September, and on 8 and 9 October 2019. Telephone conversations with French and European 

Union diplomatic sources, 1 and 4 October 2019.  

 172  Correspondence with the Embassy of the Russian Federation in Bangui, 30 October 2019.  

 173  Ibid. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2127%20(2013)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2127%20(2013)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2127%20(2013)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2127%20(2013)
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https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
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acquired during their training were correctly applied once the FACA soldiers were 

deployed (see details in annex 7.2). 

145. The five-year recruitment plan (2018–2022), which is aimed at revitalizing the 

national army and compensating for the numerous retirements in 2017 and 2018, 

provides for an overall recruitment of 1,300 FACA officers, deputy officers and 

soldiers for 2019, 174  including 70 ex-combatants (see annex 7.2). However, the 

recruitment of these new FACA members has been affected by significant delays (see 

also S/2018/1119, para. 177 and S/2019/608, annex 6.2).175 

146. The delays contrasted with the recruitment in 2019 of several hundred new 

members of the Presidential Guard, mostly from the Mbaka-Mandja ethnic group (see 

also S/2019/1119, para. 175). 176  Around 100 of these new recruits were flown to 

Angola in September for training; the training was ongoing at the time of drafting of 

the present report.177 The Panel has informed the national authorities of the Central 

African Republic and relevant other countries that, pursuant to relevant Security 

Council resolutions, unless notified in advance to the Committee and coordinated 

with MINUSCA, such trainings constitute a violation of the arms embargo (see 

recommendation in para. 172 (c) below). The Panel also notes that these recruitment s 

are not provided for in the national defence plan, the recruitment planning or the 

budget, and that the new recruits have not been vetted. 178 

 

  Deployment and equipment, and cases of misconduct 
 

147. The Government of the Central African Republic, with MINUSCA support,179 

pursued its policy of rapid FACA deployment, particularly to the east of the country. 

In late September and early October, 82 FACA members were deployed in Bria and 50 

in Birao, two locations were FACA had been totally absent since the start of the crisis  

in 2013.180 Whereas these deployments are part of efforts to re-establish State authority 

in areas controlled by armed groups, they are not necessarily conducive to the garrison 

army concept outlined in the national defence plan. The original concept had provided 

for the inclusion of FACA in permanent structures in four defined defence zones. As 

at mid-October, a total of 1,429 FACA troops had been deployed in 19 locations 

outside the capital (see map in annex 7.3 and S/2019/608, paras. 90–92).  

148. While the arrival of FACA soldiers has mostly been welcomed by local 

communities, new deployments and the prospect of further deployments have elicited 

contradictory reactions among armed groups. For instance, in a  communiqué of 

20 July, Nourredine Adam called for the progressive deployment of the defence and 

security forces in the areas under FPRC control with a view to, among other things, 

facilitating the operationalization of the joint security units (see annex 7.4). However, 

on 22 September, FPRC combatants in Bria fired gunshots into the air to express their 

discontent at the planned FACA deployment there; later, on 25 September, the FPRC 

zone commander in Bria stated that FACA deployment had been accepted. 181 UPC, by 

contrast, continued to strongly oppose FACA movements in Alindao and Bambari, as 

__________________ 

 174  FACA recruitment plan 2019. 

 175  Meetings with confidential sources, Bangui, 7 and 8 October 2019. Confidential document, 

21 October 2019. 

 176  Meeting with FACA officers and international partners, 2 and 8 October 2019.  

 177  Ibid. Meeting with FACA Chief of Staff, Bangui, 8 October 2019. Meeting with confidential 

sources, Bangui, 8 October 2019. 

 178  Meetings with FACA officers, Bangui, 7 and 8 October 2019. Telephone conversation with a 

confidential source, 30 October 2019. 

 179  Meeting with a confidential source, Bangui, 20 September 2019. Confidential report, 1 July 20 19. 

 180  Confidential reports, 27 September and 9 October 2019. See S/2019/822, para. 49. 

 181  Confidential report, 23 September 2019. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/822
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well as in other areas,182 and UPC elements attacked FACA personnel close to Obo 

(see annex 4.6). 

149. FACA deployments have continued to face significant challenges. First, FACA 

continued to rely heavily on the support and protection of MINUSCA, especially in areas 

controlled by armed groups (for example Birao, Bria and Alindao), where they were at 

constant risk of being attacked. FACA personnel thus patrolled only in well -delimited 

areas and under MINUSCA supervision.183  Second, FACA soldiers continued to face 

serious logistical challenges, including a lack of proper housing and a chronic delay in 

rotations, leading to discontent and misconduct among soldiers. 184  Third, deployed 

FACA personnel often had no weapons storage facilities at their disposal. Lastly, even 

though 2,448 uniformed personnel participated in the nationwide campaign to raise 

awareness of the military code of justice,185 there continued to be cases of misconduct 

and ill-treatment ranging from widespread extortion and taxation of civilians and 

impingement on the freedom of movement186 to more severe human rights violations. 

The challenges are discussed further in annex 7.5. 

 

  Internal security forces (see annex 7.6) 
 

  Arms transfers in 2019 and management of weapons and ammunition 
 

150. Since late 2018, the supply of lethal weaponry to the defence and security forces 

has been at its largest since the imposition of the arms embargo in 2013. On 

2 December 2018, a French aircraft arrived at M’Poko International Airport in Bangui 

to deliver 1,400 AK-type assault rifles in line with an exemption granted by the 

Committee on 26 February 2018. On 3 April, 400 weapons were given to the internal 

security forces; the remaining 1,000 stayed with FACA (see annex 7.7). The 2,800 

magazines for these assault rifles arrived on 13 August. Between 18 August and 

16 September, 11 aircraft arrived in Bangui to deliver 4,695 weapons and more than 

7 million rounds of ammunition as part of the military cooperation between the 

Russian Federation and the Central African Republic, as allowed under an exemption 

granted by the Committee on 30 January. These weapons and ammunition were 

gradually distributed to FACA, police and gendarmes. 187 

151. Donations of weapons and ammunition by the Russian Federation and France in 

2018 and 2019 (see also S/2018/1119, para. 180) almost covered the needs of FACA 

for small arms and light weapons.188 However, the internal security forces were still 

in dire need of weapons and crowd control equipment (see S/2019/608, annex 6.6, 

and S/2018/1119, annex 9.5). 189  Notwithstanding the donations made by several 

countries of non-lethal materiel, including vehicles, uniforms and communication 

tools, the logistical support for deployed FACA personnel and internal security forces 

remained insufficient (see also para. 149 below).  

152. In 2019, with the support of the United Nations Mine Action Service and 

funding by international partners, substantial efforts were made to build and 

rehabilitate weapons and ammunition storage depots in Bambari, Bangassou, Bouar 

__________________ 

 182  Panel’s missions to Alindao, 13 September 2019, and Obo, 24–29 October 2019. Confidential 

report, 1 October 2019. 

 183  Ibid. Panel’s missions to Birao, 3–5 October 2019; Bria, 3 October 2019; Kaga-Bandoro, 

4–9 September 2019. 

 184  Panel’s mission to Alindao and Obo, 13 September and 24–28 September 2019. 

 185  See S/2019/822, para. 47. 

 186  Panel’s missions to Ouham-Pendé, Mbomou and Haut-Mbomou prefectures, 10–14 May 2019, 

27–30 May 2019 and 24–30 September 2019. 

 187  Meeting with confidential sources, Bangui, 8 October 2019. 

 188  Meetings with international partners, Bangui, 8 and 30 October 2019. See also annex 7.1.  

 189  Meeting with international partners, Bangui. 8 October 2019.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
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and Bangui, among other places (see also S/2019/822, para. 52). On the other hand, 

the implementation of the weapons and ammunition management system remained 

limited, as specified in annex 7.7.  

 

 

 C. Importation of commercial explosives (see annex 7.8) 
 

 

 VIII. Diamonds and gold: legal trade, trafficking and 
security issues 
 

 

 A. Kimberley Process, diamonds trade, and trafficking 
 

 

153. Between 1 January and 15 October, the Central African Republic exported 

18,171 carats of rough diamonds.190 While that figure is higher than that for the same 

period in 2018 (9,228 carats), it is negligible compared with the country ’s estimated 

current production (about 330,000 carats per year; see S/2018/1119, paras. 141–142 

and S/2019/608, para. 102). Nearly the entirety of the country’s production continued 

to be smuggled through neighbouring countries. Information on trafficking in 

diamonds and gold in areas outside the control of the State (i.e., the east and north) is 

included in paragraphs 92 to 101 above and annex 4.5.  

154. Trafficking was also rampant in the western part of the country, including in 

Kimberley Process-compliant zones. The Government has taken some measures to 

address the problem, such as establishing a minimum threshold of activities for 

buying houses (bureaux d’achat) and collectors, and routine inspection field missions, 

as was done in Boda (Lobaye Prefecture) in August 2019 (see annex 8.1 for further 

information on these measures). 

155. A recently published study that addressed diamond smuggling in the Central 

African Republic contained a detailed discussion of several factors, including the 

disorganized state of the supply chain and the climate of impunity prevailing in the 

sector.191  The Panel endorses several of that study’s recommendations, in particular 

those regarding the need to reform the operational framework for resumption of exports 

of rough diamonds from the Central African Republic under the Kimberley Process as 

to incite buying houses to formalize their activities,192 and those concerning the need to 

strengthen measures to counter impunity and trafficking, for instance through better 

inspections at Bangui M’Poko International Airport (see S/2018/729, para. 119 (e)) and 

strengthened cooperation between the country’s relevant law enforcement agencies. 

 

 

 B. Gold: increasing legal trade, and the issue of funding for 

armed groups 
 

 

156. Between 1 January and 15 October, 194.49 kilograms of gold were exported 

from the Central African Republic, which confirmed the steady rise in the co untry’s 

legal trade in gold that started in 2016 (see statistics in annex 8.2). At the same t ime, 

__________________ 

 190  Official data supplied by the Central African Republic.  

 191  Terah U. De Jong and others, Rapport diagnostic sur la contrebande des diamants en République 

centrafricaine, Tetra Tech/United States Agency for International Development, 2019.  

 192  Under the operational framework for resumption of exports of rough diamonds from the Central 

African Republic under the Kimberley Process, any export of rough diamonds has to be approved 

by an international monitoring team. Some buying houses considered that this system created 

delays that had a negative impact on their profits. As a result, there are sus picions that some 

buying houses do not declare all of their activities and exports (source: meetings with economic 

operators and representatives of the Ministry of Mines, March–October 2019). 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/822
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/822
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/1119
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/608
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/729
https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/729


 
S/2019/930 

 

37/234 19-19745 

 

this amount represents only a tiny proportion of the country’s actual production, 

estimated at about 2 tonnes per year.193 

157. The Panel continued to deplore the absence of any national framework and 

regulations regarding the traceability and the origins of the gold exported (see 

S/2018/1119, paras. 157–159). As a result of that absence, although most of the gold 

originated from sites located in areas under the control – or relative control – of the 

Government, the Central African Republic has certainly continued to export gold 

from sites where armed groups collect taxes.  

 

 

 C. Security issues around the activities of mining companies: the case 

of Bozoum 
 

 

158. On 25 March 2019, the Minister for Mines and Geology suspended the activities 

of four mining companies operating in the area of Bozoum (Ouham-Pendé 

Prefecture), Tian Xiang, Tian Run, Meng and Mao, for failure to comply with 

environmental protection rules (see annex 8.3).  

159. After locals had complained about the companies’ continued activities (see 

annex 8.4), a parliamentary fact-finding mission visited the Bozoum area from 6 to 

10 June. In the mission report, the companies were accused of, inter alia, damaging 

the environment, failure to declare most of their production and operating outside 

their permit areas (see annex 8.5).194 On 29 July, members of the Government held a 

press conference to refute the mission’s conclusions.195 

160. Tensions around the activities of mining companies raised security concerns. On 

27 April, in Bozoum, an angry crowd burned a vehicle belonging to one of the mining 

companies in protest against the arrest by FACA of a priest for taking pictures of the 

mining sites (see annex 8.6).196 The Panel notes that the use of FACA and the internal 

security forces to protect the interests of private companies has become a common 

practice (see S/2018/729, annex 7.5) and has had a negative impact on the image of 

the State security forces.197 

161. Similar accusations had previously been levelled against mining companies 

operating in other areas (see S/2018/729, annex 7.5 and S/2018/1119, paras. 154–156). 

This succession of cases helped to turn the issue into a political one, with the 

opposition accusing the Government of mismanaging the country’s natural resources 

(see also S/2019/822, para. 18). A separate parliamentary fact-finding team was 

established to address the issue of corruption in the granting of mining permits. 198 

  

__________________ 

 193  Sebastian Pennes, Diagnostic de l’exploitation minière et perspectives de développement 

socio-économique en RCA à la lumière de la vision du régime minier en Afrique – rapport final, 

Levin Sources, Cambridge, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, October  

2018. 

 194  The accusations are corroborated by other sources and several other members of Parliament from 

the area, including some who were not members of the Mission; meeting with confidential 

sources and members of Parliament, Bangui, 13 and 20 May 2019.  

 195  Meeting with the Minister for Mines, Bangui, 10 September 2019. Radio Ndeke Luka, 

“République centrafricaine : Le gouvernement contredit le rapport des députés sur la dégradation 

de l’environnement à Bozoum”, 28 July 2019, available from www.radiondekeluka.org. 

 196  Confidential report, 29 April 2019. 

 197  See report of the fact-finding mission (annex 8.5). 

 198  Radio Ndeke Luka, “Assemblée Nationale : Des députés accusés de corruption dans l’attribution 

des marchés à des sociétés d’exploitation minière”, 20 July 2019, available from 

www.radiondekeluka.org. 
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 D. Mining permits 
 

 

162. In May 2019, copies of 41 mining permits were uploaded to the official website 

of the Ministry of Finance and the Budget.199 The Panel noted that the list included 

permits for certain areas not under State control, including three permits for 

semi-mechanized artisanal exploitation in areas where armed groups collected taxes 

from all economic operators. Office de recherches géologiques et d’exploitation 

minière obtained a permit for operations in Bria (Haute-Kotto Prefecture), issued on 

14 January 2018; Lobaye Invest for operations in Bangassou (Mbomou Prefecture) 

and in Bria, Ouadah and Sam Ouandja (Haute-Kotto Prefecture), issued on 4 April 

2018; and Coopérative Minière Minerva Africa for operations in Agoudou Manga 

(Ouaka Prefecture), issued on 24 September 2018 (see annex 8.7).  

163. The Panel brought this matter to the attention of the Minister for Mines and 

Geology by letter dated 17 September 2019. The Panel requested information about 

the measures taken by the Government to ensure that the granting of such permits  did 

not facilitate exports of rough diamonds sourced outside Kimberley Process-

compliant zones and/or did not facilitate the funding of armed groups. The Minister 

informed the Panel that he would clarify the issue (see recommendation contained in 

para. 172 (d) below).200 In a communication of 30 November, the company Lobaye 

Invest stated that it had not undertaken any activities in areas controlled by armed 

groups. 

 

 

 E. Regional cooperation in the fight against trafficking 
 

 

164. On 10 and 11 April, in the framework of the Kimberley Process, a workshop 

was held on regional cooperation in Central Africa with the participation of 

representatives of Angola, Cameroon, the Central African Republic, the Congo and 

the Democratic Republic of the Congo. Participants discussed ways to increase 

regional cooperation, including by establishing a consultative framework for law 

enforcement agencies and harmonizing taxation policies.  

165. During its investigations, the Panel observed that many individuals involved in 

trafficking in the Central African Republic had previously engaged in similar activ ities 

in other African countries. This was the case, for instance, with Abadi Shouki, 

mentioned in the Panel’s final report for 2017 (S/2017/1023, paras. 163–166). In that 

regard, the Panel underlines the importance of information-sharing and/or the 

establishment of “red lists” among countries in the region and elsewhere (see 

recommendation contained in para. 172 (e) below).  

 

 

 IX. Information on sanctioned individuals and the 
implementation of sanctions 
 

 

 A. Implementation of the asset freeze by national authorities 
 

 

166. On 2 October, in a meeting with the Chair of the Security Council Committee 

established pursuant to resolution 2127 (2013) concerning the Central African 

Republic in Bangui, the General Prosecutor of the Central African Republic stated that 

the national authorities had undertaken to identify the assets of individuals under 

United Nations sanctions. The information collected by the authorities and shared with 

__________________ 

 199  Available from www.finances-budget.cf/documents/permis-d-exploitation/permis-miniers, 

(accessed on 25 October 2019). 

 200  Meeting with the Minister for Mines, 10 September 2019.  
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the Panel on 18 October corroborated the Panel’s findings included in previous reports 

(see S/2016/1032, para. 46; S/2017/639, paras. 36–38; S/2018/1119, paras. 203–206; 

and S/2019/608, paras. 107 and 108). The Panel commends the authorities of the 

Central African Republic for their work on this issue. 

167. Among the bank accounts identified, only the account of sanctioned individual 

and FACA officer Habib Soussou opened at Banque sahélo-saharienne pour 

l’investissement et le commerce (BSIC) (see S/2018/1119, paras. 204–208) had yet 

to be frozen. BSIC informed the Panel that no instructions for the freezing of the asset 

had been issued by the General Prosecutor. In a letter of 8 November, the Panel 

reminded the General Prosecutor and other relevant national authorities that all assets 

of sanctioned individuals were to be frozen.  

 

 

 B. Use of a fraudulent Sudanese passport and travel ban violations by 

Nourredine Adam 
 

 

168. In June, the Panel was informed that Nourredine Adam was travelling with a 

Sudanese passport bearing the name of Mohamed Adam Brema Abdallah. On 

22 August, following several requests for information made to countries to which 

Nourredine Adam had travelled, Kenya shared a copy of the passport, which had been 

issued on 10 June 2018, thereby enabling the Panel to confirm by facial recognition 

that the passport was indeed being used by Nourredine Adam (see annex 9.1). As a 

result, on 6 September, the Committee amended the information on Adam included in 

the sanctions list and issued a press release on the matter. 201 

169. Kenya also informed the Panel that Nourredine Adam used the passport when 

travelling to Nairobi from Dubai on 19 November 2018.  

170. On 30 July, the Panel sent a letter to the Sudan requesting information on the 

passport. The Sudan has yet to provide a response (see recommendation in para. 172 (f) 

below). 

171. During the reporting period, Nourredine Adam continued to be based in 

Khartoum (see S/2019/608, para. 18) and engaged in other travel ban violations (for 

previous cases, see, for instance, S/2018/1119, paras. 199–201). He reportedly 

travelled from Khartoum to Riyadh on 15 August and, from Riyadh to Khartoum on 

20 August.202 Saudi Arabia has yet to respond to the Panel’s request for information 

regarding this journey. 

 

 

 X. Recommendations  
 

 

172. The Panel recommends that the Security Council Committee established 

pursuant to resolution 2127 (2013) concerning the Central African Republic: 

 (a) Encourage the Government of the Central African Republic and the 

guarantors of the Agreement to define punitive measures and sanctions that could be 

taken pursuant to article 35 of the Agreement, in particular in cases of international 

humanitarian law violations (see para. 15); 

__________________ 

 201  United Nations, “2127 sanctions committee amends list entry of one individual”, press release, 

6 September 2019. 

 202  Meeting with confidential sources, Birao, 21–22 August 2019. Meeting with FPRC 

representative, 20 August 2019. 
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 (b) Encourage the Government of the Central African Republic, relevant 

regional and international partners to pursue their efforts at cooperation on 

cross-border transhumance, and in this regard: 

 (i) pursue their efforts to hold a regional conference on transhumance and 

pastoralism (see para. 121); 

 (ii) ensure that sexual and gender-based violence and measures against it are 

included in the agenda of any meetings and initiatives related to transhumance 

(see para. 80); 

 (c) Remind the States neighbouring the Central African Republic of the 

provisions of paragraph 9 of Security Council resolution 2488 (2019), in which the 

Council called upon the authorities of the Central African Republic and the authorities 

of neighbouring States to cooperate at the regional level  to investigate and combat 

armed groups involved in arms trafficking, and, pursuant to paragraph 7 of resolution 

2454 (2019), to provide information on traffickers to the Panel for further 

investigation and cooperation; 

 (d) Call upon the Government of the Central African Republic and Member 

States providing operational and non-operational training to the country’s 

Presidential Guard to coordinate that training with MINUSCA and notify the 

Committee in advance of such activities as required under paragraph 2 (b) of 

resolution 2488 (2019) (see para. 146); 

 (e) Encourage the Government of the Central African Republic to clarify its 

policy regarding the granting of mining permits in areas controlled by armed groups 

and provide the Committee with information on the measures taken to ensure that 

such permits do not facilitate the export of diamonds sourced outside Kimberley 

Process-compliant zones and/or do not facilitate the funding of armed groups (see 

paras. 162–163); 

 (f) Encourage the Government of the Central African Republic and 

neighbouring countries to strengthen the cooperation among their law enforcement 

agencies involved in countering trafficking in natural resources, in particular through 

information-sharing and the establishment of lists of traffickers (see paras. 164–165); 

 (g) Remind the Government of the Sudan of the information provided by the 

Panel concerning the Sudanese diplomatic passport used by sanctioned individual 

Nourredine Adam, as well as its obligation to cooperate with the Panel on this issue 

(see paras. 168–171). 
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Annex 1.1: Map of the Central African Republic. 
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Annex 1.2: Table of correspondence sent and received by the Panel from 1 March to 4 

November 2019. 

 

Country/Entity 
Number of 
letters sent 

Information 
fully 

supplied 

Information 
partially 
supplied 

No answer / 
Information 
not supplied 

Pending 

African Union 1     1   

Republic of the 
Congo 2     2   

Chair 10 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

CAR 3 1   2   

Chad 4 2   2   

WFP 3 3       

Ethiopian Airlines  3 2   1   

Kenya 3 1   2   

Sudan 4     4   

Cameroon 3 2   1   

Gabon  2 2       

Russian Federation 1 1       

Lapara  1     1   

Israel 2 2       

BSIC 2 2       

Sogea Satom 1 1       

India 1     1   

EPC Group 1     1   

Individual 2     2   
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CBCA 1 1       

Ecobank  2 2       

BPMC  1 1       

Equatorial Guinea  3 3   2   

Thien Pao 1     1   

United Arab Emirates 2 1   1   

Lebanon 1     1   

Iraq 1     1   

Middle East Airlines 1 1       

Canada 1 1       

Uganda 2 1   1   

Saudi Arabia 1     1   

Turkish Airlines 2 2       

Iran 1 1       

Benin 1 1       

Nigeria 1     1   

Angola 1       1 

Rwanda 1 1       
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Annex 2.1: Communiqué of the meeting of the Agreement signatories of 23-24 August 2019.  

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a diplomatic source on 11 September 2019.  
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Annex 2.2: Communiqué of the Tripartite AU-UN-EU mission to the Central African  

Republic (6 October 2019). 

                                                                                                                                                    

Document obtained by the Panel from a diplomatic source on 8 October 2019. 
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Annex 2.3: Memorandum of PK5 self-defence groups submitted to ECCAS representative on 

5 September 2019. 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a diplomatic source on 16 October 2019. 
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Annex 2.4: Recommendations of the fourth session of Comité Executif de Suivi (CES) issued 

on 2 August 2019. 

Document obtained by the Panel from a diplomatic source on 14 August 2019.  
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Annex 2.5: MPC communiqué signed by its leader Mahamat Al-Khatim on 7 October 2019.  

 

Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative on 8 July 2019 
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Annex 2.6: The creation of local military commander positions as a management tool within 

MPC. 

 

During their meeting at Moyen-Sido on 5 August 2018  

(S/2018/1119 para 30-31), Mahamat Al-Khatim, Ali Darassa and 

Abdoulaye Hissène discussed the issue of the chronic insecurity 

in Nana-Gribizi and Ouham prefectures. Those prefectures were 

particularly subject to acts ofcriminality due to the activities of 

small groups of fighters, often foreigners, officially part of the 

MPC. During the Moyen-Sido meeting, the three leaders agreed 

to create FPRC military commander positions in MPC areas of 

control (therefore including in locations where a MPC local 

commander position already existed). Those positions were 

given to members of the uncontrolled groups operating in the 

area (including MPC members) with a view to giving them an 

official role and in the hopes that it would limit their movements 

on the axes.1 One year later, this system of FPRC commander 

positions in MPC zones was still in place,. 

For instance, in Kabo (Ouham prefecture), at the time of the 

Panel’s mission (6 September 2019), Ahmad Hajaj, the MPC 

zone commander (comzone) was working in cooperation with an 

individual named “Nahar” who was officially the FPRC local 

military commander. Nahar claimed he only recently joined 

FPRC and could not confirm to the Panel if he was in contact 

with the FPRC military leadership or who was his direct 

superior.2 Nahar is reportedly a Chadian national and a former 

member of the “Direction de la Documentation et de la Sécurité” 

under the regime of Hissène Habré (1982-1990).3 As of 1990, 

Nahar reportedly joined several armed groups, in particular in 

the Sudan, before joining the Séléka in 2012. He was described 

to the Panel as particularly violent toward civilians.4 His 

background is representative of that of many elements operating 

in the MPC area. The Panel notes that such individuals have no 

interest in the implementation of the Agreement, as they will be 

unable to obtain any position in CAR States security forces or 

administration. 

  

 

 1 Meeting with FPRC and MPC representatives, Kaga-Bandoro, 6 and 9 September 2019. 

 2 Meeting with Nahar, Kabo, 7 September 2019. 

 3 Meeting with armed group representative and confidential sources, Kaga-Bandoro and Kabo, 

5-9 September 2019. 

 4 Idem. 
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Annex 2.7: Letter addressed to the AU, ECCAS and MINUSCA signed by Mahamat Al  

Khatim on 2 September 2019.  

 

Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative on 5 September 2019. 
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Annex 2.8: Copy of Abdoulaye Miskine’s service passport from the Republic of Congo  

issued on 22 January 2019. 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a confidential source on 8 October 2019. 
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Annex 2.9: FDPC press communiqué signed by Abdoulaye Miskine at Am Dafok (Vakaga 

prefecture) on 30 July 2019. 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative on 31 July 2019. 
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Annex 2.10: Mustapha Saboune, a politician in search of relevance. 

 

Mustapha Saboune is as dual national from the Central African 

Republic and Canada; he currently lives between Chad and 

Canada. He was the political coordinator of the Séléka and the 

FPRC before participating in the creation of the Siriri coalition and 

becoming its president (see below document). He described the 

Siriri coalition to the Panel as a political party gathering CAR 

nationals from the diaspora.5 According to Mustapha Saboune, his 

party calls for the establishment of a Government of transition.  

Despite his claim that Siriri is solely a political party, Saboune has 

made several attempts to establish a military presence on the 

ground, admitting that he had tried unsuccessfully to take control 

of the Siriri armed group, which used to operate in Mambéré-Kadéi 

prefecture from early 2018 until the beginning of 2019 

(S/2018/1119, paras. 94-104).6 During the “Khartoum peace talks” 

(S/2018/1119, paras 11-12), Mustapha Sabone also tried to 

participate in the negotiations as representative of one the armed 

groups, but failed and participated only as a civil society 

representative.7 

Over the course of 2019, a representative of Mustapha Saboune 

also attempted to recruit fighters in the Nana-Gribizi and Ouham 

prefectures. Since May 2019, the Panel collected several testimonies 

of MPC and FPRC fighters based in the Ouham and the Nana Gribizi 

prefectures, including Ahmat Bahar (S/2018/1119 para 81-83) 

stating that an individual named Ahmat Makin, presenting himself 

as a representative of Mustapha Saboune, had been trying to recruit 

fighters for Siriri.8 

Ahmat Makin is an ex-Séléka fighter with ties to the MPC 

leadership. He was the deputy chief of the presidential guard under 

Michel Djotodia’s presidency. He allegedly received 11 million 

FCFA (about $18,500) from Mustapha Sabone to start his 

recruitment campaign.9 According to the testimonies collected by the 

Panel, Sabone’s reputation as a leader who poorly pays his troops is 

altering his capacity to recruit. 

On 15 February, Mustapha Saboune published a communiqué 

stating that sanctioned individual Abdoulaye Hissene had joined 

Siriri ranks as commissioner-general for defence (see document  

 
 

 5 Meeting with Mustapha Saboune, Ndjamena, 14 October 2019. 

 6 Idem. 

 7 Meeting with armed group representatives, Bangui, 20 April 2019. 

 8 Meeting with FPRC and MPC representatives in Bangui, Kaga-Bandoro, Kabo, September 

2019. 

 9 Meeting with FPRC and MPC representatives, Kaga-Bandoro, 5-9 September 2019 
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below). A few days later, Abdoulaye Hissène denied this 

appointment (see document below). Saboune reportedly offered a 

significant amount of money to Abdoulaye Hissene in exchange 

for joining the Siriri coalition.10 Hissène reportedly accepted the 

money without delivering on his engagement.  

Mustapha Saboune denied any involvement of Siriri in military 

activities but acknowledged his attempt to recruit Abdoulaye 

Hissène, while not confirming any transfer of funds to Hissène.11 

  

 

 10 Meeting with an FPRC member, Bangui, 11 September 2019. 

 11 Meeting with Mustapha Saboune, Ndjamena, 14 October 2019.  
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Document 1: Resolution of the Siriri coalition appointing Abdoulaye Hissène, and signed by  

Mustapha Saboune as President on 15 February 2019. 

Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative on 16 February 2019. 
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Document 2: Communiqué of Abdoulaye Hissène signed on 18 February 2019 (the document  

mistakenly indicates 18 April 2019 as date of signature). 

Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative on 30 October 2019. 
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Annex 2.11: Details on the content of the training given to FACA and ISF instructors, and on  

the training to be received by ex-combatants. 

 

• FACA instructors’ training content:  

- Instruction on combat shooting (ISTC)(14 hours) 

- Pedagogics (11 hours) 

- Instruction on combat (10 hours) 

- Close operational intervention techniques (TIOR) (10 hours) 

- International law and prevention of sexual violence (8 hours) 

- First aid (5 hours) 

- Topography (5 hours) 

- Civic education (3 hours) 

- Health (2 hours) 

- TOTAL: 68 hours 

 

• Police and Gendarmes instructors’ training content: 

- Judicial police (26 hours) 

- Instruction on combat shooting (ISTC)(10 hours) 

- International law and prevention of sexual violence (8 hours) 

- First aid (5 hours) 

- Instruction on combat (4 hours) 

- Pedagogics (4 hours) 

- Civic education (3 hours) 

- Topography (4 hours) 

- Health (2 hours) 

- Close operational intervention techniques (TIOR) (2 hours) 

- TOTAL: 68 hours 

 

Source: confidential document received from confidential source on 24 October 2019 

• On the training content of the ex-combatants in the USMS: see articles 12-15 of the  

Decree Nr. 19.097 concerning the legal regime applicable to the USMS. 
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Annex 2.12: Communiqués of MPC and 3R leaders who resigned from their positions as  

special advisers to the Prime Minister.  

 

Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative on 28 August  

2019. 

 

 

 

      MOUVEMENT PATRIOTIQUE POUR LA CENTRAFRIQUE 

                                                 

  M P C 
 

 

PAIX                                  UNITE                          LIBERTE  

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Le Général  ALKATIM MAHAMAT, Conseiller Militaire en Charge  

des Unités  Spéciales  Mixtes de Sécurité (USMS)  pour  la  zone 

Centre Nord. 

                                                        A 

La Très Haute Attention du Président de la République, Chef de 

l’Etat. 

Objet : Lettre de démission  de mes fonctions de Conseiller Spécial 

en charge  des Unités  Spéciales  Mixtes de Sécurité (USMS)  pour  

la  zone Centre  Nord. 

 

   Excellence Monsieur le Président de la République, Chef de 

l’Etat ; 

Qu’il me soit permis de venir très respectueusement par la présente  

vous adresser ma démission  de mes  fonctions  Conseiller Militaire 

en Charge  des Unités  Spéciales  Mixtes de Sécurité (USMS) pour la 

zone Centre  Nord pour les Motifs    ci-après :       

- Fonctions jugées fictives et non effectives sur le plan de droit. 

- Manque de prise en charge financière subséquente. 

- Absence de moyen de déplacement en vue de la facilitation de 

fonction sur le terrain.     

- Absence d’exercice d’une bonne collaboration d’où risque de 

crise de confiance.  

- Mes représentants nommés dans les fonctions 

gouvernementales ne sont pas bien traités par rapport à leurs 

fonctions.   
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Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative on  

5 September 2019 
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Annex 2.13: Ali Darrassa using the USMS to legitimize UPC’s expansion and trafficking  

activities. 

 

As described in the Panel’s previous report (S/2019/608, para. 24), Ali 

Darassa has continued to take advantage of the ambiguity of the terms 

of reference regarding his appointment as special adviser to the Prime 

Minister for the USMS, and he has used his position to legitimate 

UPC’s military operations in Basse-Kotto prefecture as well as his 

expansionist activities in Haut-Mbomou prefecture.  

In two communiqués published on 30 September and 28 October, Ali 

Darassa justified the deployment of his fighters in Bambouti (Haut-

Mbomou Prefecture) next to the border between CAR and South 

Sudan (see document below). Ali Darassa declared his actions as 

being part of the USMS mandate, citing the protection of populations 

and the organization of the upcoming transhumance. Ali Darassa sees 

the operationalization of the USMS in Bambari as a means to 

legitimate the official return of his troops to the Ouaka capital after 

his ousting by MINUSCA.12 

UPC sources informed the Panel that given the group’s continued 

mistrust towards the Government – inter alia because of the 

Presidential Guards recruits sent for training to Angola, the FACA 

deployment and delays in USMS operationalisation– UPC has 

continued to purchase weaponry through connections in Sudan and 

South Sudan (see also S/2019/608, annex 4.7).13 Amongst others, a 

UPC arms trafficker informed the Panel that the armed group had 

reportedly purchased 120 AK-type assault rifles and 500 rocket-

propelled grenade launchers, which arrived in Am Dafok in late 

August and were subsequently transported to Ndélé, Bria and Bokolbo 

mid-September.14 

  

 

 12 Meeting with an FPRC member, Bangui, 11 September 2019. 

 13 Meeting with Mustapha Saboune, Ndjamena, 14 October 2019.  

 14 Idem. 
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Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group member on 29  

October 2019. 
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Annex 2.14: Letter addressed to President Touadera and signed on 10 October 2019 by local 

authorities supporting the official nomination of Abbas Sidiki as USMS chief. 

 

On 10 October 2019, a letter signed the mayor of Koui (Ouham Prefecture) and Niem Yelewa 

(Nana-Mambéré Prefecture) supported the official nomination of Abbas Sidiki as USMS chief 

in their localities. 

Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative on 20 October 2019. 
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Annex 2.15: FUDN memorandum of 30 September 2019. 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a member of FUDN on 19 October 2019.  
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Annex 2.16: Communiqués of 28 May and 22 July 2019 presenting FUDN requests.  

  

Documents obtained by the Panel from a FUDN member on 12 August 2019. 
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Annex 2.17: Communiqué of FUDN meeting in Paris with participation of former speaker of 

Parliament Karim Meckassoua (23 September 2019). 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a member of FUDN on 24 September 2019.  
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Annex 2.18: FUDN communiqué of 13 October 2019 addressing the issue of a Government  

of transition. 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a member of FUDN on 19 October 2019. 

 

 



 
S/2019/930 

 

101/234 19-19745 

 

 

Annex 2.19: Excerpts of President Touadera’s speeches mentioning FUDN in Berbérati and 

Lyon respectively on 4 and 12 October 2019. 

  

Excerpts from President Touadera’s speech mentioning FUDN in Berbérati on 4 October  

2019. 

Document obtained by the Panel from Government source on 5 October 2019. 
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Excerpt from President Touadera’s speech mentioning FUDN in Lyon on 12 October 2019. 

Document obtained by the Panel from a Government source on 13 October 2019. 
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Annex 2.20: KNK letter to the CAR Minister of Transport and Civil Aviation sent on 14 June 

2019. 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a KNK leader on 10 September 2019. 
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Annex 3.1: Chronology of the fighting in Vakaga prefecture.  

 

Based on confidential reports, from 10 July to 4 November 2019 . 

-  On 10 July, in Am Dafok, a trader from Birao affiliated to 

MLCJ tried to transport hunting ammunition from Am Dafok to 

Birao but his cargo was confiscated by FPRC elements at the Am 

Dafok checkpoint. Later, on 13 July 2019, two individuals who 

asked for the return of the ammunition in Am Dafok were 

illegally arrested by FPRC armed elements.  

-  On 14 July, MLCJ armed elements from Birao and Terfel (on 

the Am Dafok-Birao axis) mobilized in large numbers carrying 

weapons and went to Am Dafok to demand the release of the two 

individuals. A clash between the MLCJ elements and FPRC 

erupted. Four FPRC elements died during the clash. In 

retaliation, FPRC executed the two detained individuals.   

-  On 21 July, an MLCJ element name Moktar tried to kill Sami 

Fadoul, an FPRC leader, in the central market of Birao. This 

incident precipitated the decision by FPRC to send 

reinforcements to Birao.  

- On 30 July, a mediation committee (or Edgna) was constituted 

to investigate the events in Am Dafok. Meanwhile, about 200 

FPRC armed elements under the command of “General” Kanton 

from Ndele and Sikkikede arrived in Birao officially to support 

the mediation but in fact their mission was to re-enforce the 

FPRC positions. 

- On 4 August, the Edgna concluded the mediation with the 

following findings and resolutions; 

- The MLCJ attack against the FPRC in Am Dafok was 

the root cause of the clash. 

- MLCJ must commit to the payment of a “Diya” 

(compensation) of FCFA nine million (around $15,000) 

to the families of the four FPRC elements who were 

killed by their armed elements in Am Dafok. 

- FPRC must commit to also paying “Diya” of FCFA 

four million FCFA ($6,800) to the families of the two 

prisoners they executed. 

- On 5 August, the Kara community with the support of the other 

communities in Birao raised FCFA four million ($6,800), as 

partial payment for the Diya. FCFA three million ($5,100) was 
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agreed on as payment to support the departure of the FPRC 

elements who had come as reinforcement in Birao. 

- On 10 August, during a meeting with MINUSCA and local 

authorities, members of the Kara community requested the FPRC 

elements from Ndele who had arrived for reinforcement, to leave 

Birao. ‘General’ Kanton indicated that his troops’ presence in 

Birao was purely for the protection of the Rounga community of 

Birao, which he claimed was his birthplace. Several meetings 

were held to request that he and his elements leave Birao. He 

indicated that he would only leave Birao on instruction from his 

superiors.   

- On 15 August, 76 cattle were stolen and two shops belonging 

to the Rounga and Haoussa merchants were looted. At the request 

of some merchants, “general” Kanton started to guard the market 

with his armed elements. 

- On the night of 28-29 August, the son of the Sultan-Mayor of 

Birao, on his way back from a wedding ceremony, opted to pass 

through the market guarded by FPRC elements. A confrontation 

ensued between the Sultan-Mayor’s son and FPRC elements. 

Allegedly the Sultan’s son stabbed one FPRC element before 

being shot in the stomach. He was rushed to the local hospital 

where he died.  

- In the morning of 1 September, MLCJ armed elements backed 

by the Kara youth attacked the residence of “general” Kanton 

where he was staying with his FPRC elements. Several deaths 

were recorded, including “general” Kanton. The total number of 

casualties was as follows: 23 FPRC elements and eight MLCJ 

elements. Fighting and looting started again on 2 September 

before the MLCJ took total control of Birao. 

- On 10 September, around 50 PRNC fighters reportedly entered 

Birao and were hosted by the Sultan and Kara community leaders.  

- On 14 September, FPRC reinforcements, mainly from 

Sikkikede and Ndele, attacked MLCJ positions in Birao. A total 

of 37 FPRC elements and 11 MLCJ elements were reportedly 

killed. Birao remained under the control of MLCJ.   

- On 25 September 2019, the first batch of 18 FACA soldiers 

were deployed to Birao with MINUSCA support. 

- On 4 October, Kara youth, supported by MLCJ and PRNC 

elements, attacked FPRC at Tissi Fongoro (north of Birao). 

Uncertainty around which group controlled Tissi remained until 

confirmation was received that FPRC controlled the town. 
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- On 14 October, MLCJ and PRNC armed elements supported by 

Kara youth launched an attack and subsequently captured Am 

Dafok. 

- On 14 October, 14 ex-elements of the FPRC were evacuated by 

MINUSCA from Birao to Bria. A warrant was issued by the CAR 

authorities to arrest eight of those FPRC elements who had 

participated in the Birao fighting. 

- On 17 October, a delegation from Bangui visited Birao with a 

clear message to the Sultan-Mayor to cease hate speech and 

threats to attack MINUSCA and the IDP Camp.  The delegates 

included AU Ambassador Matias Matondo, ECCAS 

representative Adolf Nahayo, Minister of Information and  

Justice Flavien Mbata, and the Minister of Public Security, 

General Henri Wanze-Linguissara. The delegation stated that the 

events in Birao constituted a violation of the Peace Agreement. 

- On 21 October, youth and women from the IDP site protested 

near the MINUSCA camp entrance to present their grievances, 

including on the poor living conditions in the site. They also 

requested to be evacuated or relocated from Birao to Bangui,  

Bria or Ndélé because they did not feel secure in Birao due to 

regular threats from armed elements. Members of the Bornou, 

Haoussa and Rounga ethnic groups complained about threats by 

the Kara youths, in particular when they attempted to harvest 

groundnuts or look for food in their fields. Some IDPs also 

expressed concerns over the attitude of the Sultan-Mayor, 

deemed as accomplice of armed elements threatening them. 

 

  



S/2019/930 
 

 

19-19745 108/234 

 

 

Annex 3.2: Map of the Vakaga prefecture.  
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Annex 3.3:  Communiqués of MLCJ and FPRC regarding the fighting in Birao on 1-2September 

2019.  

 

Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative on 4 September  

2019. 
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Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative on 16 October 2019. 
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Annex 3.4: Kara/MLCJ fighters wearing yellow materials.  

 

Pictures obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative on 3 September 2019 
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Annex 3.5:  Ethnicity and armed groups in Vakaga prefecture. 

 

Ethnic alliances: a tool for the armed groups 

The composition of the armed groups in Vakaga prefecture has 

an ethnic dimension: MLCJ mainly comprises members of the 

Kara ethnic group; RPRC/PNRC is exclusively led by, and 

largely composed of Goula, and although the FPRC has more 

diversity amongst its rank and file, its leadership remains largely 

Rounga.  

Armed group leaders are not only considered as military leaders 

but also leaders within their ethnic group. To expand their areas 

of influence, leaders of armed groups have also, at times, sealed 

alliances with other ethnic groups. For instance, Abdoulaye 

Hissène married a daughter of the Sultan-Mayor of Birao, 

himself a Kara; and ‘general’ Kanton, who died in the fighting 

in Birao on 2 September (see chronology in annex 3.1), had been 

married to a sister of Gilbert Toumou Deya,15 the MLCJ 

president and a pre-eminent member of the Kara community.  

‘Edgna’ investigations 

After the clash in Am Dafok on 14 July 2019 (see chronology in 

annex 3.1), a mission composed of community leaders was 

appointed to investigate the incident. The mission’s role was to 

determine the responsibilities and facilitate negotiations for 

compensation in order to solve the problem. This “committee of 

mediation” is referred to traditionally as an “Edgna”. The 

delegation was composed of representatives from all ethnic 

groups from Vakaga prefecture.  

As stated in their mission reports (see below), the Edgna ruled 

that the Am Dafok clash was initiated by the MLCJ whose 

elements had “attacked unarmed FPRC elements” (see document 

below).16 On 6 August, the committee officially settled the 

compensation as follows: FCFA nine million (around $15,000 

dollars) would be given to the FPRC by way of compensation 

for the MLCJ attack. In parallel, Nourredine Adam personally 

agreed to send FCFA four million  (around $6,800) to the 

families of the two members of the Kara community who were 

killed in Am Dafok in retaliation for the initial MLCJ attack.17 

The first payment to the FPRC was made with a contribution  

 

 

 15 Meetings with confidential sources, Birao, 3-6 October 2019. 

 16 Idem. 

 17 Meetings with confidential sources, Birao 3-6 October 2019. 
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from all Birao merchants and community representatives keen to 

avoid further tensions.18  

However, according to some armed group representatives, the 

Edgna settlement of 6 August only resolved the issue between 

the communities, but not between the armed groups themselves. 

Tensions remained between MLCJ and FPRC even prior to the 

killing of the son of the Sultan on 29 August. Individuals from 

both armed groups spoke to the Panel of the potential for the 

escalation of tensions between MLCJ and FPRC  ahead of the 

events of 1 September. 

The FPRC and the Rounga community 

As described in the main body of this report, the FPRC’s grip on 

Vakaga prefecture was contested by other armed groups. The 

growing presence of members of the Rounga community was 

viewed with suspicion by the MLCJ and Kara leaders who 

considered themselves as the rightful owners of the land in Birao 

and Am Dafok. FPRC leaders were accused of favouring 

Rounga merchants and their partners.19 

After the Am Dafok clash on 14 July and the 1 September attack 

on Birao (see chronology in annex 3.1), leaders from the Rounga 

community, including the Mayor of Sikkikede (Vakaga 

prefecture), a Rounga stronghold, called for strong actions 

against the MLCJ. In late July, as a result, the FPRC sent around 

100 fighters to Birao, officially to support the mediation or 

Edgna. After the departure of the Edgna delegation in mid-

August, 42 FPRC elements remained with Adam Kanton 

claiming to be waiting for the end of the rainy season.20 

Subsequent events confirmed the capacity of community leaders 

to challenge the authority of armed group leaders and, at times, 

pressure them.21 The failed attempt to oust the MLCJ/PRNC 

from Birao on 14 September was primarily motivated by 

Abdoulaye Hissène’s wish to respond to the calls to avenge the 

death of Adam Kanton and thereby preserve his status within the 

Rounga community. His preferred strategy was initially to wait 

till the end of the rainy season to carry out any action.22 

  

 

 18 Meeting with a Birao-based merchant, Bangui, 10 September 2019. 

 19 Meetings with leaders of the Kara community, Birao, 4 October 2019.  

 20 Confidential report, 25 August 2019; meeting with confidential source, Birao, 5 October 

2019. 

 21 Meeting with an FPRC representative, Bangui, 12 September 2019. 

 22 Idem. 
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Report of the Egan mediation following 14 July 2019 events in Am Dafok. 

Documents obtained by the Panel from a community representative in Birao on 10 October  

2019 
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Annex 3.6: “Procés Verbal” of the Kara-Goula meeting published on 30 August 2019.  

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a confidential source on 4 October 2019. 
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Annex 3.7: The role of the Sultan-Mayor in the fighting in Vakaga prefecture. 

 

Leaders of the Kara community were directly involved in the 

MLCJ’s actions in Vakaga prefecture. However, the Sultan of 

Vakaga, himself a Kara, was sidelined for most of the 

preparation period and during the mobilization of the 

community to support MLCJ’s efforts.23 Military leaders from 

the Kara community told the Panel that they did not recognize 

the authority of the Sultan anymore and no longer trusted him.24 

The Sultan’s role as a Kara community leader was first contested 

due to frustration within the community over his accumulation 

of mandates. In particular, the Sultan was named Mayor of Birao 

by the Government after the Bangui Forum in 2015, giving him 

control over all public funds allocated to the Vakaga 

prefecture.25 

Frustrations over the Sultan were further exacerbated by his 

cooperation with FPRC and Nourredine Adam. The Sultan has 

had a long history of alliances with the armed groups in Vakaga 

prefecture, largely economically motivated, as he has received 

a share of the illegal taxes collected by the FPRC.26 The Sultan 

also regularly received money from Nourredine Adam who, for 

instance, reportedly paid for his trip to Khartoum for medical 

treatment in early 2019.27 After the death of his son on 28 August 

2019 (see chronology in annex 3.1), the Sultan also publicly 

opposed to any retaliation against FPRC.28 

The launch of the 1 September 2019 attack on Birao (see 

chronology in annex 3.1) and the overwhelming mobilisation 

within the Kara community against the FPRC presence forced 

the Sultan to readjust his position and follow the hardliners 

within the Kara. If not, he would have run the risk of losing his 

legitimacy as a representative of the Kara community.  

In an audio file which the Panel obtained on 11 September, one 

can hear the Sultan-Mayor celebrating the Kara/MLCJ victory 

over FPRC. He also overstated his involvement in the fight (see 

transcript below). Talking to an unidentified colonel, the Sultan 

went as far as portraying himself as a general having 

commanded military operations. 

  

 

 23 Meeting with leaders of the Kara community, Birao, 4 October 2019.  

 24 Idem. 

 25 Meeting with community leaders, Birao, 8 October 2019.  

 26 Meeting with confidential source, Birao, 6 October 2019.  

 27 Idem. 

 28 Confidential report, 30 August 2019.  
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During a meeting with the Panel on 5 October, the Sultan called 

for the departure from Birao of the Rounga, the Haoussa and all 

the communities described as working for the FPRC. 

Transcript below is translated from Arabic to English of an audio 

recorded declaration made by the Sultan during a phone 

conversation, reportedly dated 2 September 2019. The voice of 

the Sultan-Mayor on the audio was recognized by a wide variety 

of individuals. The Panel obtained the audio recording from 

confidential sources on 11 September 2019. The file is archived 

at the United Nations. 

“Thanks Colonel. We will. We are heroes, Colonel. We struck 

hard and by surprise. We collected three pick-up trucks and all 

their weapons including 12/7, bazooka and other things. We 

killed their bosses. General Adam Kanton and ‘BD’ also. The 

others are in disarray. Far in the bush. All that is to say about 

us is false. Right now I am in Birao center with all my men. We 

are ready to fight them. Don’t worry Colonel. Thank you, thank 

you” 
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Annex 3.8: Information on Nourd Gregaza. 

 

 Nourd Gregaza, a figurehead and political shield 

Nourd Gregaza is unknown on the CAR political and/or military 

scene. Several implausible theories have circulated about his 

identity or professional background; some also questioned his 

very existence.29 In spite of the Panel’s extensive (and ongoing) 

investigations thereon, uncertainty remains on a number of 

issues. 

Nourd Gregaza has expressed himself through communiqués, 

most of them being aggressive toward President Touadéra. In his 

communiqués, he claimed to know the President personally, and 

threatened to overthrow his regime.30 

On 11 September and 14 October, the Panel had two phone 

conversations with an individual claiming to be Nourd Gregaza, 

the PRNC leader. The individual declared his intention to be a 

candidate for the 2020 presidential election but seemed to lack 

knowledge of the legal requirements to do so (in particular the 

rule on residency in the country). He also displayed limited 

knowledge of the situation on the ground. He said he lived in 

France and maintained a residence in Bangui despite having 

admitted that he had not been in CAR for some time. Nourd 

Gregaza informed the Panel of his family ties with Djoubaye 

Abazene, the Minister of Transport and Civil Aviation, to whom 

he referred as his uncle. 

During the same conversation, the individual refused to give 

details on his current activities and claimed to be “well known 

and very influential in CAR”. The Panel could not find any 

evidence corroborating this statement. 

The Panel also communicated with Nourd Gregaza through the 

social media account of “Sarah Gregaza”, whom the Panel 

identified as being linked to another social media account 

opened by “Sarah Mehard”. During exchanges with the Panel, 

she presented herself as a French citizen and Nourd Gregaza’s 

wife. She indicated that she was the PRNC’s Secretary-General 

and was regularly travelling to Bangui (unlike her husband). 

In Bangui and Birao, representatives of the Goula community 

told the Panel that Nourd or Nourredine Gregaza was the son of 

a Goula gendarme from Bria and that his mother belonged to the 
 

 29 https://letsunami.net/index.php/2019/06/04/ndele-qui-est-derriere-la-rebellion-prnc-de-nourd-gregaza/ 

[accessed on 25 October 2019. 

 30 https://corbeaunews-centrafrique.com/centrafrique-veritable-declaration-de-guerre-de-monsieur-nourd-

gregaza-president-du-prnc-au-president-touadera/ [accessed on 25 October 2019]. 

https://letsunami.net/index.php/2019/06/04/ndele-qui-est-derriere-la-rebellion-prnc-de-nourd-gregaza/
https://letsunami.net/index.php/2019/06/04/ndele-qui-est-derriere-la-rebellion-prnc-de-nourd-gregaza/
https://corbeaunews-centrafrique.com/centrafrique-veritable-declaration-de-guerre-de-monsieur-nourd-gregaza-president-du-prnc-au-president-touadera/
https://corbeaunews-centrafrique.com/centrafrique-veritable-declaration-de-guerre-de-monsieur-nourd-gregaza-president-du-prnc-au-president-touadera/
https://corbeaunews-centrafrique.com/centrafrique-veritable-declaration-de-guerre-de-monsieur-nourd-gregaza-president-du-prnc-au-president-touadera/
https://corbeaunews-centrafrique.com/centrafrique-veritable-declaration-de-guerre-de-monsieur-nourd-gregaza-president-du-prnc-au-president-touadera/
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Banda ethnic group.31 They stated that Nourd Gregaza had left 

CAR to live in France in the mid-1990s, where he was reportedly 

currently incarcerated for murder. On 25 September 2019, 

representatives of the French authorities confirmed to the Panel 

that an individual named Nourd Gregaza was currently detained 

for murder in France.  

The Panel continues to investigate the identity, activities, 

connections and financial means of Nourd Gregaza.  

  

 

 31 Meetings with representatives of the Goula community, Bangui and Birao, 25 August and 

8 October 2019. 
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Annex 3.9: Communiqué of 26 September 2019 signed by Zakaria Damane.  

 

The Panel notes that Zakaria Damane presents himself as “General”, a title that he only  

possesses as a member of the RPRC. The Panel also notes that the communiqué referred to a  

zone controlled by PNRC.   

Document obtained by the Panel from an armed group representative 27 September 2019. 
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Annex 3.10: Further information on FPRC’s preparation for retaliation. 

 

 FPRC, looking for reinforcements 

To reinforce its military capabilities, FPRC has endeavoured to 

make alliances, in particular with MPC. On 15 September, along 

with 140 armed fighters, MPC leader Mahamat Al-Khatim tried 

to reach Ndélé but was stopped by MINUSCA in Bamingui 

(Bamingui-Bangoran prefecture).32 The purpose of his visit was 

to meet with Abdoulaye Hissène and finalize the terms of their 

cooperation with a view to undertaking future actions in the 

Birao area.33 MPC and FPRC members based in the Kaga 

Bandoro area also collected funds to support a military 

operation.34 As the MPC is mainly composed of members of the 

Salamat ethnic group who are present in both Chad and the 

Sudan, this group’s involvement would heighten the risk of 

spreading the conflict beyond CAR border.  

Saleh Zabadi, a Kaga-Bandoro-based “general”, was among the 

FPRC military leaders who reportedly expressed their readiness 

to participate in the offensive on Birao.35 Saleh Zabadi is from 

the Misseriya ethnic group, mostly present in the Sudan and 

Chad. The Panel notes that his involvement in the conflict in 

Vakaga could lead to the arrival of additional foreign fighters.  

After the attack against FPRC positions in Am Dafok on 14 

October, numerous Chadian identification papers were collected 

by the MLCJ/PRNC fighters from FPRC fighters. Copies of the 

documents were shared with the Panel and are archived at the 

United Nations. 

As it is common to find people with dual citizenship in border 

areas, these identification papers do not prove that the FPRC is 

mainly comprised of foreign fighters, as MLCJ/PRNC have 

claimed. However, it is clear that FPRC has the capacity to 

recruit fighters living in Chad, including members of the Rounga 

community who would be interested in carrying out acts of 

revenge following the fighting in Birao.36 

  

 

 32 Confidential report, 16 September 2019. 

 33 Meetings with armed group representatives, Kaga-Bandoro, 5-9 September 2019. 

 34 Meetings with confidential sources, Kaga-Bandoro and Mbrès, 5-9 September 2019.  

 35 Meetings with armed group representatives, Kaga-Bandoro, 5-9 September 2019. 

 36 Meeting with Rounga community leader, Bangui, 12 September 2019. 
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Annex 3.11: Burned and looted houses in Birao. 

 

Pictures taken by the Panel in Birao on 3-5 October 2019.  
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Annex 3.12: Further information on the humanitarian situation in Birao. 

The heavy rains in September and October 2019 worsened the living conditions on the IDP 

sites. Poor living conditions combined with intercommunal tensions and reports of weapons 

circulating within the sites created a feeling of fear amongst residents of the displaced sites.4 

During a two-week period, UNHCR registered 72 protection incidents, predominantly gender-

based violence, but also violations of physical integrity and freedom of movement.5 Children 

were particularly vulnerable and a number of children associated with armed groups were 

registered.6 On 21 October, a group of displaced youth protested at the MINUSCA site against 

a perceived lack of security on the site and requesting relocation (see photos below). This group 

claimed that Bornou, Haoussa and Rounga civilians faced constant threats from Kara youth who 

prevented them from reaching their farms.7 

IDPs protesting on 21 October 2019 asking to be relocated for fear of violence on the site. 

Pictures obtained by the Panel from a confidential source on 22 October 2019.  
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Annex 3.13: Information on the lucrative business of hunting ammunition. 

 

Most of the hunting ammunition trafficked by traders in Birao come from the Sudan (see picture 

nr. 1 below, with “Taital – Sudan”).37 The importation of hunting ammunition is a very lucrative 

business. While one box with 240 rounds of hunting ammunition reportedly costs FCFA 150, 

000 ($250) when purchased in Sudan, the same box is reportedly worth FCFA 180,000 ($307) 

in the CAR. Birao merchants resell the ammunition mostly in Bria.38
 

  

 

 37 Meetings with merchants and confidential sources, Birao, August and October 2019.  

 38 Idem. 
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Annex 3.14: Pictures of the weapons, ammunition and motorcycles reportedly seized  

by the FPRC from the MLCJ in Am Dafok. 

 

Pictures obtained from confidential source on 18 July 2019. 
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Annex 3.15: FPRC communications on the trafficking of weapons and (hunting) 

ammunition. 

 

Press statement of 17 July 2019 of Nourredine Adam, received from a confidential source on  

18 July 2019. 
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Decision of 18 July 2019 of “general” Ali Ousta, received from a confidential source on 19  

July 2019.  
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Annex 3.16: MLCJ’s acquisition of military equipment and FPRC’s loss of military 

material and vehicles 

 

Map of trafficking routes and trafficking hubs of MLCJ, RPRC, MLCJ and Kara traffickers 

 

 

Pictures of FPRC weaponry seized by MINUSCA peacekeepers in Birao in early September  

2019, obtained by the Panel from a confidential source on 5 October 2019. 
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Pictures of FPRC fighters in Birao on 1 September 2019 (the FPRC fighter in the first picture 

carries ammunition and a machine gun similar to the one seized by MINUSCA peacekeepers), 

received from confidential source on 3 September 2019. 

Pictures of an FPRC pick-up vehicle with mounted twin-barreled anti-aircraft canon, before 

and after the attack in Am Dafok on 14 October 2019, received from confidential sources on 5 

and 22 October 2019. 

 

Abdoulaye Miskine is pictured in the photo on the left above (in the middle, in front of the 

mounted pick-up) which was reportedly taken in the village Garada, Vakaga prefecture, where 

Miskine was reportedly “on mission” to provide food to the local population. The vehicle, 

however, belonged to the FPRC at that time; it was just on loan to Miskine.39  

 

 39 Meeting with confidential sources, Birao, 5 October 2019.  
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Annex 3.17: Additional information on UPC arms trafficking in cooperation with 

FPRC leaders. 

 

The UPC reportedly continued to acquire weapons and ammunition from and/or through 

Sudanese territory, with the complicity of elements from the Sudanese Rapid Support Force 

(RSF) (see also S/2019/608, para. 49, 52 and 53). One UPC representative and trafficker 

informed the Panel of a transaction that was concluded with the RSF elements in August 2019. 

In mid-September 2019, the weaponry (500 rocket-propelled grenade launchers and 500 AK-

type assault rifles), was reportedly transported to Am Dafok, where “general” Bashar Fadoul 

agreed to temporarily store it, before being brought to Bokolbo via Birao and Bria. The 

trafficker declared that UPC has continued to rearm, as the armed group does not trust the 

Government and President, - amongst others because of the Government’s  active recruitment 

and training of the Presidential guard.40 The Panel could not confirm the presence of the 

weaponry in Bokolbo.  

 

  

 

 40 Meeting with UPC trafficker and UPC fighters, Alindao and Bangui, September-October 2019.  
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Annex 3.18: Arms trafficking by FPRC and Abdoulaye Miskine. 

 

Picture of Abdoulaye Miskine and Bashar Fadoul in Am Dafok, prior to the Am Dafok attack, 

received from confidential source on 25 October 2019. 

 

 

Pictures and screenshots of films of Martin Koumtamadji, alias Abdoulaye Miskine, and well-

armed individuals around him, obtained from confidential sources on 21 June and 29 October 

2019. The elements in the first picture reportedly belong to the close guard regiment of Miskine. 

The Panel could not, however, confirm this information, and it remains unclear which elements 

in the photos belong to FPRC, and which ones may have been recruited by Miskine himself.  
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Picture of a vehicle reportedly purchased by Abdoulaye Miskine in July and August 2019, 

obtained from confidential sources on 2 and 22 August 2019. 
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Annex 3.19: Map showing the Kaga-Bandoro-Batangafo-Kabo triangle. 
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Maps of the checkpoints on the Ouandago-Batangafo-Kabo-Sido axis and on the Kabo-

Ouandago axis 
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Map of Kaga-Bandoro and axes leading out of Kaga-Bandoro  
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Annex 3.20: Receipts provided by UPC to economic operators in the Bambari area in 

return for the payment of taxes. 

Documents obtained by the Panel from a confidential source on 5 October 

2019. 
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Annex 3.21: Map of mining sites in the Mbrès area (Nana-Gribizi prefecture). 
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Annex 3.22: CV of Abdel Rahim Mahamat Kidessi, available on his Linkedin  

profile. 

 

Available at https://www.linkedin.com/in/abdel-rahim-mahamat-

b0495190/  

[accessed on 29 October 2019] 

 

  

https://www.linkedin.com/in/abdel-rahim-mahamat-b0495190/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/abdel-rahim-mahamat-b0495190/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/abdel-rahim-mahamat-b0495190/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/abdel-rahim-mahamat-b0495190/
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Annex 3.23: Evidence of Aimé Moubamou’s business connections with 

Abdoulaye Hissène. 

 

Evidence of the presence of Aimé Moubamou and Abdoulaye Hissène 

in Nairobi, Kenya (September 2014). At that time, Abdoulaye Hissène 

was attempting to sell undeclared gold.41 

Documents seized at Abdoulaye Hissène’s house in Bangui on 16 

August 2016 and obtained by the Panel on 18 October 2016. 

 

Below evidence of Aimé Moubamou and Abdoulaye Hissène’s 

presence in Ndjaména, Chad (December 2014). At that time, 

Abdoulaye Hissène and his associates were negotiating with the 

company Mezcor in view of the sale of Chadian crude oil.42 

  
 

 41 See S/2017/639, paras. 44-49; S/2017/1023, paras. 42-43. See also The Sentry, Le règne de 

la terreur, un business florissant en République centrafricaine , Novembre 2018, p.22-27. 

 42 Idem. 
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Hotel bill of Aimé Moubamou. Documents seized at Abdoulaye 

Hissène’s house in Bangui on 16 August 2016 and obtained by the 

Panel on 18 October 2016. 

 

Below a picture of Abdoulaye Hissène in Ndaména, posted on Aimé Moubamou’s 

Facebook page on 21 December 2014. 

Available at 

https://www.facebook.com/photo.php?fbid=577617722370068&set=a.57752672904583

4&type=3&theater  [accessed on 1 October 2019]  

 

On 24 October 2019, the Panel was also shown by a confidential source pictures of 

Aimé Moubamou which were reportedly taken in Oyo (Rep. of Congo) and 

Switzerland. Both those travels were made in the context of Abdoulaye Hissène and 

his associates’ negotiations with the company Mezcor regarding the sale of Chadian 

crude oil. 

https://www.facebook.com/photo.php?fbid=577617722370068&set=a.577526729045834&type=3&theater
https://www.facebook.com/photo.php?fbid=577617722370068&set=a.577526729045834&type=3&theater
https://www.facebook.com/photo.php?fbid=577617722370068&set=a.577526729045834&type=3&theater
https://www.facebook.com/photo.php?fbid=577617722370068&set=a.577526729045834&type=3&theater
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Annex 4.1: Maps of the sub-prefectures of Basse-Kotto  
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Annex 4.2: Letter from anti-balaka leader ‘Colonel’ Ngyambe of 16 August 2019. 

 

Letter obtained by the Panel in Mobaye from confidential sources on 17 September 

2019. 
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Annex 4.3: Predatory acts against civilians by anti-balaka elements in Satema, Mingala, 

Zangba, Kembe and Alindao sub-prefectures. 

 

The self-defence/anti-balaka groups in Basse-Kotto prefecture have adopted a predatory 

attitude towards civilians across the prefecture; some of their activities are summarized 

below. 

Sexual violence, forced marriages and ritual killings prevalent in Basse-Kotto 

prefecture 

A large percentage of human rights violations committed by anti-balaka elements in 

Basse-Kotto were against women within their own communities and have been used as a 

method by anti-balaka leaders of maintaining control within their localized area of 

operations.43  

In Satema sub-prefecture, cases of forced marriage and sexual slavery were provided to 

the Panel dating from 2017 through September 2019.44 In Ngaba for example, in 2017 

women had been kidnapped by the anti-balaka including a military commander named 

Denis Azoundanga45 and had then been sold to other anti-balaka elements for as little as 

FCFA 3,000 (about $5). Denis Azoundanga has remained active in Ngaba and along the 

axis to Mobaye (see map below). More recently in June 2019, in Kembe, the anti-balaka 

leader ‘General’ Barthelmy Ngandji took two women hostage keeping them in a church 

asking for FCFA 30,000 ($51) for each woman.46 

Other cases in Satema involved ritualistic killings linked to the diamond mines. Anti-

balaka under Aime Ngbando who control the mines in Yangbassi believe that such 

killings yield greater profits for the mines. For example, a 14-year-old girl from 

Yangbassi was killed in a ritualistic way by the anti-balaka from Ngaba to support 

increased profits from the Yangbassi mines.47 

The kidnapping and illegal detention of 11 women and killing of a youth by anti-

balaka fighters led by colonel Ngyambe in Zangba sub-prefecture. 

During its mission to Zangba, the Panel was given details of an incident where an anti-

balaka group comprising around 10 men led by ‘colonel’ Bienvenue Ngyambe (Yeo 

island) and two other well-known local leaders ‘cdt majeur’ Francis (Yamboro island), 

and Grace à Dieu Bedambe (Kesse island) kidnapped 11 women in March 2019 on islands 

close to the DRC after killing a youth who had accompanied them.48 

Each of the local anti-balaka leaders along the river axis was in charge of an island close 

to their village of origin. Although the anti-balaka group moved back and forth, the 

majority of their relatives were displaced in DRC close to the islands.  During the dry 

season the DRC can be reached by foot from the islands where anti-balaka elements tax 

cross-border trade activities. 

  
 

 43 Panel’s mission to Basse-Kotto prefecture, 12-18 September 2019. 

 44 Idem. 

 45 Meeting with local authorities and confidential sources, Mobaye, 13-17 September 2019. 

 46 Idem. 

 47 Idem. 

 48 Panel’s mission to Basse-Kotto prefecture, 12-18 September 2019. 
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In March 2019, on the day of the event, 11 women carrying three babies, together 

withthree youth, attempted to cross into Kangbo, DRC via the island closest to Zangba to 

sell goods including palm oil. Anti-balaka elements were waiting to ambush them as they 

came through. After tying up the eldest youth who was around 18 years old, they used 

sticks to beat the women to move them into the four pirogues. Then they moved by 

pirogue to Kesse and then Yamboro. It was in Yamboro where the anti-balaka elements, 

under the overall command of Ngyambe, beat the 18-year-old until he passed out, 

repeatedly climbing on his head. When they thought he was dead they untied him and put 

him into the pirogue. At the moment they threw him into the river, he moved attempting 

to hold onto the pirogue. Under the instructions of Francis, an anti-balaka element took a 

machete to hit him as the youth then stood up in the shallow water, Francis instructed 

another element to shoot him. The anti-balaka element missed so Francis gave him his 

own weapon and instructed him to shoot him, which he did eventually killing him. His 

body was left in the water. 

After the killing of this youth, the anti-balaka divided the women into two groups with 

one staying with Francis and the other went to Yeo with Ngyambe. Grace then called by 

phone from Kesse, using the Congolese network, to say that UPC fighters were coming 

to attack. The anti-balaka elements then brought all the women together and locked them 

up before leaving, reportedly to fight with UPC. In the days which followed, the detainees 

were transferred between different islands and villages, including in DRC, in the same 

area close to Yeo. The wives of the anti-balaka also served as guards for periods when the 

anti-balaka were fighting and also threatened to kill the women themselves if their 

husbands were killed by UPC. During this period, some of the women were taken by anti-

balaka elements and raped. At another moment, Ngyambe took all of the women to one 

island and threatened to summon them one by one and that they would be executed.  

Eventually, after moving the women back and forth between islands and CAR and DRC, 

‘colonel’ Ngyambe said they would either be killed or their families would need to pay a 

ransom of FCFA 120,000 (about $200) for each woman. Gradually all of the women were 

released in April 2019, more than three weeks after being initially captured as their 

families found the payment for the ransom. In September 2019, some of the women were 

still repaying this ransom sum back to their families and other debtors.  
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Annex 4.4: Letter written by local authorities describing Luc Ngaima and other 

anti-balaka individuals. 

 

Document obtained by the Panel in Mobaye from confidential sources on 17 September 

2019. 
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Annex 4.5: CAR-DRC cross-border trafficking in arms and natural resources in Basse-

Kotto prefecture.  

 

Hunting ammunition and weapons continued to be smuggled across the 

Ubangui river from the DRC, often in exchange for diamonds and gold 

extracted in CAR, as was highlighted in previous Panel reports (S/2016/1032, 

paras. 143-149; S/2017/1023, para. 106-107, 247-255; S/2018/729, para. 108; 

S/2017/639, para.92).  

Aside from looting, the illegal exploitation of natural resources has remained 

an important source of income for armed groups operating in. Therefore, the 

acquisition of weapons and ammunition remained essential to the anti-balaka 

and UPC groups’ survival. These groups have continued to fight for the control 

of mining areas and weapons’ border entry points. This was illustrated by the 

28 August 2019 fighting in Kollo, which UPC wanted to seize control, as 

mines there are lucrative for buyers from DRC purchasing rough diamonds in 

the area.49 

In the Kembe sub-prefecture, anti-balaka ‘generals’ Aimé Ngbando and Denis 

Azoundanga, who controlled the gold and diamond mines on the Dimbi-

Satéma and Dimbi-Bourouma axes, regularly received boxes of hunting and 

conventional ammunition coming from Gbadolite and Kota Koli, DRC (see 

map in annex 4.1), in exchange for gold and diamonds.50 On many occasions, 

buyers from the DRC crossed the river by pirogue to arrive in Satema, and 

then travelled by motorcycle to the villages of Bidou and Yangbassi to 

exchange goods with the ‘generals’ and their elements (see map in annex 

4.1).51 The buyers also picked up gold extracted in the villages of Ngbikouma 

and Ngbata.52 Three Congolese traffickers’ names were reported to the Panel, 

which intends to communicate them to the CAR and DRC authorities. 

In Mobaye sub-prefecture, anti-balaka ‘general’ Akim controlled the Mafunga 

Gia market, which is known as a weapons-trafficking hub (see map in annex 

4.1),53 and anti-balaka elements from Yeo reportedly crossed the river to the 

Mogoro market in the DRC when they needed weaponry.54 

UPC established strategic bases along the river. For example, in Zangba and 

Mobaye, during the Panel’s visit to UPC brigades along the Ubangui river,55 

armed UPC elements explained their role as preventing foreign infiltration and 

smuggling of prohibited goods. However, it was precisely in these locations 

that the UPC weapons and ammunition coming from Gbadolite were  

smuggled through Kambo, DRC, into the CAR territory (see map in annex 

4.1).56
 

 

 49 Meeting with local authorities and confidential sources, Alindao and Mobaye, 13-17 September 

2019. 

 50 Meeting with local authorities and confidential sources from Dimbi and Satéma, Mobaye, 14, 15 and 

16 September 2019. 

 51 Idem. 

 52 Idem. 

 53 Meeting with confidential sources and local authorities, Mobaye, 15 and 17 September 2019. 

 54 Idem. 

 55 Visit of UPC ‘brigades fluviales’ and UPC bases, Zangba and Mobaye, 14 and 15 September 2019.  

 56 Meeting with local authorities, Mboma, 14 September 2019.  
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Picture of an anti-balaka element with conventional weapon at his group’s base in 

Mobaye, taken by the Panel in Mobaye on 16 September 2019. 

 

Pictures of UPC fighters armed with AK-type assault rifles at the river brigade in  

Zangba, taken by the Panel in Zangba on 15 September 2019. 

 

Picture of a UPC fighter armed with AK-type assault rifle at the UPC base in Alindao, taken by  

the Panel in Alindao on 14 September 2019.  
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Annex 4.6: Humanitarian situation and activities of groups locally referred to as LRA in  

the Obo area.  
 

The humanitarian situation in the remote south-east of the 

country has been negatively impacted by the changing 

dynamics of armed groups operating there, with women 

and youth particularly vulnerable.57 The arrival of FPRC 

in 2019 to Zemio and Mboki has led to some tensions in 

these two towns (see map below). At the same time, UPC’s 

expansion to the border with South Sudan and its 

collaboration with groups from the Haut-Mbomou 

prefecture, referred locally as the Lord Resistance Army 

(LRA) - hereafter “LRA” - has not only increased 

insecurity for communities, but also threatened the further 

closure of the border (see section V of the report, paras. 

112-113) and those carrying out livelihood activities 

outside of the main hub of Obo. The Panel could not 

confirm the actual affiliation of those local groups with the 

sanctioned entity LRA of Joseph Kony. 

UPC presence restricting livelihoods and exacerbating 

ethnic tensions 

In Haut-Mbomou prefecture, UPC has gradually expanded 

its presence, as the armed group has followed herders 

fleeing armed group violence and illegal taxation 

elsewhere (see S/2018/1119, paras 128-130). This 

expansion has been accompanied by UPC attacks and 

exactions against civilians. For example, in September and 

October when travelling from Mboki to Bambouti, UPC 

elements were responsible for a series of violent incidents 

against farmers, hunters and villagers including the attack 

on a hunting group on 12 September, around 35km north 

of Obo. The initial attack resulted in the death of three 

hunters; the next day, an exchange of fire with a group of 

FACA elements and hunters which had gone to collect the 

bodies led to the death of a FACA soldier and of several 

UPC elements.58
 

UPC also collected cattle or payments from the Fulani and 

in the absence of the former,59 also asked families to hand 

over their sons (see S/2019/608, annex 4.2).60 The links to 

the UPC rendered the Fulani community vulnerable to 

community violence stemming from negative perceptions 

including actors based in neighbouring countries.61 The 
 

 57 At risk yet still resilient: violence against women and youth in eastern CAR and northeastern DRC, Crisis 

Tracker, Invisible Children, September 2019. 

 58 Meeting with local authorities and representatives, Obo, 27 and 28 September 2019. 

 59 Meeting with Peulh community leader, Obo, 25 September 2019. 

 60 Meetings with confidential sources, Obo, 27 September 2019. 

 61 Meeting with international NGO, Bangui, 12 September 2019.  
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South Sudanese Governor of Tamboura, for example, 

made the departure of Fulanis from Bambouti one of the 

conditions for the reopening of the border closed on 21 

February 2019,62 while in DRC clashes between Fulanis 

and communities have become increasingly common.   

Human rights violations by UPC mixed brigades in 

Mboki and Zemio  

Abdoulaye Mahamat Garba had commanded UPC in 

Mboki since 2017. Since having assumed a position in the 

follow-up committee to the Agreement in Bangui since 

July 2019,63 the former UPC second-in-command  

“general” Ahmat Bouba64 has taken over as UPC local 

leader. Reportedly, the two however have reportedly 

maintained regular contact with one another via satellite 

phones, and Garba has remained in actual command.65 

UPC has established control over Mboki with five 

checkpoints in the town and along the Mboki-Zemio and 

Mboki-Obo axes.66 Taxes were not only collected at 

barriers but from entire villages. For example, in 

Maboussou on 8 May 2019, UPC demanded FCFA 10,000 

per household ($16).67 The UPC mixed brigade – an illegal 

local ‘gendarmerie’ set up by the armed group - has also 

imposed its own version of the law in both towns and 

beaten to death at least three individuals in their detention 

centres.68
 

Insecurity and impact of armed group activities on 

IDPs 

The ferry at Dembia, which had blocked access to Zemio 

from Bangassou since early 2018, was finally repaired in 

August.69 In July, several thousand tentative returns of 

CAR IDPs from Zapai in the DRC were also reported 

although 25,000 remained.70 However, UPC has continued 

to tax returnees at illegal checkpoints along the Mbomou 
 

 62 On 4 September, the UPC arrived in Bambouti from Mboki claiming to providing security for 

the Peulh but after negotiation with the Prefet of Obo left on 6 September. The armed group 

then returned on 19 October with around 50 UPC elements who had reportedly  come from 

Mboki, Zemio and Tamboura (CAR). Meeting with local authorities, Obo, 28 September 2019.  

 63 Meeting with local authorities, Obo, 27 September 2019.  

 64 ‘General’ Bouba reportedly received the title of general from the UPC after he personally ki lled 

one of the two FACA soldiers in Mboki on 25 June 2017. Meeting with confidential source, 

Obo, 25 September 2019. 

 65 Meeting with confidential sources, Obo, 28 September 2019.  

 66 Allegedly, UPC leader Ali Darassa requested the removal of these barrier on May 2019 and 

Garba, the local UPC leader refused to comply with these instructions. Confidential report, 

25 May 2019. 

 67 Meeting with confidential source, Obo, 25 September 2019.  

 68 Meeting with confidential source, Obo, 25 September 2019.  

 69 Meeting with international NGO, Bangui, 22 September 2019. 

 70 Meeting with confidential source and international NGO, 30 and 20 September 2019; 

Confidential report, 13 July 2019. 
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river separating CAR and DRC, reportedly illegally 

arresting returnees who had bypassed illegal UPC 

checkpoints.71 UPC also entered DRC territory, reportedly 

killing a CAR refugee on 5 June leading to a temporary 

closure of the DRC-CAR border.72 

“LRA” copycat attacks 

A considerable number of incidents reported in Haut-

Mbomou prefecture in 2019 were attributed by locals to 

LRA groups who often abducted youth and women as 

porters for stolen goods when returning to their camp in 

the Mbomou forest in the DRC (see map below).73 These 

“LRA” actions against villages such as Legoua (Obo sub-

prefecture) in February 2019, and twice in September 

2019, highlighted the challenge for resilience when 

communities were repeatedly attacked.74 Local authorities 

acknowledged to the Panel that other armed groups also 

operated in the area, sometimes imitating the “LRA”’s 

modus operandi, a trend correlating with the deterioration 

of the local economy. At the same time, some “LRA” 

groups appeared to be settling down with emissaries from 

one “LRA” group requesting schooling for their children 

in Fanzane village, 10km from Zemio in October 2019 (see 

map below).75
 

Insecurity limiting humanitarian response in Obo 

The movement of humanitarians in Haut-Mbomou 

prefecture has been limited due to the unpredictability of 

armed group activities,76 and the absence of security 

providers on the axes. Due to the poor state of the roads, 

MINUSCA has never reached Bambouti and, due to river 

levels in Kajema, was only able to reach Mboki during the 

dry season while the FACA, based in Obo, have largely 

limited themselves to maintaining three checkpoints in 

town, moving only along the axis to Bambouti when 

requested or with a payment.77 Humanitarians were also 

requested to pay per diems to FACA elements of FCFA 

5,000 (about $10) on top of fuel to provide security for 

convoys on the Bambouti axis.78 

  
 

 71 Confidential report, 23 May 2019. 

 72 Confidential report, 5 June 2019. 

 73 Meeting with confidential sources, Obo, 26 September 2019.  

 74 Meeting with confidential sources and local authorities, Obo, 26 and 27 September 2019.  

 75 Confidential report, 6 October 2019; and UN media report at 

https://peacekeeping.un.org/fr/haut-mbomou-quand-des-elements-de-groupes-armes-decident-

de-scolariser-leurs-enfants [accessed on 30 October 2019.] 

 76 Meeting with international NGO, Bangui, 22 September 2019.  

 77 Panel visit to Obo, 24-28 September 2019. 

 78 Meeting with international NGOs, Obo, 25 and 26 September 2019.  

https://peacekeeping.un.org/fr/haut-mbomou-quand-des-elements-de-groupes-armes-decident-de-scolariser-leurs-enfants
https://peacekeeping.un.org/fr/haut-mbomou-quand-des-elements-de-groupes-armes-decident-de-scolariser-leurs-enfants
https://peacekeeping.un.org/fr/haut-mbomou-quand-des-elements-de-groupes-armes-decident-de-scolariser-leurs-enfants
https://peacekeeping.un.org/fr/haut-mbomou-quand-des-elements-de-groupes-armes-decident-de-scolariser-leurs-enfants
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Map of Haut-Mbomou 
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Annex 5.1: Communiqué of the 5th session of joint commission between the Central African 

Republic and the Republic of Congo. 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a diplomatic source on 12 August 2019.  
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Annex 5.2: Communiqué of 48th ministerial meeting of the United Nations Standing Advisory 

Committee on Security Questions in Central Africa (UNSAC) (Kinshasa, 31 May 2019) 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a diplomatic source on 5 June 2019.  
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Annex 6.1: Screenshot from the news story featuring Ismael Djidah’s testimony. 

 

Available at https://www.i24news.tv/fr/actu/international/afrique/1555609709-un-reseau-

terroriste-iranien-demantele-en-afrique-exclusivite-i24news [accessed on 19 April 2019 – the 

link was no longer active at the time of drafting of the report]. 

 

 

 

 

  

https://www.i24news.tv/fr/actu/international/afrique/1555609709-un-reseau-terroriste-iranien-demantele-en-afrique-exclusivite-i24news
https://www.i24news.tv/fr/actu/international/afrique/1555609709-un-reseau-terroriste-iranien-demantele-en-afrique-exclusivite-i24news
https://www.i24news.tv/fr/actu/international/afrique/1555609709-un-reseau-terroriste-iranien-demantele-en-afrique-exclusivite-i24news
https://www.i24news.tv/fr/actu/international/afrique/1555609709-un-reseau-terroriste-iranien-demantele-en-afrique-exclusivite-i24news
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Annex 6.2: Copy of Ismael Djidah’s diplomatic passport issued in June 2013. 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a confidential source on 14 October 2019. 
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Annex 6.3: Documents and information on Ismael Djidah’s travels. 

 

Airline companies confirmed the following travels by Ismael Djidah79: 

- Lomé, Togo, to Beirut, Lebanon (9 March 2017) 

- Beirut, Lebanon, to Lomé, Togo (14 March 2017) 

- Lomé, Togo, to Beirut, Lebanon (19 July 2017) 

- Beirut, Lebanon, to Lomé, Togo (30 July 2017) 

- Beirut, Lebanon, to Accra, Ghana (11 September 2017) 

- Lomé, Togo, to Beirut, Lebanon (25 December 2017)  

- Beirut, Lebanon, to Lomé, Togo (31 December 2017) 

- Lomé, Togo, to Beirut, Lebanon (26 February 2018) 

- Beirut, Lebanon, to Lomé, Togo (23 March 2018) 

- Beirut, Lebanon, to Cotonou, Bénin (11 July 2018) 

 

On 8 November 2019, Lebanon confirmed to the Panel that Ismael Djidah had entered the territory 

of Lebanon on several occasions using a diplomatic passport. Lebanon mentioned that Djidah’s 

most recent visit ended on 11 July 2018. He had arrived from Addis-Ababa, Ethiopia, through 

Rafic Hariri International airport in Beirut. 

Diplomatic sources informed the Panel that Ismael Djidah, along with the individuals he reportedly 

recruited, travelled from Lebanon to Iraq and Syria by road on several occasions (Syria in July and 

September 2017, and February 2018; Iraq in November 2018).80 Iraq did not respond to the Panel’s 

requests for information regarding these reported travels. 

Below are documents concerning some of Djidah’s travels. 

  

 

 79 Letter from Ethiopian Airlines, 25 October 2019; Letter from confidential source, 27 September 

2019. 

 80 Meeting with diplomatic sources, 22 July and 14 October 2019. 
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Details of Ismael Djidah’s travels between Lomé (Togo), Addis Ababa (Ethiopia) and Beirut 

(Lebanon) (9-14 March 2017). Document obtained by the Panel from a confidential source on 14 

October 2019. 
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Details of Ismael Djidah’s travel between Beirut, Lebanon, and Accra, Ghana (11 September 

2017). Document obtained by the Panel from a confidential source on 28 August 2019. 
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Picture of Ismael Djidah reportedly taken in Beirut in September 2017. Obtained by the Panel 

from a confidential source on 28 August 2019.  
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Copy of Ismael Djidah’s Iraqi visa, issued on 21 October 2018. Document obtained by the Panel 

from a confidential source on 28 August 2019. 
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Copy of a Nigerian passport obtained by Ismael Djidah. He used Nigerian identity documents for 

some of his travels, including for the above-mentioned visa to Iraq. Document obtained by the 

Panel from a confidential source on 14 October 2019. 
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Copy of the hotel bill for Ismael Djidah’s stay in Beirut, Lebanon (24-25 February 2018). The 

Panel notes that, according to information provided by airline companies, Ismael Djidah arrived 

in Beirut on 26 February 2018 only. Document obtained by the Panel from a confidential source 

on 28 August 2019.  
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Annex 6.4: Copies of two letters mentioning Ismael Djidah. 

 

Documents obtained by the Panel from a confidential source on 28 August 2019. 
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Annex 7.1: Additional information on the easing of the arms embargo with the adoption of 

Security Council resolution 2488 (2019), and continued calls for the total lifting of the arms 

embargo by the national authorities. 

 

Calls to lift the embargo prior to the adoption of resolution 2488 (2019)  

On the repeated calls of the Central African authorities to ease or lift the arms embargo, see also 

S/2018/1119, paras 185-188; S/2017/1023, paras. 26-28; S/2016/1032, paras. 60-64; S/2016/694, 

paras. 27-30) 

Calls by the CAR authorities for a total lifting of the arms embargo intensified in late 2018-early 

2019, with the national authorities organizing a campaign to garner support. The Government’s 

main argument, reiterated by President Touadera in Sochi and Brussels in September and October 

2019 (see below), remained that the arms embargo unfairly affected the national defence and 

security forces while armed groups continued to acquire weapons.  

The CAR Government’s attempts to press ahead for a total lifting of the arms embargo reached its 

peak on 28 January 2019 when several civil society groups organised demonstrations in Bangui 

and other towns (Bouar, Bossangoa, Mbaiki), calling for the Security Council to lift the arms 

embargo. In Bangui, then Prime Minister Simplice Sarandji addressed the crowd and thanked them 

for sharing the Government’s views on this matter.81 MINUSCA had to restrict staff movement as 

crowds attempted to damage United Nations property in Bouar and in some areas of Bangui.82 The 

calls to lift the arms embargo were temporarily suspended after the adoption by the Security 

Council of resolution 2454 (2019) on 31 January 2019, which extended the arms embargo.83 

 

Adoption of resolution 2488 (2019) and its aftermath 

With the adoption on 12 September 2019 of resolution 2488 (2019), which is discussed in para. 

140 of the present report, the Security Council eased the arms embargo as regards the provision of 

non-lethal military equipment intended solely for humanitarian or protective use, and related 

technical assistance or training. Whereas the Sanctions Committee needed to approve these 

supplies in advance before the adoption of Resolution 2488 (2019), the new resolution now 

foresees a mere notification in advance for such supplies.84 

When the resolution was adopted, the Permanent Representative of the Central African Republic 

in New York noted that arms embargo provisions had been modified positively, easing the 

measures in the light of the situation on the ground, and that the exemption and notification 

 

  

 

 81 Panel’s mission in Bangui, 5-30 January 2019. 

 82 Phone conversation with international partner, 31 January 2019. Confidential documents, 29 

January 2019. 

 83 S/2018/2454, 31 January 2019, para. 1. 

 84 S/RES/2488, 12 September 2019, para. 2(d). 
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procedures remain effective tools to allow the security and defence forces to be trained, equipped 

and armed.85 On the other hand, the Permanent Representative also noted that “the resolution just 

adopted is a step in the right direction towards a partial – and, why not, even total? – lifting of the 

arms embargo”.86 

The President repeated his call to lift the arms embargo at the Russia-Africa summit in Sochi on 

23 October 2019 and during an interview in Brussels on 28 September 2019. Below the translation 

of excerpts from the speech of President Touadera in Sochi (Federation of Russia, 23 October 2019 

- source: http://en.kremlin.ru/events/president/news/61884 [accessed on 1 November 2019]) 

“[…] 

Russia has provided enormous assistance to the Central African Republic in the military 

sphere, contributed to training soldiers for the Central African Republic’s armed forces, 

to modernising the Central African army, and to training gendarmes and police. 

On September 14, 2019, Russia completed the delivery of the second batch of weapons 

to the Central African Republic, which covers our small arms needs in full. We hope 

that Russia will continue to train our personnel, train officers for our army, including 

at Russian military academies. 

We also expect our Russian partners to supply us with lethal weapons with a calibre 

of over 14.5 mm, as well as armoured personnel carriers, infantry fighting vehicles, 

mortars and other artillery weapons, which will help us strengthen our defence 

and security forces. We asked the Russian Defence Ministry to train four helicopter 

pilots and helicopter maintenance specialists. The resolution on easing the arms 

embargo, which was adopted by the UN Security Council on September 12, based 

on the French project, is insufficient, as our needs for small arms were met after we 

received the second batch of Russian weapons. We need heavier weapons to build 

effective forces in the CAR. Illegal armed groups smuggle such weapons. 

It turns out that the sanctions imposed in 2013, when there was no legal government 

in the Central African Republic, are now directed against the legitimate authorities, 

because illegal groups receive heavy weapons illegally, bypassing the embargo. So, we 

cannot regain control over our entire country.” 

 

See also the interview of President Touadera in Brussels on 28 September 2019, see 

https://vimeo.com/365937652 [accessed on 20 October 2019]. Several press articles refer to the 

call of the President to lift the arms embargo and supply the Central African forces with heavy 

weapons. 

 

  

 

 85 S/PV.8617, 12 September 2019. 

 86 Idem. 

http://en.kremlin.ru/events/president/news/61884
http://en.kremlin.ru/events/president/news/61884
https://vimeo.com/365937652
https://vimeo.com/365937652
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Annex 7.2: Additional information on the training and recruitment of FACA.  

 

• On training of FACA by the European Union Training Mission (EUTM) in the Central 

African Republic and ammunition/weapons used for training purposes: 

From 24 June to 16 October 2019, EUTM delivered basic training to a total of 1,020 new 

FACA recruits in Bouar (508 recruits) and Bangui (512 recruits). A total of 1,014 FACA 

recruits, or 99.41%, successfully passed the training (see also S/2018/1119, para. 177 and 

S/2019/608, annex 6.1). 

As of 31 October 2019, EUTM had trained: 

- A total of 5 battalions: 4 territorial infantry battalions and the amphibious battalion, i.e. 

a total of around 6,000 FACA; 

- 3,700 FACA soldiers have received basic military training. 1,100 of these 3,700 have 

been deployed outside Bangui (attention: there is a total of 1,429 FACA deployed 

outside Bangui); 

- 2,485 FACA (officers, deputy officers and soldiers) received specialized training 

(transmissions, command, tactical combat, international humanitarian law, human 

rights law, prevention of sexual abuse and HIV); 

- 53 individuals (34 FACA and 19 ISF) were trained during the “Train the Trainers 

Programme” in view of the training of the joint temporary security units – USMS. 

- 1, 020 new recruits were trained in Bouar and Bangui from 24 June to 16 October.87 

 

 

• On the training of FACA by Russian instructors:  

From May to July 2019, and from August to October 2019, 235 Russian instructors 

continued to conduct training sessions in Bangui and Berengo.88 

Russian instructors are currently present in Bambari, Bangassou, Bocaranga, Bouar, 

Dekoa, Paoua, and Sibut to ensure that the skills acquired during the training are correctly 

applied by the FACA once deployed (see also S/2018/1119, para. 176 and S/2019/608, 

para. 88 and annex 6.1). Russian instructors were also present in (a) Um Rawq (Sudan), 

together with  the Tripartite Force, (b) Bria and Ouadda, where they reportedly ensured 

the security of hospitals, and (c) Bokolbo (Ouakka prefecture) (see also S/2018/1119, para. 

175-176 and S/2019/608, annex 6.1).89 

  

 

 87 Correspondences with EUTM, October 2019. 

 88 Correspondence with the Embassy of Russian Federation in Bangui, 30 October 2019. 

 89 Meeting with confidential sources, 21 September 2019.  
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• Additional information on the absorption of ex-combatants in the national army. 

The objective is to integrate a total of 490 ex-combatants in the national army. The pilot 

project has already resulted in the integration of 232 ex-combatants; this means that there 

still remains 258 ex-combatants to be integrated. 

70 ex-combatants are supposed to be integrated in the national army through the 2019 

recruitment process. The integration of the remaining 198 ex-combatants is planned to take 

place during the next recruitment campaigns (see also S/2018/1119, para. 177).90 

 

 

 

 90 Recruitment Plan 2019. Meetings and phone calls with international partners, October 2019.  
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Annex 7.3: Map of FACA deployment. 
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Annex 7.4:  Press communiqué by Nourredine Adam, 10 July 2019. 
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Annex 7.5: Additional information on the continued challenges of FACA deployment and cases 

of misconduct. 

 

• On the support and protection of deployed FACA by MINUSCA: When deployed in areas 

under control of armed groups, FACA soldiers can mostly conduct patrols only jointly with 

MINUSCA and/or sometimes have their freedom of movement limited by armed groups 

threatening to prevent FACA soldiers from deploying in some areas (see also S/2019/608, 

para. 93).91 

 

• On the attacks of FACA soldiers: FACA soldiers continued to be attacked by armed group 

fighters. For example, on 13 September 2019 in the Haut-Mbomou prefecture, FACA 

soldiers were attacked by UPC elements. One FACA element got killed and another one 

severely wounded.92 The FACA had gone to the bush to save a group of 12 hunters from 

Obo which was attacked by the UPC one day earlier. 93 Also, on 29 September UPC 

members reportedly fired at a FACA checkpoint in Bambari; as a result, they were arrested 

by the UPC military commander in Bambari and handed over to Ali Darassa in Bokolbo.94 

 

• On the delayed rotations: There is a chronic and often prolonged delay in the rotations of 

the deployed FACA units. To illustrate, the rotation of at least five FACA units for which 

the rotation was due several months ago (see details below)95 was postponed until 

December 2019 at least: 

o 70 FACA in Sibut: deployed on 16 January 2019 and rotation initially planned on 

15 July 2019; 

o 32 FACA in Dekoa: deployment on 17 January and rotation initially planned on 17 

May 2019; 

o 68 FACA in Obo: deployment on 19 March 2019 and rotation initially planned on 

19 July 2019;96 

o 120 FACA in Bangassou: deployed on 10 February and rotation initially planned 

on 10 June 2019; 

o 60 FACA in Alindao: deployed on 10 February and rotation initially planned on 10 

June 2019. 

 

• On the other logistical challenges faced by deployed FACA and the lack of weapon storage 

facilities: As observed by the Panel in amongst others Alindao, Obo and Birao (August-

October 2019), deployed FACA continued to suffer from a lack of proper housing, food,  

 

 

 
 

 91 Panel’s mission to Alindao, 20, 21 April and 13 September 2019.  Panel’s mission to Kaga-

Bandoro, 7-10 June and 5-9 September. Confidential reports 29 September, 1 and 2 October,  

 92 Panel’s mission to Obo, 27 See also confidential reports 12 and 17 September 2019.  

 93 Ibid. 

 94 Confidential report, 1 October 2019. 

 95 Information obtained from international forces and national authorities. These numbers 

correspond with deployment as off 18 October 2019. 

 96 Meeting with confidential sources, Obo, 24-28 September 2019. 
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water, and sanitation. Often, there is are no/insufficient vehicles, deficient fuel and no 

communication tools.97 

 

Picture illustrating the lack of storage facilities in Birao, taken by the Panel in Birao on 5 October 

2019.  

 

 

• On cases of misconduct involving FACA elements:  

 

- Incidents of human rights violations involving FACA soldiers were recorded by the 

Panel, with cases ranging from widespread extortion/taxation of civilians, impinging 

on freedom of movement,98 to more severe human rights violations illustrated by three 

incidents which took place across a two-week period in July-August 2019: in 

Bocaranga, Ouham-Pende prefecture on 30 July 2019, two FACA soldiers armed with 

AK47s (along with two other individuals) assaulted two ethnic Fulani stealing money 

and other goods; on 7 August, in Bambari, Ouaka prefecture a drunk FACA soldier 

killed a Fulani with a knife; and on 14 August, in Bakouma, Mbomou prefecture, 

FACA elements tortured a male civilian.99  

  

 

 97 Panel’s mission to Alindao, 13-14 September; Obo, 24-28 September; Birao, 3-5 October 2019; 

Bria, 3 October 2019. 

 98 Panel’s missions to Ouham-Pende, Mbomou and Haut-Mbomou, 10-14 May 2019, 27-30 May 

2019, 24-30 September 2019.  

 99 Confidential sources, 1, 8 and15 August 2019. Confidential report, 31 August 2019.  
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- Reports have mentioned an upsurge of abuses and human rights violations due to the 

lack of discipline of FACA, in particular in the Ouham-Pende prefecture.100 Besides 

the cases already cited in the Panel’s midterm report (S/2019/608, annex 6.5), the 

following cases of misconduct can also be reported for the July-October 2019 period:  

o In mid-June 2019, several FACA elements in Paoua reportedly raped two 

women in Bemal.101 

o In early July, there were several reports of FACA elements illegally taxing 

civilians in Bangassou and Béma (Mbomou prefecture).102 

o On 8 July, a FACA soldier in Béma reportedly inflicted cruel and inhuman 

treatment to an anti-balaka comzone arrested in Béma who was later transferred 

to the prison of Bangassou.103 

o On 18 July, a FACA corporal from Paoua (Ouham-Pendé prefecture), on 

mission in Betoko, beat an 11-year old boy with his weapon, wounding the 

boy.104 

o On 22 July, MINUSCA documented two rape cases of minor girls by two 

FACA soldiers in Bambari (Ouaka prefecture).105 On the same date, MINUSCA 

was informed that a FACA soldier had raped and impregnated a minor in the 

same town.106 

o On 22 July, in Zoukombo (Nana-Mambéré prefecture), a FACA soldier shot at 

his colleague following a dispute. The FACA was however not wounded.107 

o On 30 July, the FACA unit commander in Paoua (Ouham-Pendé prefecture) 

arrested and handed over to the local gendarmerie three of his elements, as they 

were accused of having threatened and extorted three Chadian traders two days 

earlier.108 

o On 2 August, 2 FACA soldiers threatened and extorted two Fulanis.109 

o On 14 August in Bakouma (Mbomou prefecture), FACA elements reportedly 

beat, tortured and severely injured a male motorcyclist involved in a road 

accident.110 
o On 19 September in Paoua (Ouham-Pendé prefecture) during a meeting 

attended by MINUSCA, local authorities, ISF and FACA, one point of concern 

raised was the illegal taxation of civilians by some ISF auxiliaries and FACA 

at checkpoints.111 

  

 

 100 Confidential report, 31 August 2019. 

 101 Confidential report, 31 July 2019.  

 102 Confidential report, 31 July 2019. 

 103 Confidential reports, 12 July 2019 and 31 July. 

 104 Confidential report, 31 July 2019. 

 105 Confidential reports, 24 and 31 July 2019. 

 106 Ibid. 

 107 Confidential report, 31 July 2019. 

 108 Confidential reports, 31 July and 31 August 2019. 

 109 Confidential report, 31 August 2019. 

 110 Confidential reports, 16 and 31 August 2019. 

 111 Confidential reports, 20 and 30 September 2019. 
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o In September, there were numerous reports of FACA elements taxing civilians 

using the Bouar-Bocaranga axis.112 

 

On the challenges of FACA deployment and cases of FACA misconduct, see also 

S/2019/608, annexes 6.4 and 6.5. 

 

  

 

 112 Confidential report, 30 September 2019. 
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Annex 7.6: Information on the recruitment, training, equipment, redeployment and conduct of 

Internal Security Forces (ISF). 

 

A total of 18,815 candidates applied for the 2019 country-wide ISF recruitment process for 

1,000 recruits to integrate into the ISF training schools in December 2019. The final list of 

1,000 recruits (500 police and 500 gendarmes) will take into consideration the results of the 

various tests, but also guarantee a national geographical representation and gender-balance 

(see details below).113
 

Between 1 January and 31 October 2019, a total of 1,581 police officers and gendarmes in 

Bangui and beyond received various training sessions organized by MINUSCA, with the 

support of international and national partners, ,, ranging from investigation techniques to 

deontology (see details below). As of 30 October, Russian instructors provided training to a 

total of 319 police officers and 300 gendarmes,114 as such training is a precondition for 

assigning them weapons when they are deployed (see also S/2018/729, para. 14 and 

S/2019/608, annex 6.6). 

As of 1 October, 29% of the total 3,683 police officers and gendarmes were deployed outside 

Bangui, which represented an increase of only 1% compared to 1 June 2019 (see tables 

below and S/2019/608, annex 6.). In late September and early October, following the clashes 

in Vakaga prefecture (see paras. 46-71), 18 police officers and 10 gendarmes were rapidly 

deployed to Birao with the critical support and protection of MINUSCA.115 The 28 officers 

cohabited with MINUSCA peacekeepers at the gendarmerie brigade, in front of one of the 

refugee camps which they aimed to secure.116
 

ISF elements also continued to suffer from dire living and working conditions and lack of 

basic equipment, including weapons, ammunition and crowd control equipment, especially 

in remote areas, as observed by the Panel in Birao (see picture below and S/2019/608, annex 

6.6). 

Additional information on the recruitment process 

Of 18,815 candidates, 97% of the candidates, 24.4% of whom were female, were eligible 

and thus authorized to pass the sport and written examinations. These examinations took 

place on 15-16 September 2019 in all prefectures, except for Birao where they were 

postponed to late September because of the armed clashes between FPRC and MLCJ/RPRC. 

For Bangui, the tests took place from 15 to 25 September 2019. The list of 1,300 candidates 

(650 police and 650 gendarmes) who were admitted for the medical tests and investigation 

 

  

 

 113 Meeting with confidential source, Bangui, 8 October 2018.  

 114 Correspondence with the Embassy of Russian Federation in Bangui, 30 October 2019. 

 115 Meeting with police officers and gendarmes, Birao, 5 October 2019. Meeting with MINUSCA 

Police Commander, Bangui, 8 October 2018. 

 116 Panel’s mission to Birao, 5-8 October 2019. Confidential documents, received on 25 October 

2019. 

 117 This was witnessed by the Panel in amongst others Mobaye, on 15 and 16 September 2019. 
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of morality has yet to be published.118 (see also S/2018/729, para. 14, S/2018/1119, para. 178 

and S/2019/608, annex 6.6) 

 

Additional information on the deployment of the FSI 

On 1 October 2019, only 29% of the 3, 683 police and gendarme officers were deployed outside 

Bangui, most of whom were in the West, as the table below shows:119 

 

  Police Gendarmerie ISF 

Bangui 996 1394 2390 

Regions 

Total : 309 

West : 235 

Center : 55 

East : 19 

Total : 755  

West : 628 

Center : 105 

East : 22 

Total : 1064 

West : 863 

Center : 160 

East : 41 

Not operational   174 55 229 

Total 1479 2204 3683 

 

Diagram illustrating the deployment of the Internal Security Forces:120 

  

 

 118 Meeting with confidential source, Bangui, 8 October 2019. Correspondence with confidential 

source, 25 October 2019.  

 119 Ibid. See also S/2019/608, annex 6.6. 

 120 Obtained from confidential source, 1 October 2019. 
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Map on the FSI deployment121: 

 

 

 

 

 

 121 Idem. 
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On the lack of needed equipment for ISF (see also S/2017/123, para. 16, S/2018/729, para 

16, S/2018/1119, para 1119 and S/2019/608 annex 6.6). 

The Panel observed a lack of basic facilities for ISF deployed in Birao on 24 September 2019. 

There were no beds, no cooking facilities, etc.122 When the Panel visited their base on 5 

October, the ISF reported that they had been deployed with a total of 20 AK-type assault rifles 

(7 for the police and 14 for the gendarmes). However, they did not receive any ammunition or 

magazines. The Panel was informed that the magazines and ammunition arrived on 8 

October.123 

  

 

 122 Panel’s visit of the base with FACA and FSI deployment, Birao, 5 October 2019. 

 123 Meeting with international partners, Bangui, 8 October 2019.  
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Annex 7.7: Additional information on the 2019 arms transfers and management of weapons and 

ammunition. 

 

• On the donation of 1,400 AK-type assault rifles by France 

 

Document on the allocation/distribution of the weapons donated by France, received from confidential 

source on 8 October 2019. 
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• On the weapons and ammunition management system: The letter of the Secretary-General 

dated 26 July 2019, denoted as the “benchmark report” (S/2019/609, issued 31 July 2019) 

articulated the needs and commitments of the authorities of the Government of the Central 

African Republic with regards to, amongst others, (a) weapons and ammunition storage 

facilities; (b) the training of the defence and security forces for the management of the 

weapons and ammunition; (c) the increase in adequate storage and management capacity. 

In spite of the efforts of national authorities, with the support of international partners, to 

build and rehabilitate weapons and ammunition storages in some localities (see supra), 

there remained a serious lack of proper storage facilities to secure weapons and ammunition 

in many areas where FACA and ISF elements are deployed, as observed by the Panel.124 

Moreover, there also remained room for improvement with regards to the management of 

weapons, ammunition and storage facilities, in Bangui and beyond. De facto, a proper 

system for the management of arms and ammunition has yet to be put in place. Amongst 

others, the number of personnel qualified to manage and secure the weapons and 

ammunition remained low;125 the process of marking the weapons has yet to start;126 the 

weapons and ammunition were not being registered in a national register, nor being 

recorded in the local arms registers;127 more broadly, it was difficult, sometimes 

impossible, to keep track of the distribution of, or localize and/or trace, the distributed 

weaponry.128 On this topic, see also S/2018/1119, paras 189-192. 

  

 

 124 Panel’s mission to Alindao, 13-14 September; Obo, 24-28 September; Birao, 3-5 October 2019; 

Bria, 3 October 2019. 

 125 Meeting with international partners, July - October 2019. Confidential document, June 219. 

 126 Idem. 

 127 For example, in camp Kassai, there are no system to account for the incoming and outgoing 

weapons. 

 128 Idem. 
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Annex 7.8: Update on the import of commercial explosives. 

 

In its 2019 midterm report, the Panel addressed the issue concerning the import, transport, storage 

and use of commercial explosives and accessories in the Central African Republic by foreign and 

national companies active in the mining and road infrastructure sectors, in particular vis-à-vis (1) 

the sanctions’ measures and (2) the explosive security and safety (S/2019/608, paras 97-101). 

On 11 July 2019, the Government of the Central African Republic, pursuant to paragraph 1 (h) of 

resolution 2399 (2018) as renewed by resolution 2454 (2019), submitted two post-facto 

exemptions requests regarding the importation of explosives and related material for road 

construction by two companies, Sogea Satom and ONM, aiming at post-facto exempting previous 

imports.129 The CAR authorities had also decided that any new import of explosives had to be 

submitted to the Minister of Defence, which would then be in charge of sending the official 

correspondence to the Sanctions Committee (see document below) 

On 21 October, the Sanctions Committee decided that commercial explosives and materials 

typically used in the construction industry and not intended to have a military use did not fall 

within the scope of the arms embargo provided for in paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 2488 (2019). 

According to the Committee, for the future, the importations of civilian use explosives accessories 

can be allowed by the Government in collaboration with MINUSCA, UNMAS and the Panel of 

Experts.130 

The Committee also stressed the importance of receiving assurances that appropriate safeguards 

are put in place to minimize the risk of diversion of the explosives and accessories and that they 

are safely stored and accounted for.131 

  

 

 129 Document of 11 July 2019, Chair of the Security Council Committee established pursuant to 

resolution 2127 (2013) concerning the Central African Republic. 

 130 Document of 21 October 2019, Chair of the Security Council Committee established pursuant 

to resolution 2127 (2013) concerning the Central African Republic. 

 131 Idem. 
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Copy of the message of the Minister of Defence of 11 July 2019, obtained by the Panel from 

confidential source on 15 July 2019: 
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Excerpts of requests to purchase explosive substances and submit the request to the Sanctions Committee, 

obtained by the Panel from confidential source on 21 August 2019: 

 

  



 
S/2019/930 

 

201/234 19-19745 

 

 

 

  



S/2019/930 
 

 

19-19745 202/234 

 

 

Annex 8.1: Measures taken by the Government to fight against trafficking in diamonds and gold. 

 

Presidential decree of 30 September 2019 

On 30 September, the President issued a decree amending the 2009 

Law implementing the mining code (see document 1 below). The 

decree included, inter alia, measures aiming at checking the 

morality of the collectors - foreigners now have, for instance, to 

provide a copy of their criminal record in their country of origin - 

and at ensuring that mining operators formalize all their activities 

and withdraw from any engagement in illegal activities - minimal 

threshold of sales/exports were established for collectors and 

buying houses. The establishment of such thresholds was already 

included in a note of the Minister of Mines and Geology issued in 

early 2019 (see Panel’s midterm report S/2019/608, para. 103 and 

annex 7.1). 

The tax rate for diamond exports was also recently reduced to 4%. 

In addition to increased efforts to punish traffickers (the “sticks”), 

the latter measure represents an incentive for mining operators to 

formalize their activities (the “carrots”). This may contribute to 

limit diamond-smuggling. As discussed in a recent study, one of 

the main factors for trafficking in CAR is that operating through 

illegal networks is today more profitable than operating legally.132
 

 

Verification mission in Boda (August 2019) 

In 2019, the Ministry of Mines and Geology started carrying out 

routine missions to verify the activities and documentation of 

mining operators. One such mission was deployed in August 2019 

in Boda (Lobaye prefecture), one of the eight “KP compliant" 

subprefectures. 

On 16 August 2019, members of the mission had to hurriedly leave 

Boda after they were attacked and one of their vehicles burnt by an 

angry crowd (see pictures (document 2) below). This attack 

followed the death of a diamond collector who suffered a heart 

attack as, according to some claimed, he was being racketed by 

members of the delegation.133 

  

 

 132 De Jong, T. (2019). Rapport diagnostic sur la contrebande des diamants en République 

centrafricaine. Washington, DC: USAID Artisanal Mining and Property Rights Task Order 

under the Strengthening Tenure and Resource Rights II (STARR II) IDIQ, p.15 and 18.  

 133 See for instance, https://m.facebook.com/story.php?story_fbid=2857981384309949&id= 

949108905197216 [accessed on 26 October 2019]. 

https://m.facebook.com/story.php?story_fbid=2857981384309949&id=949108905197216
https://m.facebook.com/story.php?story_fbid=2857981384309949&id=949108905197216
https://m.facebook.com/story.php?story_fbid=2857981384309949&id=949108905197216
https://m.facebook.com/story.php?story_fbid=2857981384309949&id=949108905197216
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In reaction to this event, the Minister of Mines and Geology made 

a TV appearance on 18 August 2019 (see transcript of this 

statement in document 3 below). After having recalled the 

objectives of the routine verification mission, he confirmed that a 

collector had died while the mission was in Boda. He indicated that 

the collector feinted as the mission was verifying his 

documentation (rather than racketeering him), and later died at the 

hospital. 

The information provided by the Minister, including the 

circumstances of the collector’s death, was confirmed to the Panel 

by two members of the Ministry’s mission.134 

 

Suspension of the activities of a mining cooperative in Bania 

(Mambéré-Kadéi) 

In his communiqué of 18 August, the Minister also mentioned that 

the authorities had identified a mining cooperative based in Bania 

(50 kilometers south-east of Berbérati, Mambéré-Kadéi prefecture) 

smuggling diamonds towards Bertoua (Cameroun) and managed by 

individuals using false CAR identification documents. 

The cooperative called E-Maï was reportedly operating with 

mechanical means of exploitation without holding any mining 

permit.135 The cooperative reportedly stopped its activities after the 

deployment of a mission from the Ministry of Mines in the area on 

12-15 August 2019. 

 

  

 

 134 Meetings with staff from the Ministry of Mines, Bangui, 2 and 3 September 2019. 

 135 Meetings with staff from the Ministry of Mines, 10 and 11 September 2019.  
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Document 1: Presse release issued on 3 October 2019 to present the Presidential decree (a copy 

of the decree is archived at United Nations). 
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Document 2:  Pictures of the vehicle of the Ministry of Mine and Geology’s mission burnt in Boda 

on 16 August 2019. 

Available at 

https://m.facebook.com/story.php?story_fbid=2857981384309949&id=949108905197216 

[consulted on 26 October 2019] 

 

 

 

  

https://m.facebook.com/story.php?story_fbid=2857981384309949&id=949108905197216
https://m.facebook.com/story.php?story_fbid=2857981384309949&id=949108905197216
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Document 3: Communiqué of the Minister of Mines of 18 August 2019. 

 

COMMUNIQUE DU MINISTRE DES MINES ET DE LA GEOLOGIE 

Le vendredi 15 août 2019, des événements graves se sont produits dans la ville de BODA ; 
événements qui auraient pu mettre à mal les efforts déployés par le Gouvernement à réconcilier 
toutes les communautés vivant en République Centrafricaine, après les crises à répétition que le 
pays a connues de 2012 à 2015. 

Comme vous le savez chers compatriotes, ces crises du fait de l’insécurité qu’elle a générée dans le 
pays en général et particulièrement dans toutes les zones minières, ont entraîné des conséquences 
graves pour le secteur minier : une désorganisation du circuit de collecte du diamant et de l’or 
entraînant une baisse drastique des recettes d’exportation consécutive à la fermeture des Bureaux 
d’achat crédibles, mais surtout le développement d’un trafic illicite à d’exportation. 

Depuis quelques mois, des voix s’élèvent pour interpeller le gouvernement de ce que des quantités 
énormes de diamant traversent nos frontières sans que les commanditaires et les complices 
intérieurs soient inquiétés malgré les efforts de traçabilité du circuit mis en place par le ministère des 
mines grâce aux concours de nos partenaires financiers. 

C’est pourquoi, le ministère des mines informé ces derniers temps grâce au partage fructueux 
d’informations développé entre les services des mines de la République sœur du Cameroun et de la 
République Centrafricaine a mis en place une stratégie de contrôle des bureaux d’achat et des 
collecteurs lorsque les éléments en notre possession sont probants. 

Quelles informations ont déclenché les contrôles au niveau de BANIA et au niveau de BODA ? 

1. Au niveau de BODA 

Des transactions portant sur un lot 558,80 carats de diamant entre un bureau d’achat et des 
collecteurs pour une valeur de 67 millions de FCFA n’ont pas été retracées dans nos livres au 
niveau du BECDOR. Ce lot de diamant serait vendu sur la place de DOUBAI en transitant par le 
Cameroun. 
 

La mission partie de Bangui pour un contrôle des pièces afférentes à l’exercice des achats ou 
ventes des métaux précieux était chargée de réconcilier les statistiques de productions et de ventes 
au niveau des bureaux d’achat ainsi que des collecteurs de la zone. 

Après le contrôle de 3 centres secondaires le premier jour, la mission a consacré le jour suivant au 
contrôle des collecteurs. 

C’est pendant le relevé des données des bordereaux de ventes du collecteur DJIBRILLA NOUHOU, 
ce dernier a été pris de malaise. Transporté à l’hôpital en urgence par le Chef de mission, il 
succombera quelques heures plus tard à la mosquée après avoir été exfiltré des mains du médecin. 
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Le Gouvernement que dirige le Premier Firmin NGREBADA sous la Haute impulsion du Président 
de la République Chef de l’Etat, Pr Faustin Archange TOUADERA, exprime à la famille éprouvée 
ses sincères condoléances. 

Le Gouvernement tient à rassurer l’opinion nationale qu’une enquête judiciaire a été ouverte 
immédiatement par les services compétents pour établir les circonstances exactes du décès de ce 
compatriote. 

Le Gouvernement salue par la même occasion l’intervention de l’imam de BODA, au fait de la 
réalité, a permis de rétablir très rapidement de calme dans la localité. 
 

2. Au niveau de BANIA 

Sur insistance des Autorités locales, le département a aussi instruit une mission dans la localité de 
BANIA ou opère la coopérative minière E – MAÏ en partenariat avec des sujets étrangers, qui 
seraient devenus centrafricains par la possession de vrais/faux papiers d’identités centrafricains. 

Cette mission qui a séjourné dans cette localité a découvert des transactions illicites vers le 
Cameroun de 3225 carats pour une somme de plus de 700 millions de FCFA carats de diamants 
vendus à BERTOUA. 

Chers compatriotes 

Voilà les faits qui se sont déroulés dans la localité de BODA que certains compatriotes s’acharnent à 
travestir sur les réseaux sociaux. 

Je vous remercie 
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Annex 8.2: Exports of gold by the Central African Republic (2010-2018). 

 

Based on data provided to the Panel by the Ministry of Mines on 19 October 2019. 

 

Year 
Volume of gold exported 

(grams) 

2010 56475,71 

2011 72834,51 

2012 38283,66 

2013 11034,1 

2014 7103,77 

2015 8102,63 

2016 32934,78 

2017 108036,87 

2018 141808,27 
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Annex 8.3: Decision of the Ministry of Mines and Geology to suspend activities of mining 

companies operating in Bozoum area. 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a confidential source on 15 May 2019. 
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Annex 8.4: Denunciation of the continuing activities by mining companies operating in the 

Bozoum area. 

 

Below examples of statements made on social networks. 

Tweet posted on 4 April 2019 

 

 

Posted on 19 July 2019 

 

 

 

Tweet posted on 7 August 2019 
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Annex 8.5: Report of the parliamentary fact-finding mission. 

 

Document obtained by the Panel from a confidential source on 13 July 2019. 
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Annex 8.6: Incidents of 27 April 2019 in Bozoum. 

 

Below a narrative of the incidents involving the priest of Bozoum. This narrative was corroborated 

by a confidential report obtained by the Panel on 29 April 2019. 

 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

Local priest detained by the army in Central African Republic as he documents ecological disaster by 

Chinese mining company 

Bozoum, CAR. Saturday 27 April 2019.   

By Aurelio Gazzera, Carmelite. (http://bozoumfr.blogspot.com/) 

This morning, Saturday 27 of April, I wanted to look at the situation about the Ouham river, and the four 

Chinese mining companies present to extract gold. 

I take some photos, and some video of the works that have practically continued (Editor’s note: this 

extraction was declared illegal and the four Chinese companies were ordered to stop on 25 March 

2019). 

When I start my way back to the mission, a soldier comes toward me and orders me to stop. He is 

armed, and I do not really trust him, so I tell him I just want to continue on my way. He then calls by 

radio other soldiers, who arrive immediately. 

They ask me why I had come to take photos… and I tell them that it is not forbidden, even less so 

because I was not even at the work area but on the other side of what was the Ouham river (Editor’s 

note: the riverside is destroyed and polluted, see photo at the end of document). They are very upset, 

and they threaten me, they yell and pull away my camera and my phone, then pat me down and search 

my pockets.  

They walk with me to the place where I left my car, and there they tell me I am arrested! One of them 

asks me whether I am not ashamed, as a man of God, to be doing “that kind of thing”. I reply that I am 

rather ashamed of him, who is supposed to protect the country, and not to sell it to foreigners… 

Since I insist that I was not on the works area, they want me to show them where I was when I took the 

photos. We start walking again, under the sun at full force, and we do for the third time the 1.5 km. 

Afterwards we go back to my car, of which they had already taken the keys, they make me climb in the 

back seat and depart at high speed toward the “Brigade Minière” (donation of the Chinese!!!). But we 

have to go across the city of Bozoum and the people looking on understand immediately that there is a 

problem.  

When we arrive to the Brigade Minière, a large group of young people, women and other people arrive, 

yelling and demanding that I am liberated. The situation is almost comical: the soldiers do not know  

 

http://bozoumfr.blogspot.com/
http://bozoumfr.blogspot.com/
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what to do, and there I am waiting… After a few minutes, they decide to let me go, but I demand to have 

my camera and my phone back.  

Finally, I come out of the Brigade Minière. The large group celebrates loudly and I leave by motorcycle 

(the car keys had not yet arrived back). The entire population of the city are in the streets, happy that I 

have been freed, but also very angry toward the authorities, and above all against the Chinese mining 

company.  

I go back home, but in the meantime the city is really in upheaval: the people set up road blocks, and a 

car of the Chinese company is set on fire. 

The crowd intends to go toward the mining works, to chase the Chinese away. Then I return to the city 

with the Prefect and the Public Prosecutor, and we try to calm down the people. But exactly at the same 

time a vehicle of the FACA (armed forces of Central Africa), arrives at high speed with about ten soldiers. 

They are armed, but the crowd (already between 3000 and 4000 people) moves toward them and forces 

them to back away. When they are close to the vehicle, the soldiers start shooting toward the people at 

point-blank range: we all throw ourselves to the ground, and thanks to the Lord there are no casualties! 

Finally, they leave. I bring back the crowd to the center of the city, I climb on one of the road blocks and 

thank them, but I tell them to please go back to their homes, and do not commit more violent acts. I also 

say that the problem of the salvage exploitation of the river has to be solved according to the law. 

And they leave! 

Merci na Nzapa. Thanks be to God! 

Father Aurelio Gazzera (gazzera.aurelio@gmail.com)  

  

mailto:gazzera.aurelio@gmail.com
mailto:gazzera.aurelio@gmail.com
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Annex 8.7: Mining permits for areas located in areas controlled by armed groups. 

 

Available at http://www.finances-budget.cf/documents/permis-d-exploitation/permis-miniers 

[consulted on 25 October 2019]. 

 

 

http://www.finances-budget.cf/documents/permis-d-exploitation/permis-miniers
http://www.finances-budget.cf/documents/permis-d-exploitation/permis-miniers
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Annex 9.1: Cpy of Nourredine Adam’s Sudanese passport featuring the name of Mohamed 

Adam Brema Abdallah. 

 

 

 

 


